Vereinigung der Pflanzenzüchter und Saatgutkaufleute Österreichs

69. Tagung

19.-21. November 2018 Raumberg-Gumpenstein

Resistance breeding - From pathogen epidemilogy to molecular breeding



Impressum

Tagungsband der 69. Jahrestagung der Vereinigung der Pflanzenzüchter und Saatgutkaufleute Österreichs, 19.-21. November 2018, Raumberg-Gumpenstein

Herausgeber

Vereinigung der Pflanzenzüchter und Saatgutkaufleute Österreichs Wiener Str. 64 3100 St. Pölten Email: office@saatgut-austria.at URL: www.saatgut-austria.at

Redaktion

Dr. Anton Brandstetter, Manuela Geppner Vereinigung der Pflanzenzüchter und Saatgutkaufleute Österreichs

A.o. Univ.Prof. Dr. Heinrich Grausgruber Universität für Bodenkultur Wien

Für den Inhalt verantwortlich die Autoren

Foto Titelblatt Johann Vollmann, Universität für Bodenkultur Wien

Druck und Verlag

Department für Nutzpflanzenwissenschaften Universität für Bodenkultur Wien Konrad Lorenz Str. 24 3430 Tulln Email: pflanzenzuechtung@boku.ac.at

© 2019

ISBN-13: 978-3-900932-63-3

Table of contents

Reference genome sequence and its implications for a 'perfect marker' development Miroslav VALARIK	1
Is there a type VI resistance against Fusarium head blight in wheat? Fabio MASCHER, Torsten SCHÖNEBERG, Susanne VOGELGSANG, Charlotte SAVOYAT-MARTIN	3
Improving Fusarium head blight resistance in durum wheat Barbara STEINER, Sebastian MICHEL, Marco MACCAFERRI, Roberto TUBEROSA, Marc LEMMENS, Hermann BUERSTMAYR	5
Gain by loss: High resolution mapping of the Fusarium head blight resistance QTL <i>Qfhs.ifa-5A</i> in wheat Christian WAGNER, Petra SCHWARZ, Maria BUERSTMAYR, Barbara STEINER, Klaus BRUGGER, Lisa BLAZEK, Delfina BARABASCHI, Andrea VOLANTE, Giampiero VALÈ, Luigi CATTIVELLI, Hermann BUERSTMAYR	7
Vitality of wheat affected by Fusarium head blight: physiological reactions Martina TRÁVNÍČKOVÁ, Jana CHRPOVÁ, František HNILIČKA, Petr MARTINEK	9
The use of wild relatives and chromosome genomics for gene mapping, cloning and im-proving rust resistance in wheat István MOLNÁR, Éva SZAKÁCS, Kitti PÁZSI, András FARKAS, László IVANIZS, Mónika CSÉPLŐ, Jan VRÁNA, Gyula VIDA, Márta MOLNÁR-LÁNG, Jaroslav DOLEŽEL	11
Identifying resistance genes in wheat against common bunt (<i>Tilletia caries</i>) by use of virulence pattern of the pathogen Anders BORGEN, Gunter BACKES, Karl-Josef MÜLLER, Andrea GALLEHR, Bettina SCHERRER, Nana YTTING, Hartmut SPIESS	13
Reaction of Czech winter wheat varieties to eyespot Veronika DUMALASOVÁ, Jana PALICOVÁ, Pavel MATUŠINSKY, Alena HANZALOVÁ	17
QTL analysis of resitance to the fungal pathogens <i>Blumeria graminis, Zymoseptoria tritici,</i> and Pyrenophora tritici- repentis using a winter wheat multiparent advanced generation intercross population Melanie STADLMEIER, Lise Nistrup JØRGENSEN, Anemarie Fejer JUSTESEN, Beatrice CORSI, James COCKRAM, Lorenz HARTL, Volker MOHLER	19
Association analysis for identifying relationships between molecular markers and severity of diseases Hossein SABOURI, Hossein Ali FALLAHI, Mahnaz KATOUZI, Shahpour Ebrahim NEZHAD, Mohammad Ali DEHGHAN, Ebrahim Gholam Alipour ALAMDARI, Masoud ESFAHANI, Galdi Mohammad BAHLAKEH, Sharifeh Mohammad ALEGH, Ahmad Reza DADRAS	21
Molecular breeding for stem rust resistance in winter rye Paul GRUNER, Anne-Kristin SCHMITT, Kerstin FLATH, Thomas MIEDANER	23
Influence of isolate, host genotype, and environment on the ergot reaction of winter rye Anna KODISCH, Thomas MIEDANER	25
Investigation of net blotch resistance of barley and preliminary data on Hungarian pathotypes of Pyrenophora teres f. teres Klára MÉSZÁROS, Mónika CSÉPLŐ, Viola KUNOS, Zsófia BÚZA, Judit BÁNYAI, Diána SERES, Ildikó CSORBA, Magda PÁL, Gyula VIDA, József BAKONYI	27
Genetic analysis of new sources of seedling resistance to powdery mildew and crown rust in oat Volker MOHLER, Melanie STADLMEIER, Arshita SOOD, Sabine SCHMIDT, Lorenz HARTL, Matthias HERRMANN	29
A transcriptome-based approach for developing breeding lines in <i>Lolium</i> sp. with multiple pathogen resistance Florian HAASE, Milka MALENICA, Christof BÖHM, Peter WINTER, Brigitte RUGE-WEHLING	33
Stolbur in potatoes and vegetables Günter BRADER, Christina SCHÖNHUBER, Amal ARYAN, Felix FUCHS, Susanne KIRCHMAIER, Monika RIEDLE-BAUER	35
PNYDV - still a challenge: <i>Pea necrotic yellow dwarf virus</i> in Austrian legume crops Sabine GRAUSGRUBER-GRÖGER, Juliane REITERER, Anna MOYSES	37
Micropropagation and virus elimination in elderberry (Sambucus nigra) Elisabeth KOPPER, Maria GRANILSHCHIKOVA, Thomas LEICHTFRIED, Helga REISENZEIN	39
Winter is coming: Improving and maintaining winter hardiness and frost tolerance in bread wheat by genomic selection	41
Sebastian MICHEL, Franziska LOSCHENBERGER, Jakob HELLINGER, Christian AMETZ, Bernadette PACHLER, Ellen SPARRY, Hermann BUERSTMAYR	
Molecular mapping for salinity tolerance in F ₈ rice recombinant inbred lines Mahnaz KATOUZI,2, Saeid NAVABPOUR, Ahad YAMCHI, Seyedeh Sanaz RAMEZANPOOR, Hossein SABOURI	43

	45
Study of flowering time genes for crop improvement Jan ŠAFÁŘ	
Seedjection [™] - Bringing microorganisms into seeds Nikolaus PFAFFENBICHLER, Doris GUSENBAUER, Angela SESSITSCH, Birgit MITTER	47
Less is better: improving forage quality of barley Heinrich GRAUSGRUBER, Christian EMSENHUBER, Florian HOCHHAUSER, Lukas NADERER, Farzaneh TAASSOB-SHIRAZI, Fenja KLEVENHUSEN, Qendrim ZEBELI, Ivan INGELBRECHT, Bernhard HOFINGER, Ljupcho JANKULOSKII	49
Soybean breeding for organic farming: breeding goals and options Johann VOLLMANN, Maria BERNHART, Kristina PETROVIĆ, Jegor MILADINOVIĆ, Vuk DJORDJEVIĆ	51
ECOBREED – Increasing the Efficiency and COmpetitiveness of organic crop BREEDing. A new H2020 project on organic breeding of wheat, potato, soybean and buckwheat Heinrich GRAUSGRUBER, Vladimir MEGLIČ, Pavol HAUPTVOGEL, Peter DOLNIČAR, Kristina PETROVIĆ, Dagmar JANOVSKÁ, Paul BILSBORROW, Werner VOGT-KAUTE, Mario PAGNOTTA, Antoaneta G. KUHAR	57
Descriptive and recommended variety lists in European countries and their scales Michael OBERFORSTER, Ellie MARSHALL	59
Genotypic selection in wheat on the field: an optimized overall concept <i>Ernst GROSSLERCHER, Peter LIEBHARD</i>	73

Reference genome sequence and its implications for a 'perfect marker' development

Miroslav VALARIK¹

¹ Institute of Experimental Botany of the Czech Academy of Sciences, Centre of the Region Haná for Biotechnological and Agricultural Research, Šlechtitelů 31, 78371 Olomouc, Czech Republic

(⊠) valarik@ueb.cas.cz

Standard breeding procedures require large scale screening for many generation and selection of desired traits mainly by looking on phenotype. This requires time and significant investment to human labor and space. Marker assisted selection (MAS) with aid of high-throughput genotyping can speed the process by selection of desired lines in very early stages of ontogenetic development which saves time and space. However, availability of markers with tight linkage to desired traits is prerequisite for MAS. The perfect marker for MAS is the marker which never segregates from the followed trait. Such markers can be developed only from genes responsible for variation of the traits and positional cloning is the method to identify the genes. In plant crops with large and complex genomes like wheat, the positional cloning is a long, expensive and laborious process. On the other hand the reference genome can serve as mapping backbone for high-density mapping as was shown on cloning of QPm-tut.4A gene introgressed to hexaploid wheat from tetraploid Triticum militinae or Targeted chromosome-based cloning via long-range assembly (TACCA) demonstrated on cloning of Lr22a gene. The MutRenSeq approach uses the reference sequence as a source of exon information for NBS-LRR exon-capture. So availability of reference genome sequence facilitates the Positional cloning by about ten times and also supports diversity of approaches for gene cloning.

Keywords

High density mapping \cdot leaf rust \cdot marker assisted selection \cdot powdery mildew \cdot Triticum \cdot wheat

Acknowledgments

The presented work was financially supported by the Czech Republic Ministry of Education, Youth and Sports (award LO1204 from the National Program of Sustainability I), by the Czech Science Foundation (award 18-11688S) and the Czech Republic Ministry of Agriculture (award QK1710302). M.V. acknowledges a mobility grant from the Czech Ministry of Education, Youth and Sports (project no. 8J18AT020) and the OeAD -Austrian Agency for International Cooperation in Education and Research (project WTZ CZ02/2018).

References

International Wheat Genome Sequencing Consortium (2018) Shifting the limits in wheat research and breeding using a fully annotated reference genome. Science 361: eaar7191. DOI: 10.1126/science.aar7191

Jakobson I, Reis D, Tiidema A, Peusha H, Timofejeva L, Valárik M, Kladivová M, Šimková H, Doležel J, Järve K (2012) Fine mapping, phenotypic characterization and validation of non-race-specific resistance to powdery mildew in a wheat-Triticum militinae introgression lines. Theor Appl Genet 125: 609-623. DOI: 10.1007/s00122-012-1856-0

Janáková E, Jakobson I, Peusha H, Abrouk M, Škopová M, Šimková H, Šafář J, Vrána J, Doležel J, Järve K, Valárik M (2018) Divergence between bread wheat and *Triticum militinae* in the powdery mildew resistance *QPm.tut-4A* locus and its implications for cloning of the resistance gene. Theor Appl Genet, in press. DOI: 10.1007/s00122-018-3259-3

Thind AK, Wicker T, Šimková H, Fossati D, Moullet O, Brabant C, Vrána J, Doležel J, Krattinger SG (2017) Rapid cloning of genes in hexaploid wheat using cultivar-specific long-range chromosome assembly. Nat Biotechnol 35: 793-796. DOI: 10.1038/nbt.3877

Valarik M (2019) Reference genome sequence and its implications for a 'perfect marker' development. In: Vereinigung der Pflanzenzüchter und Saatgutkaufleute Österreichs (Ed), 69. Jahrestagung 2018, 19-21 November, Raumberg-Gumpenstein, p 1. BOKU-University of Natural Resources and Life Sciences, Vienna, Austria. ISBN-13: 978-3-900932-63-3

Is there a type VI resistance against Fusarium head blight in wheat?

Fabio MASCHER¹, Torsten SCHÖNEBERG^{2,*}, Susanne VOGELGSANG², Charlotte SAVOYAT-MARTIN^{2,§}

¹ Agroscope, Crop Breeding and Genetic Resources, Route de Duillier 50, CP 1012, 1260 Nyon, Switzerland

² Agroscope, Ecological Plant Protection in Arable Crops, Reckenholzstr. 191, 8046 Zürich, Switzerland

* present address: University of Maryland, College Park, MD 20742, USA

[§] present address: Prométerre, Chemin de Grange-Verney 2, 1510 Moudon, Switzerland

() fabio.mascher@agroscope.admin.ch

Fusarium head blight (FHB) is one of the most devastating diseases of wheat. Besides serious reduction of the yield potential, the infection produces misshapen, shriveled grains and contaminates the produce with different types of mycotoxins. Arguably, this aspect is economically the most important aspect as representing a severe threat to food and feed safety. Recent studies revealed also a potential damage to baking quality traits in infected grains. Taken together and considering the technological and economical importance of FHB in wheat, kernel resistance is probably the most important aspect to prevent damage. Yet, kernel resistance is difficult to grasp and rather complicated to phenotype.

Several types and components of resistance to FHB were described. Ear resistance is composed of resistance against the primary infection (type 1) and the resistance against the spreading of the infection throughout the spike (type 2). The ear symptoms are scored after flowering. Several kernel specific resistance types have been identified such as the proportion of healthy-looking grains (type 3), yield stability (type 4) and the resistance against the accumulation of mycotoxins (type 5). Several studies have shown that the degree of the decline of baking quality in FHB infected grains differs in different wheat varieties.

The aim of the present study was to evaluate in which measure the stability of baking quality is linked with other kernel resistance type and if it is about a discrete resistance in certain varieties. For this, we tested 6 wheat varieties with known differences in the kernel resistance in field trials at 3 sites and for 2 years (= 6 environments). The trial was a split-plot design with 6 replicates. Each plot contained all varieties either infected or non-infected (control). After harvest, we measured the grain yield, the thousand kernel weight (TKW), the specific weight (test weight), the proportion of grains damaged by Fusarium, and the content in the mycotoxin deoxynivalenol (DON). Furthermore, some rheological properties of the dough have been tested, *i.e.* water absorption capacity and the kneading resistance.

Overall, in this study, we found only a weak correlation between the reduction of baking quality and the other types of damages on the grains, suggesting that the resistances are independently inherited. We conclude that there is a specific resistance type that can prevent the decay of rheological properties of the dough. This is the additional sixth resistance type present in wheat.

Keywords

Baking quality · *Fusarium graminearum* · kernel resistance · *Triti- cum aestivum*

Acknowledgments

We gratefully acknowledge the support to our research by the Swiss National Research Program 69 "Healthy Nutrition and Sustainable Food Production" under contract no. SNF145210/1. Thanks to R. Morisoli and S. Kellenberger from Agroscope for assistance with field and laboratory work.

References

Häller-Gärtner B, Munich M, Kleijer G, Mascher F (2008) Characterization of kernel resistance against Fusarium infection in spring wheat by baking quality and mycotoxin assessments. Eur J Plant Pathol 120: 61-68. DOI: 10.1007/s10658-007-9198-5

Jones RK, Mirocha CJ (1999) Quality parameters in small grains from Minnesota affected by Fusarium head blight. Plant Dis 83: 506-511. DOI: 10.1094/PDIS.1999.83.6.506

Martin C, Schöneberg T, Vogelgsang S, Vincenti J, Bertossa M, Mauch-Mani B, Mascher F (2017) Factors of wheat grain resistance to Fusarium head blight. Phytopathol Mediterr 56: 157-166. DOI: 10.14601/Phytopathol_Mediterr-20292

McMullen M, Bergstrom G, De Wolf E, Dill-Macky R, Hershman D, Shaner G, Van Sanford D (2012) A unified effort to fight an enemy of wheat and barley: Fusarium head blight. Plant Dis 96: 1712-1728. DOI: 10.1094/PDIS-03-12-0291-FE

Mesterhazy A (1995) Types and components of resistance to Fusarium head blight of wheat. Plant Breed 114: 377-386. DOI: 10.1111/j.1439-0523.1995.tb0816.x

Miller JD, Young JC, Sampson DR (1985) Deoxynivalenol and Fusarium head blight resistance in spring cereal. J Phytopathol 113: 359-367. DOI: 10.1111/j.1439-0434.1985.tb04837.x

Schroeder HW, Christensen JJ (1963) Factors affecting resistance of wheat to scab caused by *Gibberella zeae*. Phytopathology 53: 831-838.

Mascher F, Schöneberg T, Vogelgsang S, Savoyat-Martin C (2019) Is there a type VI resistance against Fusarium head blight in wheat? In: Vereinigung der Pflanzenzüchter und Saatgutkaufleute Österreichs (Ed), 69. Jahrestagung 2018, 19-21 November, Raumberg-Gumpenstein, p 3. BOKU-University of Natural Resources and Life Sciences, Vienna, Austria. ISBN-13: 978-3-900932-63-3

Improving Fusarium head blight resistance in durum wheat

Barbara STEINER¹, Sebastian MICHEL¹, Marco MACCAFERRI², Roberto TUBEROSA², Marc LEMMENS¹, Hermann BUERSTMAYR¹

¹ Department of Agrobiotechnology (IFA-Tulln), BOKU-University of Natural Resources and Life Sciences, Vienna, Konrad Lorenz-Str. 20, 3430 Tulln, Austria

² Department of Agricultural and Food Sciences, University of Bologna, Viale G. Fanin 44, 40127 Bologna, Italy

(⊠) barbara.steiner@boku.ac.at

Fusarium head blight (FHB) is one of the most destructive diseases of durum wheat (*Triticum durum*). FHB resistance breeding in durum is, however, hampered by the limited variation in the elite gene pool and difficulties in efficiently combining the numerous often small-effect resistance QTL in the same breeding line.

We evaluated an international collection of 228 genotyped durum cultivars for FHB resistance over three years to investigate the genetic architecture and potential of genomic-assisted resistance breeding. Moreover, we introgressed resistance alleles from relatives (i.e. T. aestivum, T. dicoccoides, T. dicoccum), developed multi -parental populations (750 lines) and phenotyped these prebreeding lines over two years. Although a lack of highly resistant lines was evident for both collections, broad variation was found, including many moderately resistant pre-breeding lines. Plant height strongly influenced FHB resistance levels and led to colocalization of plant height and resistance QTL. Notwithstanding, a major QTL on chromosome 3B was identified in the elite durum material independent of plant height. Comparison between phenotypic and genomic selection for FHB resistance in the elite germplasm revealed a superior prediction ability of the former, nevertheless simulated selection experiments resulted in higher selection responses when using genomic breeding values for early generation selection. An earlier identification of the most promising lines was furthermore feasible with a genomic selection index, which suggested a much faster short-term population improvement than previously possible in durum. In the long-term, exotic germplasm can broaden the genetic base for FHB resistance beyond the capabilities of elite material for achieving higher levels of resistance

Keywords

Genome-wide association mapping \cdot genomic selection \cdot plant height \cdot Triticum durum

References

Prat N, Buerstmayr M, Steiner B, Robert O, Buerstmayr H (2014) c. Mol Breed 34:1689-1699. DOI: 10.1007/s11032-014-0184-2

Prat N, Guilbert C, Prah U, Wachter E, Steiner B, Langin T, Robert O, Buerstmayr H (2017) QTL mapping of Fusarium head blight resistance in three related durum wheat populations. Theor Appl Genet 130:13-27. DOI: 10.1007/s00122-016-2785-0

Steiner B, Michel S, Maccaferri M, Lemmens M, Tuberosa R, Buerstmayr H (2019) Exploring and exploiting the genetic variation of Fusarium head blight resistance for genomic-assisted breeding in the elite durum wheat gene pool. Theor Appl Genet, in press. DOI: 10.1007/s00122-018-3253-9

Steiner B, Michel S, Maccaferri M, Tuberosa R, Lemmens M, Buerstmayr H (2019) Improving Fusarium head blight resistance in durum wheat. In: Vereinigung der Pflanzenzüchter und Saatgutkaufleute Österreichs (Ed), 69. Jahrestagung 2018, 19-21 November, Raumberg-Gumpenstein, p 5. BOKU-University of Natural Resources and Life Sciences, Vienna, Austria. ISBN-13: 978-3-900932-63-3

Gain by loss: High resolution mapping of the Fusarium head blight resistance QTL *Qfhs.ifa-5A* in wheat

Christian WAGNER¹, Petra SCHWARZ¹, Maria BUERSTMAYR¹, Barbara STEINER¹, Klaus BRUGGER¹, Lisa BLAZEK¹, Delfina BARABASCHI², Andrea VOLANTE², Giampiero VALÈ², Luigi CATTIVELLI², Hermann BUERSTMAYR¹

¹ Department of Agrobiotechnology (IFA-Tulln), BOKU-University of Natural Resources and Life Sciences, Vienna, Konrad Lorenz-Str. 20, 3430 Tulln, Austria

² Council for Agricultural Research and Economics (CREA), Genomics Research Centre, Via S. Protaso 302, 29017 Fiorenzuola d'Arda, Italy

(⊠) christian.wagner@boku.ac.at

Fusarium head blight (FHB) is a severe fungal disease of wheat affecting yield and grain quality. One major QTL for FHB resistance in wheat is *Qfhs.ifa-5A*. Genetically fine-mapping separated the initial *Qfhs.ifa-5A* interval into two QTL: *Qfhs.ifa-5Ac* (mapped across the centromere) and *Qfhs.ifa-5AS* (mapped on 5AS). Although the genetic intervals of *Qfhs.ifa-5Ac* and *Qfhs.ifa-5AS* were as small as 0.1 and 0.2 cM, the corresponding physical distances were 44.1 Mbp and 49.2 Mbp large, respectively.

To further increase the map resolution a radiation induced deletion mapping approach was performed. Two gamma irradiated wheat deletion panels were created: (i) radiation selfing (RS) panel: seeds of line NIL3 carrying the *Qfhs.ifa-5A* resistance allele in a susceptible background were irradiated and plants thereof were selfed to obtain deletions in homozygous state; and (ii) a radiation hybrid (RH) panel: irradiated pollen of the wheat line Chinese Spring (CS) was used for pollinating the CS-nullisomic-5Atetrasomic-5B.

More than 5000 RS and 276 RH plants were pre-screened for deletions on 5AS. Plants having one or more markers deleted were analysed using 102 5AS-specific markers. A consensus map derived from both deletion panels resulted in a 380-fold map improvement (cR/cM) for the QTL-interval on the 5AS chromosome compared to the genetic mapping approach, with an average map resolution of 0.65 Mb/cR. This striking improvement in map resolution underlines the superiority of radiation induced deletion mapping over genetic linkage mapping for low recombining regions. Phenotyping the RS deletion lines can help to narrow down the QTL-intervals for gene cloning.

Keywords

Deletion mapping · Triticum aestivum

Acknowledgements

Funded by the Austrian Science Fund, project SFB F3711.

References

Buerstmayr M, Steiner B, Wagner C, Schwarz P, Brugger K, Barabaschi D, Volante A, Valè G, Cattivelli L, Buerstmayr H (2017) High-resolution mapping of the pericentromeric region on wheat chromosome arm 5AS harbouring the Fusarium head blight resistance QTL *Qfhs.ifa-5A*. Plant Biotechnol J 16:1046-1056. DOI: 10.1111/pbi.12850

Wagner C, Schwarz P, Buerstmayr M, Steiner B, Brugger K, Blazek L, Barabaschi D, Volante A, Valè G, Cattivelli L, Buerstmayr H (2019) Gain by loss: High resolution mapping of the Fusarium head blight resistance QTL *Qfhs.ifa-5A* in wheat. In: Vereinigung der Pflanzenzüchter und Saatgutkaufleute Österreichs (Ed), 69. Jahrestagung 2018, 19-21 November, Raumberg-Gumpenstein, p 7. BOKU-University of Natural Resources and Life Sciences, Vienna, Austria. ISBN-13: 978-3-900932-63-3

Vitality of wheat affected by Fusarium head blight: physiological reactions

Martina TRÁVNÍČKOVÁ¹, Jana CHRPOVÁ¹, František HNILIČKA², Petr MARTINEK³

¹ Crop Research Institute, Drnovska 507/73, 161 06 Praha 6 - Ruzyně, Czech Republic

² Czech University of Life Sciences Prague, Department of Botany and Plant Physiology, Kamýcká 129, 165 21 Prague 6, Czech Republic

³ Agrotest Fyto, Havlíčkova 2787/121, 767 01 Kroměříž, Czech Republic

(⊠) travnickova@vurv.cz

Bread wheat (Triticum aestivum L.) is a staple food in more than 40 countries of the world. The wheat acreage is is growing due to its flexible adaptation to a wide range of environments caused by an enormous genetic variation. Bread wheat has its major importance in human and animal nutrition, however, devastating fungal diseases such as Fusarium head blight (FHB) can cause significant grain yield losses and end-use quality reduction. Several disease management strategies, e.g. fungicide spraying, crop rotation and residue treatment, are used to decrease and/or eliminate yield losses and mycotoxin production due to FHB infection. The development of resistant cultivars is the most effective way for managing FHB. A positive relationship between non-specific disease resistance and different grain colors determined by bioactive pigments, e.g. carotenoids and anthocyanins, was observed. The objective of this study was to determine the relationship between the sensitivity to FHB of wheat varieties with colored grains and physiological responses during flowering on the flag leaf which is traditionally considered the main photosynthetic organ for grain filling.

The study was carried out from 2016 to 2018 with 25 spring wheat varieties and breeding lines with colored grains. Artificial inoculation of spikes was performed by spraying a suspension of *Fusarium*

culmorum spores at Zadoks growth scale 65. Infected spikes were measured for different physiological characteristics, *i.e.* rate of photosynthesis, rate of transpiration and stomatal conductance. Further, the infection rate was determined by visual scoring of the symptoms.

Several genotypes of colored grained wheat were detected with good resistance to *F. culmorum*. However, it could have not been proved that the wheat grain color and its responsible pigment is associated with the improved FHB resistance, but that other genetic or chemical factors influence the resistance.

Keywords

Fusarium culmorum · photosynthesis · physiology · stomatal conductance · transpiration · *Triticum aestivum*

Acknowledgments

The research leading to these results has received funding from Ministry of Agriculture of the Czech Republic project n° QK1910343 and n° MZe RO-0418, and from S grant of Ministry of Education, Youth and Sports of Czech Republic.

Trávníčková M, Chrpová J, Hnilička F, Martinek P (2019) Vitality of wheat affected by Fusarium head blight: physiological reactions. In: Vereinigung der Pflanzenzüchter und Saatgutkaufleute Österreichs (Ed), 69. Jahrestagung 2018, 19-21 November, Raumberg-Gumpenstein, p 9. BOKU-University of Natural Resources and Life Sciences, Vienna, Austria. ISBN-13: 978-3-900932-63-3

The use of wild relatives and chromosome genomics for gene mapping, cloning and improving rust resistance in wheat

István MOLNÁR^{1,2}, Éva SZAKÁCS², Kitti PÁZSI², András FARKAS², László IVANIZS², Mónika CSÉPLŐ², Jan VRÁNA¹, Gyula VIDA², Márta MOLNÁR-LÁNG², Jaroslav DOLEŽEL¹

¹ Institute of Experimental Botany of the Czech Academy of Sciences, Centre of the Region Haná for Biotechnological and Agricultural Research, Šlechtitelů 31, 78371 Olomouc, Czech Republic

² Agricultural Research Institute, MTA ATK, Brunszvik út. 2, 2462 Martonvásár, Hungary

(⊠) molnar.istvan@agrar.mta.hu

Wild Triticeae species like *Aegilops, Agropyron* or *Secale* represent a huge reservoir of useful genes and alleles providing resistance to pests and diseases which would be desirable to transfer into wheat by interspecific hybridization. The most popular method to identify and follow the alien chromatin in wheat genetic background is the *in situ* hybridization of alien genomic- (GISH) and/or repetitive DNA (FISH) probes. However, the weak point is that the throughput of the molecular cytogenetic methods is low.

In the frame of the Martonvásár pre-breeding programme, the leaf rust resistant *Ae. biuncialis* MvGB642 accession was crossed with wheat genotype Mv9kr1. The molecular cytogenetic (GISH and FISH) selection identified two wheat-*Ae. biuncialis* BC₃F₃ genotypes with seedling stage resistance to leaf rust. One contains a 1DL.1DS-U disomic translocation and a 2M chromosome, while the another contains a 5DS.5DL-M disomic translocation. *Agropyron glael*, a hybrid of *A. glaucum* and *A. elongatum*, showed re-

sistance to leaf rust under field conditions. The cytogenetic screening identified a genotype carrying a 6D-Agropyron disomic translocation which also showed resistance to leaf rust. The perennial rye cultivar 'Kriszta', a hybrid of *S. cereale* and *S. montanum*, is resistant to leaf rust, stem rust, stripe rust and powdery mildew. The stripe rust resistant BC_2F_9 line '179' was selected under field conditions and the cytogenetic analysis proved the presence of a disomic 1RS.1BL centric fusion, which has different allele compositions from the well-known Petkus derived 1RS arm.

In order to improve the throughput of the introgression breeding process and for map-based cloning of resistance genes, a better knowledge on the genome structure of wild gene source species will be needed. However, the big genome size, the high percent of repetitive sequences and often the polyploid structure hampers the genome analysis of wild Triticeae species.





Molnár I, Szakács E, Pázsi K, Farkas A, Ivanizs L, Cséplő M, Vrána J, Vida G, Molnár-Láng M, Doležel J (2019) The use of wild relatives and chromosome genomics for gene mapping, cloning and improving rust resistance in wheat. In: Vereinigung der Pflanzenzüchter und Saatgutkaufleute Österreichs (Ed), 69. Jahrestagung 2018, 19-21 November, Raumberg-Gumpenstein, pp 11-12. BOKU-University of Natural Resources and Life Sciences, Vienna, Austria. ISBN-13: 978-3-900932-63-3

To overcome the difficulties, the Olomouc team has been developing chromosome-centric approaches, which rely on the ability to dissect nuclear genomes to chromosomes. This is achieved by preparing suspensions of intact mitotic chromosomes from root tip meristems and flow-sort the target chromosomes. Discrimination of individual chromosomes based on DNA (DAPI-) fluorescence alone requires differences in size between chromosomes in a karyotype, a condition which is not frequent. Chromosome discrimination may be improved after fluorescent labelling by in situ hybridization in suspension (FISHIS) those DNA repeats, which are distributed unevenly among the chromosomes (Fig. 1). For wild relatives of wheat such as Aegilops, Agropyron and Secale, where reference pseudomolecules are not yet available, chromosome genomics provides a cost-effective way to identify a majority of genic sequences and order them along chromosomes. As demonstrated in wheat, chromosome-derived sequences facilitate the development of DNA markers to support alien introgression breeding. With the growing number of finished reference genome sequences for important Triticeae species, the future of chromosome genomics lies in the ability to target particular genome regions. This results in a significant reduction of cost and, if needed, it allows analyzing a chromosome of interest isolated from different cultivars, landraces and mutants. The applications include characterization of alien chromatin in introgression lines and development of molecular markers. Gene cloning has become one of the most important applications of chromosome genomics, recently. The targeted approach greatly streamlines gene cloning and reduces project costs. Two chromosome-based gene cloning approaches, namely MutChromSeq and TACCA (targeted chromosomebased cloning via long-range assembly) have been developed and validated and are being increasingly used.

Keywords

Aegilops biuncialis · *Agropyron glael* · FISHIS · flow cytometric chromosome sorting · introgression breeding · *Triticum aestivum*

Acknowledgments

This work was financed by grants of the National Research, Development and Innovation Office – NKFIH (K119387, K116277, K112169), from a Marie Curie Fellowship Grant 'AEGILWHEAT' (H2020-MSCA-IF-2016-746253) under the H2020 framework programme of the European Union and by the Ministry of Education, Youth and Sports of the Czech Republic (grant LO1204 from the National Program of Sustainability I)

References

Rey E, Molnár I, Doležel J (2015) Genomics of wild relatives and alien introgressions. In: Molnár-Láng M, Ceoloni C, Doležel J (eds), Alien introgression in wheat: cytogenetics, molecular biology, and genomics, pp 347-381. Springer, Cham. DOI: 10.1007/978-3-319-23494-6_13

Sánchez-Martín J, Steuernagel B, Ghosh S, Herren G, Hurni S, Adamski N, Vrána J, Kubaláková M, Krattinger SG, Wicker T, Doležel J, Keller B, Wulff BBH (2016) Rapid gene isolation in barley and wheat by mutant chromosome sequencing. Genome Biol 17:221. DOI: 10.1186/s13059-016-1082-1

Vrána J, Cápal P, Číhalíková J, Kubaláková M, Doležel J (2016) Flow sorting plant chromosomes. In: Kianian SF, Kianian PMA (eds), Plant cytogenetics. Methods and protocols. Methods in Molecular Biology 1429:119-134. Humana Press, New York. DOI: 10.1007/978-1-4939-3622-9_10

Identifying resistance genes in wheat against common bunt (*Tilletia caries*) by use of virulence pattern of the pathogen

Anders BORGEN¹, Gunter BACKES², Karl-Josef MÜLLER³, Andrea GALLEHR⁴, Bettina SCHERRER⁴, Nana YTTING¹, Hartmut SPIESS⁴

¹ Agrologica, Houvej 55, 9550 Mariager, Denmark

³ Getreidezüchtungsforschung Darzau, Hof Darzau 1, 29490 Neu Darchau, Germany,

⁴ Landbauschule Dottenfelderhof e.V., Dottenfelder Hof 1, 61118 Bad Vilbel, Germany

(⊠) borgen@agrologica.dk

Abstract

455 wheat varieties and breeding lines were grown in the field, contaminated with 7 to 11 different races of common bunt. Based on the reaction of the lines to the different virulence races, it was possible to group the lines by differential varieties with known resistance genes, indicating that they may have one or two of the resistance genes *Bt1*, *Bt2*, *Bt5*, *Bt7*, *Bt13*, *BtZ* or Quebon-resistance. Based hereof, genetic markers will be developed using a genome-wide association study (GWAS).

Keywords

Genome-wide association study \cdot LIVESEED \cdot marker assisted selection \cdot organic plant breeding \cdot seedborne disease \cdot Triticum aestivum

Introduction

Wheat can be infected by the seed and soilborne diseases common bunt (Tilletia caries, T. laevis), and dwarf bunt (T. contraversa), but it has long been known that different varieties have different susceptibility to the disease (Tscharner 1764, Kühn 1880, Tubeuf 1901, Cobb 1902, Hecke 1906 & 1907, Pye 1909, Darnell-Smith 1910, Kirschner 1916). During the past century, a number of specific resistance genes have been identified (Hoffmann & Metzger 1976, Goates 2012). These resistance genes are common for the three pathogens and are present in a set of differential varieties, that can be used to describe the virulence pattern in bunt populations. These differential lines, however, are not well adapted to modern agriculture in Europe. On the other hand, a number of adapted resistant European wheat varieties are known, but often it is unknown which resistance genes are causing their resistance. Therefore, wheat breeding aiming to introduce bunt resistance into modern adapted material needs to base the breeding either on unadapted lines or adapted lines with unknown resistance genes.

The bunt pathogens is divided into different virulence races, each able to infect plants with different resistance genes (Hoffmann & Metzger 1976, Goates 2012). Often bunt spore collections are mixtures of different races. When a wheat variety is infected with a mixture of races, and reinoculated with spores from this infection, the infection level often raises because of selection of virulent races within the mixture (Weston 1932, Bever 1939). Since 2010, Agrologica has worked on purifying bunt races, that are homogeneous in their ability to infect plants with certain resistance genes (Borgen 2015). By infecting wheat varieties with a range of races of common bunt with different virulences towards the resistance genes, it is possible estimate which resistance gene they have.

To improve the basis for bunt resistance breeding, the LIVESEED project has initiated a research program that will try to identify resistance genes in adapted varieties and breeding lines. Later, based on the results of this identification, the project will develop genetic markers for the resistance genes.

Material and methods

Before sowing of winter wheat in 2017, 450 wheat varieties and breeding lines that have demonstrated resistance to common bunt in previous trials were contaminated with 7 different virulence races of common bunt; 62 of the lines were also contaminated with additionally 4 virulence races. The spores used to infect the lines, all originate from Denmark. Nielsen (2000) collected spores from different places in Denmark and bulked them into a mixed population. This bulk population was used to infect a range of varieties (Steffan 2014). Spores from infected heads of resistant varieties were collected, maintained and multiplied on these varieties to confirm virulence against the resistance gene in question (Borgen 2015, 2016).

The tested wheat lines were selected in order to cover differential lines with the known resistance genes, and a balanced amount of lines with each of 7 resistance genes that were aimed to be identified in the study. The resistance genes include *Bt1*, *Bt2*, *Bt5*, *Bt7*,

Borgen A, Backes G, Müller K-J, Gallehr A, Scherrer B, Ytting N, Spieß H M (2019) Identifying resistance genes in wheat against comon bunt (*Tilletia caries*) by use of virulence pattern of the pathogen. In: Vereinigung der Pflanzenzüchter und Saatgutkaufleute Österreichs (Ed), 69. Jahrestagung 2018, 19-21 November, Raumberg-Gumpenstein, pp 13-15. BOKU-University of Natural Resources and Life Sciences, Vienna, Austria. ISBN-13: 978-3-900932-63-3

² University of Kassel, FB11 - Organic Agricultural Sciences, Steinstr. 19, 37213 Witzenhausen, Germany

Bt13 and *BtZ*. The genes were selected based on the virulence of bunt races.

About 50 seed were sown with each line in each treatment. After heading, the plants were scored for visible symptoms of infection in the head.

Results and discussion

The infection rates of 180 selected wheat lines are presented in Fig. 1, where the infection is colored based on infection level. The lines are sorted based on a subjective evaluation of similarity in reaction to the different virulence races. Infection of lines with zero infection to all races are not presented and are hypothesized to carry multiple genes with additive effects.

The infection rates ranged from 0 to 100% infection with some lines being resistant to all virulence races, and others being susceptible to all races.

Line PI 181463 (Thule III) and a few lines derived from crosses with this line were infected with at a low rate when contaminated with race Vr13. This is surprising, since this race demonstrated high virulence against *Bt13* in previous years. This may indicate that the spores in 2017 may have been of low vitality and/or been applied in low quantity.

Most differential lines were infected by one or more of the virulence races. This shows that virulence is present against most of the known *Bt* resistance genes. However, lines with *Bt9* or *Bt11* were not infected by any of the races (data not presented). It is inconclusive if lines with *Bt4* were infected or not, since two lines are listed to have *Bt4*, and one was infected and the other not. This may be due to heterogeneity within the differential lines (Dumalasova, pers. commun.).

Bt12 was infected with race 341 (data not presented), which is surprising since virulence to *Bt12* has not previously been described in Europe. Also *Bt6* was infected by this race, which is also surprising, as *Tilletia leavis* has never been observed in Denmark, and virulence against *Bt6* has so far only been observed in Eastern Europe in areas where *T. leavis* is present (Mascher *et al.* 2016). However, race 341 has not been identified at species level.

Based on the sorting presented in Fig. 1, it seems that some lines react in a similar way to the different races, and it is hypothesized that lines with similar reaction have the same resistance gene. Since each group has one or more differential lines with known resistance genes, it is hypothesized that the groups represent lines with the same resistance genes as the differential line in the group. However, *Bt10* and *BtZ* react in a similar way to the different races. Differential lines with *Bt10* and *Bt2* has been assessed with the genetic marker identified for *Bt10* (Laroche *et al.* 2000), and only *Bt10* had this marker which supports the fact that *Bt10* and *Bt2* are indeed two different genes and that race 10 in this study apparently is virulent to both *Bt10* and *Bt2*. Therefore, the distinction between *Bt2* and *Bt10* in this study is based on information about the parents.

In this study, lines with multiple resistance genes were not infected by any of the races. However, some combinations of dual resistance are relatively easily overcome by the development of new virulence races of the pathogen, given that virulence against the parent resistance gene are present in pathogenic races in the region (Hoffman 1982). Therefore, a safer strategy is to combine resistance genes where virulence against at least one of the genes are rare. In Europe, virulence is frequently found against *Bt7* and relatively common also against *Bt1*, *Bt2* and *Bt5*. Our study shows that these genes are also found in several commercial varieties in Europe, and this is likely the reason for the virulence. Using these resistance genes alone can, therefore, not be used as the only strategy to control the disease, but must be combined with other control measures or at least be followed with seed analysis for the presence of spores prior to sowing.

We believe that this study can be used as a data foundation for a GWAS to identify genetic markers for the bunt resistances in question. The trial will be repeated in 2018/19 to confirm the results and this hypothesis further pursued within the LIVESEED project.

Acknowledgments

The trial is part of the LIVESEED project funded by EU HORIZON2020program. Development of the virulence races was supported by the CO-BRA project (ERA-Net CORE-Organic-II), and the breeding lines were provided by the authors and Getreidezüchtung Peter Kunz.

References

Bever WM (1939) Reinoculation of resistent varieties of wheat with purified physiologic races of *Tillitia tritici* and *T. levis*. Phytopathol 29:863-871.

Borgen A (2015) Purifying virulence races of common bunt (*Tilletia caries*) to identify resistance genes in wheat. Program and abstracts of the COBRA final conference, 24-25 Nov, Vingsted, Denmark, pp 32-34.

Borgen A (2016) Screening wheat varieties for resistance with purified virulence races of common bunt (*Tilletia caries*). In: Morgounov A, Muminjanov H (eds), XIX International Workshop on Smuts and Bunts, 3-6 May, Izmir, Turkey, Book of Abstracts, pp 27-30.

Cobb NA (1902) Comparative observations on the brush of fifty varieties of wheat. The Agricultural Gazette of New South Wales 13:647-649.

Darnell-Smith GP (1910) Observations upon the disease of wheat known as "bunt". Report of the Government Bureau of Microbiology for the Year 1909, pp 64-69.

Goates BJ (2012) Identification of new pathogenic races of common bunt and dwarf bunt fungi, and evaluation of known races using an expanded set of differential wheat lines. Plant Dis 96:361-369. DOI: 10.1094/PDIS-04-11-0339

Hecke L (1906) Die Brandkrankheiten und ihre Bkämpfung. Wiener landwirtschafliche Zeitung 56 (33):318-319.

Hecke L (1907) Die Triebinfection bei Brandpilzen. Zeitschrift für das landwirtschaftliche Versuchswesen in Österreich 10 (6):572-574.

Hoffmann JA (1982) Bunt of wheat. Plant Dis 66:979-986. DOI: 10.1094/PD -66-979

Hoffmann JA, Metzger RJ (1975) Current status of virulence genes and pathogenic races of the wheat but fungi in the northern USA. Phytopathol 66:657-660.

Kirschner O (1916) Über die verschiedene Empfänglichkeit der Weizensorten für die Steinbrandkrankheit. Z Pflkrankh 26:17-25.

Kühn JG (1880) Beobachtungen über den Steinbrand des Weizens. Österreichisches landwirtschaftliches Wochenblatt 6:1-2

Laroche A, Demeke T, Gaudet DA, Puchalski B, Frick M, McKenzie R (2000) Development of a PCR marker for rapid identification of the *Bt-10* gene for common bunt resistance in wheat. Genome 43:217-223. DOI: 10.1139/g99 -113

D4	A
вι	

Pi-554-108	6,9	0,0	0,0	21,7	20,7	0,0	0,0	Pi-554-104	0,0	8,2	0,0	0,0	
PG3540	0,0	0,0	0,0	52,9	26,7	0,0	0,0	Promesse	0,0	17,1	0,0	0,0	
Starke NIL Bt1 Butero	2,4	0,0	0,0	35,5	8,2	0,0	0,0	Globus Storke MIL BIE	4,8	73,1	0,0	0,0	
Courier	0,0	0,0	0,0	48.8	37.5	2.2	0,0	Starke NIL Bt5	0,0	17,4	0,0	0,0	
Ring 61: HSI-664-11	0.0	0.0	0.0	29.8	10.9	2.2	0.0	Bill	0.0	18.0	0.0	0.0	
ButQue 1	0,0	0,0	0,0	17,1	51,7	0,0	0,0	SegQue-1	0,0	27,1	4,8	0,0	
ButQue 2	0,0	0,0	0,0	10,0	13,5	0,0	0,0	SegQue 2	0,0	47,7	0,0	2,4	
ButQue 3	0,0	0,0	0,0	19,4	48,9	0,0	0,0	SegQue 3	0,0	8,6	2,2	5,4	
ButQue 4	0,0	0,0	0,0	30,0	43,6	0,0	0,0	SegQue 4	0,0	38,6	0,0	0,0	
ButQue 5	0,0	0,0	0,0	12,8	16,7	0,0	0,0	SegQue 5	0,0	25,0	0,0	0,0	
ArPG	0,0	0,0	0,0	40,0	20,0	0,0	0,0	QueGlo 13	0,0	24,1	2,4	0,0	
PerBut 1	0,0	0,0	0,0	38,3	10,0	0,0	0,0	QueGlo 2	2,0	7,0	0,0	0,0	
Perbut 2 PerBut 2	0,0	0,0	0,0	51.4	69.9	0,0	0,0	PerWin	0,0	10,3	0,0	0,0	
PerBut 4	0.0	0.0	0,0	38.5	14.6	0.0	0.0	DZW0510850	0.0	68.4	0.0	0.0	
PerKo 1	0,0	0,0	0,0	47,5	17,1	0,0	0,0	DZW0605e	0.0	33.3	0.0	0.0	
PerKo 2	0,0	0,0	0,0	23,7	11,8	0,0	0,0	BiFo 5	0,0	13,5	0,0	0,0	
PerXe 1	0,0	0,0	0,0	68,2	22,6	0,0	0,0	CCP 15	0,0	10,0	0,0	0,0	
PerXe 2	0,0	0,0	0,0	62,5	47,8	0,0	0,0	CCP 42	0,0	27,3	0,0	0,0	
PerXe 3	0,0	0,0	0,0	48,8	55,3	2,2	0,0	CCP-27	0,0	37,9	0,0	0,0	
CorPG 1	0,0	0,0	0,0	26,0	18,4	0,0	0,0	GloCor 20	0,0	36,4	0,0	0,0	
CorPG 2	0,0	0,0	0,0	47,5	17,1	0,0	0,0	GloTat 11B	0,0	30,3	0,0	0,0	
CorPG 3	0,0	0,0	0,0	57,7	18,0	0,0	0,0	GloTat 3A	0,0	40,0	0,0	0,0	
Jonno 4 INDC	0,0	0,0	0,0	47,3	26,3	0,0	0,0	GioTat 3B	0,0	52,0	0,0	0,0	
DZW1107n	0,0	0,0	2,0	25.0	22.6	2.4	0,0	Giotat 3C	0,0	22,0	0,0	0,0	
AB-5	0,0	0,0	0.0	16.0	22,0	0.0	0,0	Derline 17	0,0	40.0	0,0	0,0	
CCP 16	0.0	0.0	0,0	22.0	7.8	0.0	0,0	OueGlo 13	0,0	26.1	0,0	0,0	
CCP-20	0.0	0.0	0.0	15.1	5.3	2.2	0.0	QueGio 13 QueGio 9	0.0	25.0	0.0	0.0	
CCP-29	2,2	0,0	0,0	10,0	13,5	0,0	0,0	SePen 17	0,0	16,7	0,0	0,0	
CCP-34	0,0	0,0	0,0	9,1	25,6	0,0	0,0	SePen 6B	0,0	45,5	0,0	0,0	
Butaro	0,0	0,0	0,0	38,7	70,0	4,3	2,3	SePen 9	0,0	16,0	0,0	0,0	
HSi 439-2-10	0,0	0,0	0,0	17,5	55,3	0,0	0,0	SkaLa 18A	0,0	11,4	0,0	0,0	
HSi 447-10	0,0	0,0	0,0	7,0	16,7	0,0	0,0	TomBut 20	0,0	68,4	0,0	0,0	
HSi 672-10	0,0	0,0	0,0	14,7	10,3	4,8	0,0	TomHyp 16	0,0	22,5	0,0	0,0	
ISi 528-11	0,0	0,0	0,0	11,1	2,4	0,0	0,0	HSi 1010-12	0,0	30,4	0,0	0,0	
HSi 664-11	0,0	0,0	0,0	9,1	8,2	2,2	2,6	HSi 676-11	0,0	20,0	0,0	0,0	
HSi 612-11	0,0	0,0	0,0	11,4	14,7	0,0	0,0	HSi 186-13	0,0	6,3	0,0	0,0	
HS 191-04	0,0	0,0	0,0	31,9	30,8	0,0	0,0	CP 88.4	0,0	68,2	1,7	0,0	
MEOR: 741	0,0	0,0	0,0	32.3	42,2	0,0		CP 91.6	0,0	83,3	0,0	0,0	
WAR109Rt 01	0,0	0,0	0,0	23.8	12.0	2.4		CP 88.7	0,0	61.2	0,0	0,0	
SePen 6A	0.0	0.0	15.2	37.5	25.0	47.1	4.2	CP 87.5	0.0	30.0	0.0	2.8	
DZW1107c	0,0	0,0	2,2	26,3	7,7	43,6	0,0	CP 86.2	0.0	50.0	0.0	0.0	
DZW1107h	0,0	0,0	0,0	21,4	41,3	10,8	0,0	CP 75.2	0,0	47,1	0,0	0,0	
DZW1107i	0,0	0,0	0,0	25,9	19,0	6,5	0,0	CP 95.4	0,0	77,1	0,0	0,0	
DZW1107k	0,0	0,0	0,0	28,6	22,0	17,2	2,6	CP 78.3	0,0	63,6	0,0	0,0	
DZW1107m	0,0	0,0	0,0	19,4	20,0	23,3	2,9	CP 73.2	0,0	25,0	0,0	0,0	
DZW1108a	0,0	0,0	0,0	6,3	20,0	18,0	0,0	CP 77.2	0,0	61,9	0,0	0,0	
DZW1108b	0,0	0,0	0,0	14,8	46,2	25,5	0,0	CP 81.5	0,0	72,2	0,0	0,0	
DZW1019a1	0,0	0,0	0,0	6,3	5,7	20,4	0,0	CP 95.2	0,0	44,8	0,0	3,8	
DZW1019e	0,0	0,0	0,0	8,9	0,0	10,2	0,0	CP 74.1	0,0	81,3	0,0	0,0	
DZW101901	0,0	0,0	0,0	4,3	3,8	8,0	0,0	Hohenheimer Bt5	0,0	20,0	0,0	0,0	
D7W1019n1	0.0	0,0	0,0	6.2	87	20.0	0,0	SePen 20	0,0	7,4	0,0	0,0	ſ
DZW1019g	0.0	0.0	0,0	5.7	5,4	5,4	0,0						
HSi 367-10	0,0	0,0	0,0	39,7	16,7	21,6		Bt13					
								Thuie III	0,0	0,0	2,4	4,3	
								SegThul 1	0,0	0,0	0,0	0,0	
								SegThul 2	0,0	0,0	0,0	0,0	
								SegThul 3	0,0	0,0	0,0	0,0	
Kt/								SegThul 4	0,0	0,0	0,0	0,0	
								SegThul 5	0,0	0,0	0,0	0,0	
ZW1105b	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	44.4	0.0	Segrifiul 6	0,0	0,0	0,0	32,0	
ZW1110	0.0	0.0	0.0	2,2	0,0	79,5	0.0	SenThul 9	0,0	0,0	0,0	27.0	
ZW1126e	0,0	0,0	0,0	0,0	0,0	35,0	0,0	SegThul 9	0,0	0,0	0,0	0.0	
DZW1126f	0,0	0,0	0,0	0,0	0,0	39,4	0,0	SegThul 10	0,0	0,0	0,0	0.0	
DZW1126g	0,0	0,0	0,0	0,0	0,0	63,0	0,0	SegThul 11	0,0	0,0	0,0	0,0	
DZW1126h	0,0	0,0	0,0	0,0	0,0	25,7	0,0	SegThul 12	0,0	0,0	0,0	4,3	
DZW1127a	0,0	0,0	0,0	0,0	0,0	37,8	0,0	SegThul 13	0,0	0,0	0,0	0,0	
DZW1127b	0,0	0,0	0,0	0,0	0,0	50,9	0,0	SegThul 14	0,0	0,0	0,0	0,0	
DZW1004a	0,0	0,0	0,0	0,0	0,0	100,0	0,0	SegThul 15	0,0	0,0	0,0	0,0	
DZW1007ka	0,0	0,0	0,0	0,0	0,0	37,7	0,0	SegThul 16	0,0	0,0	0,0	0,0	
DZW1007b2	0,0	0,0	0,0	0,0	0,0	48,0	0,0	SegThul 17	0,0	0,0	0,0	0,0	
DZW1007	0,0	0,0	0,0	0,0	0,0	62,3	0,0	SegThul 18	0,0	0,0	0,0	12,1	
02W100/h	0,0	0,0	0,0	0,0	0,0	30,2	0,0	SegThul 19	0,0	0,0	0,0	0,0	

Rf5

Bt2

Inthaler	0,0		RG 5	69.5	76.5	0.0	0.0
III U KUICI	0.0	0,0	7.0	3.8	14.0	0.0	0,0
Coluilan	0,0	0,0	20.0	3,0	20.7	0,0	0,0
Complet	0,0	0,0	09,8	00,0	70,7	0,0	0,0
Complex	0,0	0,0	20,9	33,3	24,1	0,0	0,0
Oebre	0,0	0,0	31,3	41,5	32,0	0.0	0,0
SeeQue Mekeel	0,0	0,0	20,0	12,0	20,8	0,0	0,0
SegQue veksel	0,0	2,8	47,1	30,0	20,0	0,0	0,0
ButQue 1	0,0	0,0	39,6	78,0	59,3	0,0	0,0
ButQue 2	0,0	0,0	15,7	10,0	7,0	0,0	0,0
ArPG 1	0,0	0,0	13,0	27,3	11,5	0,0	0,0
ArPG 2	0,0	0,0	35,0	41,2	2,4	0,0	0,0
ArPG 3	0,0	0,0	20,8	44,9	6,3	0,0	0,0
FoPG	0,0	0,0	59,6	38,0	16,1	0,0	0,0
P.LA.P 87.1	0,0	0,0	40,7	62,5	24,0	0,0	
Pi-554-103	6,1	4,3	47,8	50,0	39,5	4,3	0,0
Pi-554-097	0,0	11,8	64,7	65,2	52,5	4,8	0,0
Bussard	0,0	6,3	55,8	31,3	66,1	0,0	0,0
Skagen	0,0	4,8	21,6	20,3	11,5	0,0	0,0
Paroli	0,0	4,8	59,2	63,3	71,7	0,0	0,0
Format	0,0	2,2	61,3	63,6	81,3	0,0	0,0
Dream	0,0	8,9	100,0	72,7	86,8	0,0	0,0
Fold	19,6	7,7	20,5	22,2	0,0	18,2	0,0
Helge	23,7	14,3	4,8	12,3	3,8	11,3	0,0
Rubrik	3,8	27,0	34,1	46,2	24,1	0,0	0,0
Ring 39 :DS-6395-6	4,3	14,3	19,4	40,8	4,3	0,0	0,0
Ring 37 :DS-6583-2	0,0	6,3	13,0	17,0	0,0	2,0	0,0
HypBut 20	0,0	2,4	12,1	46,7	25,8	0,0	0,0

Bt7

SegQue Veksel	0,0	4,8	0,0	21,2	0,0	0,0	0,0
Pi-554-100	0,0	21,2	0,0	21,3	0,0	24,3	0,0
Tambor	0,0	0,0	0,0	13,0	39,1	6,3	0,0
Korrund	0,0	23,9	0,0	35,3	44,6	33,3	2,2
Xenos	2,4	44,7	4,3	61,5	85,1	56,9	0,0
Segor	0,0	27,3	0,0	51,3	57,4	57,8	8,3
Ring 59: HSI-672-10	0,0	6,3	0,0	8,2	0,0	5,7	0,0
Ring 60: HSI-367-10	0,0	28,1	0,0	70,7	38,1	18,8	0,0
Jacoby	7,7	9,1	0,0	75,0	25,0	7,0	0,0
SegQue	0,0	14,3	4,8	23,3	21,1	3,0	0,0
ButQue	0,0	7,0	0,0	24,5	50,8	7,0	0,0
PerXe	0,0	51,4	0,0	63,3	79,2	41,7	0,0
DZW1107e	0,0	8,2	0,0	32,4	17,9	42,9	0,0
DZW1107f	0,0	9,7	0,0	25,6	32,3	2,8	0,0
DZW1108c	0,0	9,3	0,0	40,4	27,7	73,3	0,0
DZW1109a	0,0	17,1	0,0	55,0	37,5	17,9	0,0
DZW1109b	0,0	6,4	0,0	35,1	18,5	38,8	0,0
DZW1019d	0,0	8,2	0,0	24,5	19,5	42,9	3,8
SePen 3	0,0	31,8	0,0	22,7	7,7	50,0	0,0
SkaKo-20	0,0	5,4	0,0	22,5	25,9	6,3	0,0
HSi 585-10	0,0	7,0	0,0	4,8	35,6	8,3	0,0
HSi 637-10	0,0	3,2	0,0	46,4	4,5	28,1	0,0
HSi 430-10	2,2	8,3	0,0	13,6	0,0	4,3	0,0
HSi 681-10	0,0	28,6	0,0	34,2	6,3	28,9	0,0
HSi 379-11	0,0	6,3	0,0	32,1	31,4	4,3	0,0
HSi 1004-12/2	0,0	6,3	0,0	26,2	55,6	42,1	4,2
HSi 1005-12	0,0	16,7	0,0	46,9	0,0	58,3	0,0

Bt10

41,3 26,9 35,7 14,1

15,6 24,1 17,5

Weston	0,0	0,0	0,0	0,0	4,3	41,8	0,0
Starke NIL Bt10	0,0	0,0	0,0	0,0	0,0	16,2	0,0
SegQue Veksel	0,0	0,0	0,0	0,0	0,0	12,2	0,0
PerWin 1	0,0	0,0	0,0	0,0	0,0	37,8	0,0
PerWin 2	0,0	0,0	0,0	0,0	0,0	6,4	0,0
CCP 13	0,0	0,0	0,0	0,0	0,0	25,7	0,0

Figure 1: Infection of 180 selected wheat varieties and breeding lines contaminated with spores of 7 different virulence races of common bunt (*Tilletia caries*). The colour gradient indicates infection level from 0% (green), 20% (yellow) to 100% (red). The lines are grouped based on the similarity in reaction to the different races. Lines with similar reaction as differential lines with known resistance genes are hypothesized to carry the same resistance gene, supported by knowledge of the parents.

SegThul 21 SegThul 22 SegThul 23

Mascher F, Borgen A, Dumalasova V, Müller K-J, Hole D, Dell'Avo F, Liatukas Ż, Müllner AE, Henrikson T, Pregitzer A, Al-Maroof EM, Morgounov A (2017) Multilocal resistance assessment against common bunt of wheat (*Triticum aestivum*). 67. Jahrestagung 2016, 21-23 Nov, Raumberg-Gumpenstein, pp 37-38. Vereinigung der Pflanzenzüchter und Saatgutkaufleute Österreichs.

Nielsen BJ (2000) Resistens mod stinkbrand i vinterhvede. In: Deneken G, Pedersen JB (eds), Sortsforsøg 2000. Korn, bælgsæd og olieplanter, pp 12-13. Landbrugets Rådgivningscenter, Århus, Denmark.

Pye H (1909) Diseases and pests of cereals. The Journal of theDeptartment of Agriculture, Victoria 7 (6):368-373.

Mascher F, Borgen A, Dumalasova V, Müller K-J, Hole D, Dell'Avo F, Liatukas Ž, Steffan PM (2014) Biotechnology assisted wheat breeding for organic agricul-Müllner AE, Henrikson T, Pregitzer A, Al-Maroof EM, Morgounov A (2017) ture. Phd thesis, Univ Copenhagen, Frederiksberg, Denmark.

> Tscharner NE (1764) Von Brand und von dem Rost im Getreide. Abhandlungen und Beobachtungen durch die Ökonomische Gesellschaft zu Bern 5:25-40. DOI: 10.5169/seals-386606

> Tubeuf, C von (1902) Weitere Beiträge zur Kentniss der Brandkrankheiten des Getreides und ihre Bekämpfung. Arbeiten aus der Biologischen Abteilung für Land- und Forstwirtschaft am Kaiserlichen Gesundheitsamte 2:437-467.

Weston WARD (1932) The relative resistance of some wheat varieties to *Tilletia caries* (DC.) Tul. (=*T. tritici* (Bjerk.) Wint.). Ann Appl Biol 19:35-54. DOI: 10.1111/j.1744-7348.1932.tb04305.x

Reaction of Czech winter wheat varieties to eyespot

Veronika DUMALASOVÁ¹, Jana PALICOVÁ¹, Pavel MATUŠINSKY^{2,3}, Alena HANZALOVÁ¹

¹ Crop Research Institute, Drnovská 507/73, 161 06 Prague 6 - Ruzyně, Czech Republic

² Palacký University, Department of Botany, Šlechtitelů 27, 783 71 Olomouc, Czech Republic

³ Agrotest Fyto Ltd., Havlíčkova 2787/121, 767 01 Kroměříž, Czech Republic

(⊠) dumalasova@vurv.cz

Abstract

Twelve winter wheat varieties registered in the Czech Republic were tested for their susceptibility to eyespot. Infections were provoked in small field plots by artificial inoculation with *Oculimacula yallundae* and *O. acuformis* in 2017 and 2018. Presence of the *Pch1* resistance gene was checked by the molecular STS marker *Xorw1*. Lowest infection levels were observed for varieties 'Annie' and 'Rebell', both carrying the *Pch1* gene.

Keywords

 $\label{eq:culimacula} \textit{Culimacula acuformis} \cdot \textit{Oculimacula yallundae} \cdot \textit{resistance gene} \\ \textit{Pch1} \cdot \textit{Triticum aestivum}$

Introduction

The long and warm autumn in the last years and predominance of cereals have caused a high occurrence of eyespot. The disease is caused by Oculimacula yallundae (Wallwork & Spooner) Crous & W. Gams and O. acuformis (Nirenberg) Y. Marín & Crous. O. yallundae and O. acuformis differ in pathogenicity, occurence or sensitivity to fungicides. However, both species may occur on the same stem, they have a similar life cycle and it is not possible to distinguish the symptoms caused by these two species on plants. Even the microscopic differences between O. yallundae and O. acuformis are not always well discernible. Therefore, speciesspecific primers (Walsh et al. 2005) are useful for the determination of Oculimacula spp. incidence by PCR. Based on the PCR analysis, it has been previously shown, that O. yallundae prevails over O. acuformis in the Czech Republic. Sometimes both Oculimacula species occurred together on one stem (Palicová & Matušinsky 2019).

Eyespot can cause yield losses up to 50 %. Eyespot control is based on early treatment at stage BBCH 31-32, but it is not always effective. Recently, resistance of *Oculimacula* spp. strains to fungicides has been increasingly observed. In the monitoring 2015-2017, where 114 *Oculimacula* spp. isolates were evaluated using the agar dilution method for the resistance to prochloraz (Dyer *et al.* 2000), 34 isolates showed low resistance, 31 medium resistance and 1 isolate was highly resistant.

For these reasons, growing of resistant varieties should be taken in account as an effective, economical and environment friendly measure of eyespot control. So far, three major genes of resistance to eyespot have been described. The resistance gene *Pch1* is the most effective one. Previously, detection of *Pch1* in winter wheat varieties using the STS (sequence tagged site) marker *Xorw1* has been performed (Leonard *et al.* 2008), producing a 183bp PCR product in *Pch1* carrying genotypes such as 'Annie', 'Beduin', 'Bonanza', 'Hermann', 'Iridium', 'Manager', 'Pankratz', 'Partner', 'Princeps' and 'Rebell' (Dumalasová *et al.* 2015).

Material and methods

The reaction of 12 winter wheat varieties registered in the Czech Republic in trials with eyespot infection was evaluated in 2017 and 2018. The results were compared with the presence or absence of *Pch1* using the *Xorw1* STS marker.

The wheat cultivars were inoculated with *O. yallundae* and *O. acuformis* and tested in a small plot trial in Prague-Ruzyně. The seed originated from the Central Institute for Supervising and Testing in Agriculture, Brno. The inoculum was prepared as a mixture of two isolates of *O. yallundae* and one isolate of *O. acuformis*. The species has been previously determined by PCR. All isolates were obtained from Kroměříž, South Moravia. The fungi were grown on sterilized barley grains. The wheat varieties were sown in deep seedbeds (15×1.5 m) in October 2016 and 2017, with 6 rows per variety. The inoculum was evenly spread within the plants in a dose 40 g/m² two times, in November and in March.

The level of infection was evaluated at growth stage BBCH 73-77 using a 0 to 5 scoring scale (0: no symptoms; 1: one small spot; 2: more spots covering at most a half of the stem perimeter; 3: spots covering more than half of the stem perimeter; 4: spots covering the whole stem perimeter; 5: broken stem). Fifteen randomly selected plants with four stems each were assessed.

Dumalasová V, Palicová J, Matušinsky P, Hanzalova A (2019) Reaction of Czech winter wheat varieties to eyespot. In: Vereinigung der Pflanzenzüchter und Saatgutkaufleute Österreichs (Ed), 69. Jahrestagung 2018, 19-21 November, Raumberg-Gumpenstein, pp 17-18. BOKU-University of Natural Resources and Life Sciences, Vienna, Austria. ISBN-13: 978-3-900932-63-3

Table 1: Reactions of winter wheat cultivars to inoculation with Oculimacula spp. in Prague-Ruzyně, 2017 and 2018.

Variatu	Level of	infection	on <i>Pch1</i> Year of Podigroo		Dedigroo
variety	2017	2018	(Xorw1)	release	Pedigree
Annie	1.13	0.37	yes	2014	Meritto / CH 11.12772 / Eurofit
Arkeos	2.65	0.92	-	2011, FR	-
Bohemia	2.15	1.13	no	2007	540i / U6192 // 540i / Kontrast
Dagmar	2.93	1.20	no	2012	Apache / Nela
Genius	2.68	1.55	no	2014	ACK3094 / 00/412
Julie	2.72	1.93	no	2014	Meritto / Caphorn
Matchball	2.32	1.08	no	2013	Carenius / Boomer
Patras	2.82	1.28	no	2013	Paroli / Toras
Rebell	1.22	0.27	yes	2013, DE	-
Tobak	2.38	1.77	no	2013	Elvis / Drifter // Koch
Turandot	2.70	0.55	no	2012	7125a / S1737-97
Vanessa	2.40	1.20	no	2013	SG-S2040-97 / Rapsodia

Results and discussion

Higher infection levels on the tested varieties were recorded in 2017 (Table 1). Susceptibility to eyespot was observed for the majority of the evaluated varieties. A lower severity of eyespot (and/or stem-base diseases) was observed for varieties 'Annie' and 'Rebell', both possessing the resistance gene *Pch1*.

'Annie' has a lower yield performance, however its bread-making quality is excellent, i.e. class E, and its multiplication area in the Czech Republic was 1.88% in 2018. 'Rebell' occupied a multiplication area of 1.94% in 2018, has a good bread-making quality (class A) and shows also a lower infection by dwarf bunt (*Tilletia controversa*).

Currently, several varieties carrying the *Pch1* resistance gene according to analyses with the molecular marker *Xorw1* are registered in the Czech Republic, *e.g.* 'Beduin', 'Bonanza', 'Hermann', 'Pankratz', 'Partner', 'Princeps'. Although, we didn't test their reaction to eyespot in the small plot field trials, they may also present a promising level of eyespot control. 'Bonanza' has a high yield, its multiplication area was 1.26% in 2018, however, its baking quality is inferior (*i.e.* class C). 'Pankratz' has a high yield and good baking quality (*i.e.* class A). Its multiplication area in 2018, however, was only 0.27%. For 'Partner', a class B wheat, the multiplication area in 2018 was only 0.11%, although it has also high yields.

Evidently, the presence of the *Pch1* gene doesn't necessarily mean a penalty for grain yield and bread-making quality. Also the multiplication areas of some varieties with lower levels of eyespot infection in the Czech Republic in 2018 were not inconsiderable.

Acknowledgements

The research leading to these results has received funding from the Ministry of Agriculture of the Czech Republic, projects No. MZe-RO0419, MZe -RO1119 and No. QJ1530373.

References

Dumalasová V, Palicová J, Hanzalová A, Bížová I, Leišová-Svobodová L (2015) Eyespot resistance gene *Pch1* and methods of study of its effectiveness in wheat cultivars. Czech J Genet Plant Breed 51:166-173. DOI: 10.17221/157/2015-CJGPB

Dyer PW, Hansen J, Delaney A, Lucas, JA (2000) Genetic control of resistance to the sterol 14α -demethylase inhibitor fungicide prochloraz in the cereal eyespot pathogen *Tapesia yallundae*. Appl Environ Microbiol 66: 4599-4604.

Leonard JM, Watson CHJW, Carter AH, Hansen JL, Zemetra RS, Santra DK, Cambbell KG, Riera-Lizarazu O (2008) Identification of a candidate gene for the wheat endopeptidase *Ep-D1* locus and two other STS markers linked to the eyespot resistance gene *Pch1*. Theor Appl Genet 116: 261–270. DOI: 10.1007/s00122-007-0664-4

Palicová J, Matušinsky P (2019) Reaction of eyespot causal agents to some active ingredients of fungicides *in vitro*. Cereal Res Commun, in press. DOI: 10.1556/0806.46.2018.059

Walsh K, Korimbocus J, Boonham N, Jennings P, Hims M (2005) Using realtime PCR to discriminate and quantify the closely related wheat pathogens *Oculimacula yallundae* and *Oculimacula acuformis*. J Phytopathol, 153: 715 -721. DOI: 10.1111/j.1439-0434.2005.01045.x

QTL analysis of resitance to the fungal pathogens *Blumeria graminis, Zymoseptoria tritici,* and *Pyrenophora tritici-repentis* using a winter wheat multiparent advanced generation intercross population

Melanie STADLMEIER¹, Lise Nistrup JØRGENSEN², Anemarie Fejer JUSTESEN², Beatrice CORSI³, James COCKRAM³, Lorenz HARTL¹, Volker MOHLER¹

¹ Bavarian State Research Center for Agriculture, Institute for Crop Science and Plant Breeding, 85354 Freising, Germany

² Aarhus University, Department of Agroecology, Forsøgsvej 1, 4200 Slagelse, Denmark

³ John Bingham Laboratory, National Institute of Agricultural Botany (NIAB), Huntingdon Road, Cambridge CB3 0LE, United Kingdom

(⊠) melanie.stadlmeier@lfl.bayern.de

Bread wheat (Triticum aestivum L.) is one of the most important food crop species in the European Union. Breeding of new varieties resistant to fungal pathogens is an ongoing task, especially in today's era of sustainable agriculture. Simultaneous genetic analysis of resistance to multiple diseases with high accuracy can be achieved using multiparent advanced generation intercross (MAGIC) populations. Such populations provide improved accuracy of quantitative trait loci (QTL) mapping via the genetic recombination captured over several rounds of intercrossing. Furthermore, a MAGIC design facilitates analysis of numerous disease traits within a single population due to the potentially high numbers of alleles contributed by multiple founders. In the present study, we report the construction of a genetic linkage map for our eight-founder Bavarian MAGIC winter wheat population (BMWpop) and the genetic mapping of resistance loci for the three fungal diseases powdery mildew (PM), Septoria tritici-blotch (STB), and tan spot (TS).

The BMWpop comprising 394 F_{6:8} recombinant inbred lines (RILs) was developed using the eight founders 'Event', 'BAYP4535', 'Ambition', 'Firl3565', 'Format', 'Potenzial', 'Bussard', and 'Julius'. The lines were intercrossed over several rounds of crossing using a greatly reduced MAGIC mating design with an additional eightway intercross step. The BMWpop was genotyped with a 15K + 5K Infinium® iSelect® single nucleotide polymorphism array and a functional marker for the powdery mildew resistance gene Pm3a. Population structure was investigated using principle coordinates based on Roger's distance matrix in R/ape V5.0. The genetic linkage map was constructed using the R packages 'mpMap' V2.0.2 and 'mpMap2'. The genetic distances were calculated according to Haldane. The founder contribution was determined using a threshold of 0.7. Resistance to PM and STB was assessed in field trials located in Germany over two years. TS disease severity was scored in Germany in two years and in Denmark in 2017. PM infection took place naturally, whereas STB and TS trials were inoculated. Adjusted means fitting the genotype as fixed effect were used as phenotypic input data for QTL detection. QTL analysis was carried out using R/mpMap without the consideration of cofactors. A

genome-wide QTL significance threshold of α < 0.001 was derived from an empirically null distribution over 1000 simulation runs.

The first two principle coordinates explained a low proportion of the molecular variation (2.7% and 2.3%, respectively), indicating mild population structure in the BMWpop. All eight founders contributed genetic material to each chromosome, except for chromosome 4D. The founder probabilities were equally distributed for almost all chromosomes. In total, 5436 markers were mapped to all 21 wheat chromosomes representing 2804 unique sites across the genome. The total chromosome length spanned a distance of 5230 cM with individual chromosome length ranging from 87.0 cM (4D) to 389.6 cM (7D). Based on the above mentioned threshold, a mean recombination event per RIL of 73 was determined. The population parameters analyzed indicated that the BMWpop and the associated genetic linkage map represents a valuable genetic resource for wheat genetic analysis. The residuals of the adjusted means of all three disease traits followed a normal distribution. The heritability estimate for PM, STB, and TS was 0.6, 0.8, and 0.7, respectively. STB was phenotypically positively correlated with PM and TS, however, the latter two did not correlate. QTL analysis of all disease traits identified 22 genetic loci. For PM, six QTL were mapped to chromosomes 1A, 3D, 5A, 6B, 7A, and 7D with a total explained phenotypic variance (R^2) of 0.3. The QTL on chromosome 1A coincided with a functional marker for the Pm3a gene. Genetic analysis of STB identified seven QTL on chromosomes 1A, 1B, 2B, 2D, and 4B, with a total R^2 value of 0.3. Nine QTL controlling resistance to TS were detected on chromosomes 1A, 2A, 2B, 2D, 3D, 4B, 5B, and 7A explaining 0.4 of the total phenotypic variation. On chromosomes 1A and 2B, the support interval of QTL for STB and TS overlapped (Figure 1), suggesting that the same genetic locus may be associated with reaction to both necrotrophic pathogens. On the short arm of chromosome 1A, the PM QTL was located 20 cM distally to the STB and TS QTL (Figure 1), however, the additive effects of the founders indicated that breeding for simultaneous resistance to all three diseases appears probable when considering this genetic region.

Stadlmeier M, Jørgensen LN, Justesen AF, Corsi B, Cockram J, Hartl L, Mohler V (2019) QTL analysis of resistance to the fungal pathogens *Blumeria graminis, Zymoseptoria tritici*, and *Pyrenophora tritici-repentis* using a winter wheat multiparent advanced generation intercross population. In: Vereinigung der Pflanzenzüchter und Saatgutkaufleute Österreichs (Ed), 69. Jahrestagung 2018, 19-21 November, Raumberg-Gumpenstein, pp 19-20. BOKU-University of Natural Resources and Life Sciences, Vienna, Austria. ISBN-13: 978-3-900932-63-3



Figure 1: QTL on chromsomes 1A and 2B for disease resistance to powdery mildew (black, solid line), Septoria tritici blotch (grey, solid line) and tan spot (black, dotted line).

Keywords

 $\label{eq:BMWpop} MAGIC \ population \ \cdot \ powdery \ mildew \ \cdot \ QTL \ \cdot \ Septoria \\ tritici \ blotch \ \cdot \ tan \ spot \ \cdot \ Triticum \ aestivum$

Acknowledgements

We thank Sabine Schmidt, Josef Erl, Andreas Graßl, Mahira Duran, Adalbert Bund, Petra Greim and the working group Wheat and Oat Breeding of the Bavarian State Research Center for Agriculture. We thank Michael Hess, Phytopathology, Technical University of Munich (TUM), for support with the TS trials. The authors thank Bernhard Jaser and Friedrich Felsenstein for providing single-spore isolates of *Z. tritici* and *P. tritici-repentis*. We gratefully thank Chris-Carolin Schön and the staff of Plant Breeding Chair, Technical University of Munich (TUM) for use of computer capacity. We acknowledge Rohan Shah for his support using 'mpMap2' package, and Keith Gardner for sharing the QTL mapping pipeline. This work was funded via the 2nd ERA-NET call for Coordinating Plant Sciences, with funding from the Deutsche Forschungsgemeinschaft (DFG, GZ: HA 5798/2-1, AOBJ: 619206, DFG project number: 263641700), the Danish Council of Strategic Research (case number 5147-00002B) and the Biotechnology and Biological Sciences Research Council (BBSRC, grant BB/N00518X/1). We thank all members of the EfectaWheat Consortium for their support.

References

Stadlmeier M, Hartl L, Mohler V (2018) Usefulness of a multiparent advanced generation intercross population with a greatly reduced mating design for genetic studies in winter wheat. Front Plant Sci 9:1825. DOI: 10.3389/FPLS.2018.01825.

Huang BE, George AW (2011) R/mpMap: a computational platform for the genetic analysis of multiparent recombinant inbred lines. Bioinformatics 27:727-729. DOI: 10.1093/bioinformatics/btq719

Association analysis for identifying relationships between molecular markers and severity of diseases

Hossein SABOURI¹, Hossein Ali FALLAHI², Mahnaz KATOUZI², Shahpour Ebrahim NEZHAD³, Mohammad Ali DEHGHAN³, Ebrahim Gholam Alipour ALAMDARI¹, Masoud ESFAHANI⁴, Galdi Mohammad BAHLAKEH², Sharifeh Mohammad ALEGH¹, Ahmad Reza DADRAS⁵

¹ Gonbad Kavous University, Faculty of Agriculture and Natural Resources, Basirat Blvd., Shahid Fallshi Str., Bonbad Kavous, Iran

- ² Gorgan University of Agricultural Sciences and Natural Resources, Faculty of Plant Production, Gorgan, Iran
- ³ Mazandaran Agricultural and Natural Resources Resarch and Education Center (AREEO), Behdad Salimi Hwy., Sari, Iran
- ⁴ University of Guilan, Department of Agronomy and Plant Breeding, Khalij Fars Hwy., Rasht, Iran
- ⁵ Zanjan Agriculture and Natural Resources and Education Center (AREEO), Zanjan, Iran

(⊠) hossein.sabouri@gonbad.ac.ir

Abstract

Association analysis can be used to identify relations between traits of interest and genetic markers. In this study, 276 wheat (*Triticum aestivum* L.) genotypes were screened for diseases such as leaf rust, yellow rust, Fusarium head blight and powdery mildew in the field and were genotyped with 71 iPBS markers. Analysis of genetic variation revealed 194 polymorphic locations. Wheat genotypes were assigned to five groups based on population genetic structure. Association analysis with MLM and GLM methods identified that six, five, five and five markers were associated with QTL for leaf rust, yellow rust, Fusarium head blight and powdery mildew, respectively.

Introduction

Wheat, a cereal of the Gramineae (Poaceae) family and of the genus Triticum, is the world's largest cereal crop. It is an important staple food of many countries and occupies a unique position used for the preparation of a wide range of food products. Identification of genotypes with desirable traits and their subsequent use in breeding programs and the establishment of suitable selection criteria are necessary for the improvement of varieties. Association analyses are based on the linkage disequilibrium (LD) between loci (Pritchard *et al.* 2000). In case of a tight linkage between the marker and the resistance locus, it is possible to localize the resistance gene by genotyping neighboring markers. The difference in allele or genotype frequencies of a marker can be observed between the case and control samples if the marker locus itself is causing the disease or is in linkage with the susceptibility/ resistance locus (Risch & Merikangas 1996).

The present study was undertaken to identify the genomic region associated with four diseases, *i.e.* leaf rust, yellow rust, Fusarium head blight and powdery mildew in wheat with the following specific objectives: (i) phenotyping the variability of leaf rust, yellow rust, Fusarium head blight and powdery mildew resistance/ susceptibility in diverse wheat germplasm; (ii) genotyping the wheat germplasm with iPBS markers (Kalendar *et al.* 2010) to determine the population structure; and (iii) th identification of marker-trait association through LD based association mapping.

Material and methods

A total of 276 genotypes were used for the investigation of genetic diversity. Approximately 5 g of fresh leaf material was pooled from seedlings of each genotype for DNA extraction.

iPBS bands were scored for presence (1) or absence (0) of polymorphic bands. Only clearly distinguishable bands were checked and transformed into 0/1 binary character matrix. The dendrogram was constructed using simple matching (SM) coefficient. Complete linkage clustering was chosen because it maintained a fairly consistent topology over the various distance matrices that were examined. In addition, a cophenetic value matrix was calculated and compared with the original similarity matrix to test the goodness of fit of the cluster analysis and compare the clustering method. The polymorphic information content (PIC) value for each primer combination was calculated. Analysis of population structure among the 276 genotypes was performed using software package STRUCTURE vers. 2.2 (Evanno et al. 2005). The optimum number of clusters (populations) or K number was selected after eight independent runs of a burn-in of 100 000 iterations and 100 000 MCMC repetitions for each value of K (testing from K=2 to K=10), using no prior information and assuming correlated allele frequencies and admixture. The optimum number of clusters (K) was estimated by computing the ad hoc statistic DK based on the rate of change in the log probability of data between successive K values.

The mean phenotypic values were used for association analysis. Four diseases, *i.e.* leaf rust, yellow rust, Fusarium head blight and

Sabouri H, Fallahi HA, Katouzi M, Nezhad SE, Dehghan MA, Alamdari EGA, Esfahani M, Bahlakeh GM, Alegh SM, Dadras AR (2019) Association analysis for identifying relationships between molecular markers and severity of diseases. In: Vereinigung der Pflanzenzüchter und Saatgutkaufleute Österreichs (Ed), 69. Jahrestagung 2018, 19-21 November, Raumberg-Gumpenstein, pp 21-22. BOKU-University of Natural Resources and Life Sciences, Vienna, Austria. ISBN-13: 978-3 -900932-63-3 powdery mildew were analyzed. Four methods were used to test the associations between iPBS markers and evaluated traits using the TASSEL software vers. 4.1.20 (Bradbury *et al.* 2007).

Results and discussion

Within the investigated population of 276 wheat genotypes, a total of 446 bands were produced and 194 bands were shown to be polymorphic in the range of 120 to 630 bp. The number of polymorphic fragments per primer ranged from 3 (iPBS2278) to 10 (iPBS2393, iPBS2226, iPBS2246 and iPBS2255), with an average of 2.73. The highest PIC was observed in iPBS2374. The average value for PIC was 48. STRUCTURE analysis revealed five clusters (K) that maximized the DK parameter. The 53, 50, 53, 52 and 16 genotypes were assigned to group I, II, III, IV and V. Also, 52 admixed genotypes were made up.

Based on results of the forth model that used both factors of Q and K, there are eight markers that can be considered to be the most interesting candidates for further study. These are iPBS2217 C and iPBS2225 A for yellow rust, iPBS2074 B for Fusarium head blight, iPBS2383 D, iPBS2276 B and iPBS2218 B for leaf rust, and iPBS2255 A and iPBS2271 A for powdery mildew. These markers would provide a useful target for future breeding programs such as MAS.

Although marker validation by testing for the presence of the marker on a range of cultivars and other important genotypes is a necessary requirement, the identified markers that showed strongest effects on the traits provide ideal candidates for further study or future inclusion in marker assisted selection (MAS). Based on results of the forth model that used both factors of Q and K, there are nine markers that can be considered to be the most interesting candidates.

In this study, iPBS marker were used for evaluation of genetic variation and association analysis and it is worth mentioning that although iPBS markers are very useful for linkage mapping, these markers need to be converted to sequence characterized amplifi-

ed region (SCAR) markers. Those are an ideal choice for MAS, because they are detected by single genetically defined loci, are identified as distinct bands in agarose gels, are easier to score, are less sensitive to reaction conditions, and are more reproducible. After the identification of linked markers and marker validation, it is to be determined whether linkage mapping has a resolution high enough. Then, markers can be reliably used for MAS. Obviously depending on the environment, QTL must be tested for identification of the most stable QTL (Bernier *et al.* 2007) that is needed to study more experiments across multi environments.

Keywords

iPBS marker · QTL · Triticum aestivum · wheat

References

Bernier J, Kumar A, Ramaiah V, Spaner D, Atlin G (2007) A large-effect QTL for grain yield under reproductive-stage drought stress in upland rice. Crop Sci 47:507-518. DOI: 10.2135/cropsci2006.07.0495

Bradbury PJ, Zhang Z, Kroon DE, Casstevens TM, Ramdess Y, Buckler ES (2007) TASSEL: Software for association mapping of complex traits in divers samples. Bioinformatics Appl Note 2633-2635. DOI: 10.1093/ bioinformatics/btm308

Evanno G, Reganut E, Goudet J (2005) Detecting the number of clusters of individuals using the software STRUCTURE: a simulation study. Mol Ecol 14:2611-2620. DOI: 10.1111/j.1365-294X.2005.02553.x

Kalendar R, Antonius K, Smýkal P, Schulman AH (2010) iPBS: a universal method for DNA fingerprinting and retrotransposon isolation. Theor Appl Genet 121:1419-1430. DOI: 10.1007/s00122-010-1398-2

Pritchard JK, Stephens M, Rosenberg NA, Donnelly P (2000) Association mapping in structured populations. Am Soc Hum Genet 67:170-181. DOI: 10.1086/302959

Risch N, Merikangas K (1996) The future of genetic studies of complex human diseases. Science 273:1516-1517. DOI: 10.1126/science.273.5281. 1516

Molecular breeding for stem rust resistance in winter rye

Paul GRUNER¹, Anne-Kristin SCHMITT², Kerstin FLATH², Thomas MIEDANER¹

¹ University of Hohenheim, State Plant Breeding Institute, Fruwirthstr. 21, 70599 Stuttgart, Germany

² Julius-Kuehn Institute, Institute for Plant Protection in Field Crops and Grassland, Stahnsdorfer Damm 81, 14532 Kleinmachnow, Germany

(⊠) paul.gruner@uni-hohenheim.de

Resistance to stem rust in rye (*Puccinia graminis* f. sp. *secalis*) is a largely unstudied topic compared to its close relative stem rust in wheat (*P. graminis* f. sp. *tritici*), even though it can cause grain yield losses of up to 60% in epidemic years. In a two-year CORNET project we studied the genetics of the resistance by classical QTL mapping, phenotypic selection and a case-control approach.

For QTL mapping, four biparental populations composed of inbred lines (F_{2:3}, F_{2:4}, F_{2:5}, BC₁S₂) were phenotyped with 68-70 progenies per population in artificially inoculated field trials in single rows in three locations and two years. They were genotyped with a 10k SNP array. We could identify both quantitative and qualitative inheritance (Fig. 1). For the latter, a locus at the distal end of chromosome 7R was found in two independently developed populations and explained 73 and 91 percent of the phenotypic variation (adj. R^2), respectively. From the 3:1 (resistant:susceptible) segregation ratio of the heterozygous genotypes within the single rows we concluded a dominant gene action. The explained variance of the quantitative inheritance was much smaller resulting in an adjusted R^2 of 0.47 in a linear model with 2 QTL. In an additional test in the seedling stage (leaf-segment test) we could show that the quantitative resistance is active in the adult plant stage only, compared to the single resistance gene on chromosome 7R that is effective in all plant stages.

In previous experiments, full-sib families (FSF) were developed by intercrossing two individual resistant plants from different genetic resources (self-incompatible genotypes) in a pairwise pattern. The "improved" FSF were tested in the recent project. Per plot, 15 single plants of each FSF were scored individually (in all locations). We observed that the FSF performed better than two adapted German population varieties consisting almost entirely of susceptible plants. No FSF, however, had fully resistant material only.

Making use of this segregation in the genetic resources, we tried to directly map genes/QTL in five self-incompatible populations. Genotypes were clustered into resistant and susceptible by a leafsegment test and a 10k SNP array was used for genotyping. In a so -called case-control study (contingency-table-based test statistics), significant markers could be identified in some populations. Marker based population structure made population-wise analysis necessary. This was a drawback, because individual populations were rather small (73 genotypes per population) and unequal ratios of resistant and susceptible plants showed spurious significance of markers. Nevertheless, some markers of all tested populations will be validated in field test.

This project resulted in new resistant material, gene-linked markers and new methods to find genes in genetic resources directly.



Figure 1: Phenotypic distributions of two biparental populations with quantitative (Pop1) and qualitative (Pop4) inheritance. Stem rust infection level of the susceptible parent is indicated by an arrow.

Gruner P, Schmitt A-K, Flath K, Miedaner T (2019) Molecular breeding for stem rust resistance in winter rye. In: Vereinigung der Pflanzenzüchter und Saatgutkaufleute Österreichs (Ed), 69. Jahrestagung 2018, 19-21 November, Raumberg-Gumpenstein, pp 23-24. BOKU-University of Natural Resources and Life Sciences, Vienna, Austria. ISBN-13: 978-3-900932-63-3

Keywords

Case control \cdot genetic resources \cdot leaf segment test \cdot *Puccinia graminis* \cdot QTL mapping \cdot *Secale cereale*

Acknowledgements

We thank our coordinator (J. Jacobi, GFPi, Bonn) and all participants of the RustControl project for their highly valuable help with data collection, and the breeding companies for sharing their rye materials: J. Eifler, B. Schmiedchen, V. Korzun, M. Schmidt (KWS LOCHOW, Bergen), F.-J. Fromme, D. Siekmann (HYBRO Saatzucht, Schenkenberg), R. Krystofik, K. Marciniak (DANKO Plant Breeding, Choryń), A. Tratwal, J. Danielewicz (Institute of Plant Protection, Poznań). We thank the technical staff for the excellent performance of the field experiments at all locations.

This research was funded by the German Federal Ministry for Economic Affairs and Energy (BMWi, grant # IGF-Nr.156 EN) via AiF e.V., Cologne, and GFPi, Bonn, in the framework of the CORNET program RustControl. The responsibility of the content of this publication rests with the authors.

References

Flath K, Schmitt A-K, Klocke B, Wilde P, Schmiedchen B, Miedaner T, Koch S, Spieß H, Szabo L (2014) Kontrolle des Roggenschwarzrostes, *Puccinia graminis* f. sp. *secalis*, im Ökologischen Landbau durch Züchtung resistenten Roggens. Schlussbericht, Bundesprogramm Ökologischer Landbau und andere Formen nachhaltiger Landwirtschaft (BÖLN). http://orgprints.org/29300

Klocke B, Flath K, Schmitt A-K, Miedaner T, Schmiedchen B, Spieß H, Szabo L, Wilde P (2013) Analyse der Virulenzsituation des Roggenschwarzrostes (*Puccinia graminis* f. sp. *secalis*) im ökologischen Landbau zur Züchtung resistenten Roggens. In: Neuhoff D, Stumm C, Ziegler S, Rahmann G, Hamm U, Köpke U (Hrsg.), Beiträge zur 12. Wissenschaftstagung Ökologischer Landbau, 5.-8. März, Bonn, pp 252-255. Verlag Dr. Köster, Berlin.

Roelfs AP (1985) Wheat and rye stem rust. In: Roelfs AP, Bushnell WR (eds), The cereal rusts, Vol. 2: Diseases, distribution, epidemiology, and control, pp 3-37. Academic Press, Orlando. DOI: 10.1016/B978-0-12-148402-6.50009-2

Influence of isolate, host genotype, and environment on the ergot reaction of winter rye

Anna KODISCH¹, Thomas MIEDANER¹

¹ University of Hohenheim, State Plant Breeding Institute, Fruwirthstr. 21, 70599 Stuttgart, Germany

(⊠) kodisch.a@uni-hohenheim.de

Ergot, a fungal disease of cereals, is caused by Claviceps purpurea and can infect more than 400 grass species with a preference of outcrossing grasses such as rye (Secale cereale L.). After an infection, alkaloid containing and poisonous black-purpled sclerotia are formed on the ear of the host plant. Ergotism, initiated by ergot alkaloids and resulting in gangrene, neurological diseases and finally death, occurred frequently in the early Middle Ages as an epidemic disease. Nowadays, contamination with ergot is reduced drastically due to cleaning procedures and implementation of regulation measures. The limits are set to 0.05 wt% for human consumption and 0.1 wt% for animal feeding. However, in years with unfavorable weather conditions, such as cold and rainy weather during the infection process, the contamination with ergot can be higher. Therefore, ergot is still a problem these days, especially in open pollinating hybrid cereals such as winter rye. For that reason, we analyzed within the scope the CORNET project 'NoErgot' the influence of isolate, cultivar and environment on the ergot reaction of winter rye.

The study consists of two experimental set-ups. In experiment 1, ergot severity (%) and anther rating (1-9) was recorded from 16 winter rye cultivars at 10 locations in three countries, i.e. Braunschweig, Oberer Lindenhof, Wohlde, Petkus, Wulfsode, Kleptow (Germany), Hagenberg, Zwettl (Austria), Koscielna Wies and Zybiszow (Poland), after artificial inoculation by C. purpurea with three isolates of different origin (AT, DE, PL). For experiment 2, ergot severity (%) and anther rating (1-9) of 25 factorial crosses of 5 seed parents and 5 pollen parents were gathered after artificial inoculation by C. purpurea at 5 locations, i.e. Oberer Lindenhof, Wohlde, Petkus (Germany), Koscielna Wies and Zybiszow (Poland).

The first experiment evaluated the diversity due to genotype, isolate and environment (Fig. 1). The percentage of ergot in grain ranged on average from 0.07% to 9.69% across locations, indicating a high variation in disease severity. Heritabilities of all experiments was moderate (0.62) to high (0.93-0.97), indicating a well suited experimental set up. Two locations, i.e. Hagenberg and Oberer Lindenhof, showed a very high infection level compared to



Figure 1: Mean of ergot severity (%) of 16 winter rye cultivars after artificial inoculation by Claviceps purpurea for three isolates of different origin and in three different countries (AT, Austria; DE, Germany; PL, Poland)

Kodisch A, Miedaner T (2019) Influence of isolate, host genotype, and environment on the ergot reaction of winter rye. In: Vereinigung der Pflanzenzüchter und Saatgutkaufleute Österreichs (Ed), 69. Jahrestagung 2018, 19-21 November, Raumberg-Gumpenstein, pp 25-26. BOKU-University of Natural Resources and Life Sciences, Vienna, Austria. ISBN-13: 978-3-900932-63-3

the remaining eight locations. The high variation between genotypes and environments revealed the importance of testing genotypes across environments. No interaction occurred between genotypes and isolates as it is typical for quantitative pathosystems. Obviously, the aggressiveness of the isolate must not be considered with a high effort in future testing systems.

The second experiment evaluated the relative importance of ergot susceptibility of female parents and pollen-fertility restoration ability of male parents and their interaction on the ergot reaction of rye hybrids. The male component, interaction of male with environment and male×female interaction, *i.e.* specific combining ability were significant (P>0.01). Interaction of female with environment was of lower importance (P>0.05). Significant (P>0.01) differences among the pollen-fertility of individual pollinators occurred. A significant negative correlation of $r \ge -0.63$ between ergot severity and anther rating was observed in all experiments. Further improvements of ergot resistance by selecting restoration ability is still possible.

Keywords

Alkaloids · Claviceps purpurea · Secale cereale

Acknowledgements

We thank our coordinator (J. Jacobi, GFPi, Bonn) and all participants of the NoErgot project for their highly valuable help with data collection and the breeding companies for sharing their rye materials: M. Oberforster (Austrian Agency for Health and Food Safety (AGES), Vienna), A. Raditschnig (AGES, Linz), B. Rodemann (Julius Kühn Institute (JKI), Braunschweig), J.

Eifler, B. Schmiedchen (KWS LOCHOW, Bergen), F.-J. Fromme, D. Siekmann (HYBRO Saatzucht, Schenkenberg), R. Krystofik, K. Marciniak (DANKO Plant Breeding, Choryń), F. Wieser, E. Zechner (Saatzucht LFS Edelhof, Zwettl), A. Tratwal, J. Danielewicz (Institute of Plant Protection, Poznań). We further thank the technical staff for the excellent performance of the field experiments on all locations.

The research project IGF -Nr. Nr. 188 EN/1 of Gemeinschaft zur Förderung von Pflanzeninnovation e.V. (GFPi), Bonn, was funded by the Ministry of Economic Affairs and Energy through the German Federation of Industrial Research Associations (AiF) as part of the program for promoting industrial cooperative research (IGF) on the basis of a decision by German Bundestag. The responsibility of the content of this publication rests with the authors.

References

Belser-Ehrlich S, Harper A, Hussey J, Hallock R (2012) Human and cattle ergotism since 1900: Symptoms, outbreaks, and regulations. Toxicol Ind Health 29:307-316 DOI: 10.1177/0748233711432570

European Union (2000) Commision Regulation (EC) No 824/2002 of 20 April 2000 establishing procedures for the taking-over of cereals by intervention agencies or paying agencies and laying down methods of analysis for determining the quality of cereals. Off J Eur Union 2000: L100/11.

Miedaner T, Daume C, Mirdita V, Schmiedchen B, Wilde P, Geiger HH (2007) Verminderung von Alkaloiden in der Nahrungskette durch die züchterische Verbesserung der Mutterkorn-Resistenz von Winterroggen. In: Zikeli S, Claupein W, Dabbert S, Kaufmann B, Müller T, Valle Zárate A (Hrsg.), Beiträge zur 9. Wissenschaftstagung Ökologischer Landbau, 20.-23. März, Hohenheim, pp 225-228. Verlag Dr. Köster, Berlin.

Miedaner T, Geiger HH (2015) Biology, genetics, and management of ergot (*Claviceps* spp.) in rye, sorghum, and pearl millet. Toxins 7:659-678. DOI: 10.3390/toxins7030659

Investigation of net blotch resistance of barley and preliminary data on Hungarian pathotypes of *Pyrenophora teres* f. *teres*

Klára MÉSZÁROS¹, Mónika CSÉPLŐ¹, Viola KUNOS¹, Zsófia BÚZA¹, Judit BÁNYAI¹, Diána SERES¹, Ildikó CSORBA¹, Magda PÁL¹, Gyula VIDA¹, József BAKONYI¹

¹ Centre for Agricultural Research, Hungarian Academy of Sciences, Brunszvik Str. 2, 2462 Martonvásár, Hungary

(⊠) meszaros.klara@agrar.mta.hu

In Hungary, barley is the third most important crop with a growing area of ca. 250 000 ha, and net blotch has become one of the major diseases of both spring and winter barleys. It was shown that Hungarian isolates of *Pyrenophora teres* f. *teres* (PTT), the causal agent of the net form of the net blotch disease, exhibited a high level of genotypic diversity, but there is no available information about the pathotypes present in the local populations of this fungus.

The efficiency of resistance genes depends on the developmental stage of barley and the fungal pathotypes present in the area. Few net blotch resistance sources have been known and the majority of the resistance sources were identified in spring genotypes, although winter cultivars also have a great economic impact.

Plant hormones and antioxidant enzymes have a key role in the activation of plant defence mechanisms. Ascorbate peroxidase (APX) is the key enzymes in the ascorbate-glutathione cycle. Guiacol peroxidase (GPX) has an outstanding role in the defence mechanisms against pathogens. The activation of the jasmonic acid (JA) signalling pathway is required for resistance against necrotrophic pathogens. The positive or negative interaction between salicylic acid (SA) and JA pathways are known. Little is known about the oxidative burst and hormonal control of defence reaction during infection by PTT. This research is to uncover (i) the net form of net blotch pathogen's local pathotypes and the effective resistance souces against them, (ii) the role of antioxidant enzymes and plant hormons in this pathosystem.

Pathotypes of thirteen monoconidial PTT isolates from symptomatic barley leaves collected at three locations in Hungary were tested using Afanasenko's differentials and five additional varieties. Seedlings were grown in pots and sprayed in two-leaf stage with conidium suspension. Infection response (IR) was scored on the 2nd leaf based on the scale of Tekauz (1985) (avirulent: IR < 5; virulent: IR \geq 5) on the 10th day after inoculation.

Net blotch resistance of 260 barley varieties (182 winter type, 78 spring) were tested. Field tests were carried out in 2017 and 2018 in Hungary. Plots were inoculated with naturally infected barley straw. The seedling test was carried out as described in the virulence test. Scoring was carried out four times based on the Tekauz scale. Data were used for calculating AUDPC curves.

Salicylic acid/ jasmonic acid was extracted and antioxidant enzyme assays were carried out. Seedlings were sampled on the 1^{st} , 2^{nd} and 3^{rd} day after inoculation.

In total, 99 (38%) of isolate × barley differential combinations were virulent. Each tested isolate was virulent on the two Hungarian commercial varieties 'Botond' and 'BC5', indicating that these cultivars could not be useful to differentiate local PTT pathotypes but might be suitable as susceptible controls. Foreign barley lines showed differential responses from 1 ('Sylphid') to 9 ('Harrington'), and in average four virulent isolates per differential. However, 'Sylphid', CI 5791, CI 4207, CI 9825, CI 11458 and 'Sebastian' showed little differential response. Individual isolates were virulent to 2 to 20 barley differentials (average of 8), the most virulent isolates were H-896 and H-922, accounting for 37% of the virulence found in this study, whereas isolates H-286 and H-779 were only virulent to the two Hungarian cultivars. Further investigations are going on to survey the virulence of Hungarian PTT populations and improve the barley differential set by testing additional cultivars.

The disease severity of adult plants was 3.5 times higher in 2018 than in 2017 in the field, with average AUDPC values of 394 and 82, and a range of 64-623 and 13.72-158, respectively. Although the majority of genotypes proved to be moderately sensitive in both years, the progression of disease was faster in 2018. Ten varieties were resistant (R) or moderatelyresistant (MR) in both years.

The seedling resistance of barley genotypes was tested against three isolates (H-502/1, H-618, H-774) in the greenhouse. Based on the average reaction scores isolate H-618 was the most virulent, followed by H-502/1 and H-774 with average AUDPC values of 88, 65 and 54, respectively. In case of H-502/1, the normal distribution could be observed while in case of H-618 and H-774 two peaks appeared, which refer to the presence of an effective resistance gene. Five winter barley lines were identified as MR both in the field and in the greenhouse experiments (Fig. 1).

Studying the role of phytohormons and antioxidant enzymes during pathogenesis, significant changes were detected in case of SA, JA, APX and GPX (p=0.01), although their tendencies were not clear. Some effect could be observed between the hormons or

Mészáros K, Cséplő, Kunos V, Búza Z, Bányai J, Seres D, Csorba I, Pál M, Vida G, Bakonyi J (2019) Investigation of net blotch resistance of barley and preliminary data on Hungarian pathotypes of *Pyrenophora teres* f. *teres*. In: Vereinigung der Pflanzenzüchter und Saatgutkaufleute Österreichs (Ed), 69. Jahrestagung 2018, 19-21 November, Raumberg-Gumpenstein, pp 27-28. BOKU-University of Natural Resources and Life Sciences, Vienna, Austria. ISBN-13: 978-3-900932-63-3



Figure 1: Adult plant and seedling resistance against *Pyrenophora teres* f. *teres* based on AUDPC score of barley genotypes. Five winter barley lines (BC6, BC69, BC116, BC165, BC211) were identified as MR both in the field and greenhouse experiments. GGE biplot analyses revealed significant genotype by year (a) and genotype by isolate (b) interactions and allowed to identify genotypes with stable and/or specific resistance performance.

antioxidant enzymes and the disease severity of genotypes, but there were not significant correlations or clear tendencies among them. Therefore, further examinations of SA/JA and antioxidant enzymes are necessary.

Keywords

Adult plant resistance \cdot antioxidant enzymes \cdot *Hordeum vulgare* \cdot plant hormones \cdot seedling resistance \cdot virulence test

Acknowledgements

This work was supported by the NRDI Fund, project numbers 119276 GI-NOP-2.3.3-15-2016-00029 and TÉT_15-1-2016-0113.

References

Ádám AL, Bestwick CS, Barna B, Mansfield JW (1995) Enzymes regulating the accumulation of active oxygen species during the hypersensitive reaction of bean to *Pseudomonas syringae* pv. *phaseolicola*. Planta 197: 240-249. DOI: 10.1007/BF00202643

Afanasenko OS, Jalli M, Pinnschmidt HO, Filatova O, Platz GJ (2009) Development of an international standard set of barley differential genotypes for *Pyrenophora teres* f. *teres*. Plant Pathol 58: 665-676. DOI: 10.1111/ j.1365-3059.2009.02062.x

Ficsor A, Tóth B, Varga J, Csősz M, Tomcsányi A, Mészáros K, Kótai É, Bakonyi J (2014) Variability of *Pyrenophora teres* f. *teres* in Hungary as revealed by mating type and RAPD analyses. J Plant Pathol 96: 515-523. DOI: 10.4454/JPP.V96I3.020

Pál M, Kovács V, Vida G, Szalai G, Janda T (2013) Changes induced by powdery mildew in the salicylic acid and polyamine contents and the antioxidant enzyme activities of wheat lines. Eur J Plant Pathol 135: 35-47. DOI: 10.1007/s10658-012-0063-9

Steffenson BJ, Hayes PM, Kleinhofs A (1996) Genetics of seedling and adult plant resistance to net blotch (*Pyrenophora teres* f. *teres*) and spot blotch (*Cochliobolus sativus*) in barley. Theor Appl Genet 92. 552-558. DOI: 10.1007/BF00224557

Tekauz A (1985) A numerical scale to classify reactions of barley to *Pyrenophora teres*. Can J Plant Pathol 7: 181-183. DOI: 10.1080/0706066850950 1499

Genetic analysis of new sources of seedling resistance to powdery mildew and crown rust in oat

Volker MOHLER¹, Melanie STADLMEIER¹, Arshita SOOD¹, Sabine SCHMIDT¹, Lorenz HARTL¹, Matthias HERRMANN²

¹ Bavarian State Research Center for Agriculture (LfL), Institute for Crop Science and Plant Breeding, Am Gereuth 6, 85354 Freising, Germany

² Julius Kuehn Institute, Federal Research Centre for Cultivated Plants, Institute for Breeding Research on Agricultural Crops, Rudolf-Schick-Platz 3a, OT Gross Luesewitz, 18190 Sanitz, Germany

(⊠) volker.mohler@lfl.bayern.de

Abstract

The exploitation of genetic resources for the enhancement of cultivated germplasm constitutes a supporting pillar of plant breeding. This is particularly true for resistance breeding due to coevolution of host and pathogen which lowers the diversity of resistance genes in cultivars. Two *Avena byzantina* accessions AVE2406 and AVE2925 were characterized for their resistance to powdery mildew and crown rust. Genetic analysis and quantitative trait locus (QTL) mapping showed that powdery mildew resistance was controlled by a single gene in each accession. A major crown rust QTL was identified in AVE2406. The three resistance loci were placed on the recently established oat consensus map by means of highly similar genotyping-by-sequencing (GBS) markers available among the genetic maps.

Keywords

Avena byzantina · Blumeria graminis · disease resistance gene · GBS · genetic mapping · oat consensus map · Puccinia coronata

Introduction

Cultivated oat (*Avena sativa* L.) is an important crop for human and animal nutrition. The allohexaploid oat genome (2n = 6x = 42, AACCDD) is large (12.5 Mbp; Yan *et al.* 2016) and highly rearranged: The A and D genomes mix up in the hexaploid condition because they are very similar and reciprocal chromosomal translocations are frequently observed. Significant genomic resources for oat were established only recently when GBS became available (Huang *et al.* 2014). GBS is an all-in-one approach combining SNP discovery and SNP scoring. This technology allowed establishing the first true road map of the oat genome (Chaffin *et al.* 2016). It is a consensus map developed from twelve biparental populations whose parents carry the most common chromosome configurations.

Powdery mildew and crown rust caused by *Blumeria graminis* f. sp. *avenae* and *Puccinia coronata* f. sp. *avenae*, respectively, are two major fungal diseases of oats. The former is relevant to Northwestern Europe, whereas the latter occurs in all oat-growing

regions. Ten major genes for resistance to powdery mildew have been catalogued (Hsam *et al.* 2014, Herrmann & Mohler 2018), whereas more than 100 resistance genes have been described for crown rust (Nazareno *et al.* 2018). However, many uncharacterized sources for resistance to powdery mildew and crown rust do exist (Herrmann & Roderick 1996, Okoń *et al.* 2014, 2016, 2018, Sowa *et al.* 2016).

Wild oats are useful genetic resources for the enhancement of cultivated oat germplasm. The report reviews recent work on the characterization of two powdery mildew resistance genes derived from *A. byzantina* accessions AVE2406 and AVE2925 (Herrmann & Mohler 2018). In addition, the location on the oat consensus map of a crown rust resistance gene available in AVE2406 is presented.

Material and methods

Plant material

Two A. byzantina accessions, AVE2406 from Libya and AVE2945 from Italy, were crossed with two susceptible oat cultivars each (Herrmann & Mohler 2018). $F_{2:3}$ lines of the crosses with 'Dominik' were used for segregation analysis of powdery mildew reaction using detached leaf tests in the lab, whereas $F_{4:7}$ and $F_{4:8}$ lines of the crosses with 'Leo' were used for scoring powdery mildew reaction in field trials. AVE 2406 also showed a resistance reaction to crown rust. For this, $F_{4:5}$ lines of the cross with 'Leo' were used for scoring seedling reactions. GBS was carried out for $F_{4:5}$ lines.

Phenotyping

Powdery mildew scoring was described in Herrmann & Mohler (2018). Crown rust seedling reaction tests were carried out in the glasshouse under controlled conditions with a mean relative humidity of 67%, a temperature of 18°C and 16 h of light per day. Inoculation was done on 10-day-old plants using a mixture of crown rust isolates collected in Germany. Disease assessments based on 10 plants per line were made 10 days after inoculation, and followed the 0–4 infection type (IT) scoring system, in which IT '0' indicated no visible symptoms, IT ' ; ' indicated hypersensitive spots, IT '1' indicated small uredinia with necrosis, IT '2' indicated small to medium sized uredinia with green islands and surrounded by ne-

Mohler V, Stadlmeier M, Sood A, Schmidt S, Hartl L, Herrmann M (2019) Genetic analysis of new sources of seedling resistance to powdery mildew and crown rust in oat. In: Vereinigung der Pflanzenzüchter und Saatgutkaufleute Österreichs (Ed), 69. Jahrestagung 2018, 19-21 November, Raumberg-Gumpenstein, pp 29-31. BOKU-University of Natural Resources and Life Sciences, Vienna, Austria. ISBN-13: 978-3-900932-63-3

Table 1: Segregation of $F_{2:3}$ lines for powdery mildew reaction (NSR, non-segregating resistant; Seg, segregating; NSS, non-segregating susceptible)

Cross	NSR	Seg	NSS	$\chi^{2}_{1:2:1}$	Р	
Dominik/AVE2406	44	112	42	3.45	0.18	
Dominik/AVE2925	36	91	44	1.46	0.48	

	DArTseq	BLASTn Hit	Position on the
сМ	Markers	Oat markers in T3	Consensus Map
58.4	- 100047537_9GT	avgbs_69875.1.10	Mrg21_187.6cM
59.0	- 100005155_37GA	avgbs_225914.1.38	Mrg21_187.6cM
61.0	/ 100038326_5AC	avgbs_cluster_1256.1.6	Mrg21_195.7cM
62.2	/ 100039333_63TC	avgbs_6K_86198.1.64	Mrg21_198.6cM
62.5	100011735	avgbs_588784	
63.2	100039034		
64.1	/ 100031578_67TG	avgbs2_194421.1.43	Mrg21_199.7cM
64.7	100044357	avgbs_55854	
65.4	100041644	avgbs_55854 avgbs_55854	
66.1	100003598	avgbs_312395	
66.8	100028959	avgbs_564815 avgbs_307275	
66.9 67.1 才	100021493		
67.4	100047211	avgbs_514089	
68.6	- 100048083_64CT	20	
69.5	- 100058536_34AG	avgbs_cluster_41176.1.35	Mrg21_204.4cM

Figure 1: *Pm9* in AVE2406 is located on Mrg 21. Framed markers delimit the QTL peak interval. Absolute map distances are in centimorgan (cM)

	DArTseq	BLASTn Hit	Position on the
cM	Markers	Oat markers in T3	Consensus Map
23.1 23.5 25.0 25.6 26.2 26.9 29.6	100006597 100012504 100018933 100005238 100003454 100024429 100023445_65AG	avgbs2_198280.1.31 avgbs_414467 avgbs_cluster_72754.1.7 avgbs_369723 avgbs_3340.1.17	Mrg03_27.1cM Mrg03_28.8cM Mrg03_25.4cM
32.9	100058225	avgbs_279469	
37.0	100027595	avgbs_cluster_65388.1.64	Mrg03_40.7cM
39.1	100028186	avgbs2_52680.1.45	Mrg03_47.7cM
41.3	100013353 100013353	avgbs2_175837.1.57 avgbs_86004	Mrg03_40.3cM
44.8 45.5 45.6	10003327 100036288 100038585	avgbs_343299 avgbs_565751	
46.2 46.7 47.6	100008287 100024273 100010585	avgbs_cluster_3466.1.63 avgbs_388530 avgbs_534668	Mrg03_44.3cM

Figure 2: *Pm10* in AVE2925 is located on Mrg 03. Framed markers delimit the QTL peak interval. Absolute map distances are in centimorgan (cM)

crosis or chlorosis, IT '3' indicated medium to large sized uredinia with chlorosis, IT '4' indicated large uredinia without chlorosis. The letter 'C' was used to indicate more than normal chlorosis. Infection types '3' or higher were regarded as compatible, whereas ITs of '2' or lower were regarded as incompatible. Infection types were converted into a numerical scale.

Genotyping and data analysis

We used DarTseq for genotyping, a GBS service provided by Diversity Arrays Technology P/L company (Bruce, Australia). This platform scores single nucleotide polymorphisms (SNPs) and presence/absence variants (PAVs). Marker pruning and genetic map construction were described in Herrmann & Mohler (2018). Linkage groups were allocated to the oat consensus map by using DarTseq marker sequences as queries against the database Oat markers in T3 (BLASTn; https://triticeaetoolbox.org/oat/viroblast/ viroblast.php). QTL analysis of resistance to crown rust was carried out as described in Mohler *et al.* (2016), whereas composite interval mapping and point analysis were used for QTL analysis of resistance to powdery mildew (Herrmann & Mohler 2018).

Results and discussion

The genetic map of Leo/AVE2406 comprised 2516 markers distributed over 30 linkage groups, while for Leo/AVE2925 921 markers were allocated to 30 linkage groups (Herrmann & Mohler 2018). Since both maps shared 318 markers, a total of 3119 markers were used as queries against the database Oat markers in T3. A number of 72% of the DarTseq markers showed high similarity (bit score >100) to the GBS markers of the consensus map and only 0.3% showed no hit at all. In relation to the absolute numbers of SNPs and PAVs mapped in Leo/AVE2406 and Leo/AVE2925, the proportion of the SNP-containing sequences that showed similarity to the GBS markers available in the database was greater (96% SNPs compared to 63% PAVs). All linkage groups but one that consisted of three marker loci could be assigned to the oat consensus map.

The powdery mildew reaction tests in the lab showed that the number of non-segregating resistant, segregating and nonsegregating susceptible F_{2:3} lines in both populations approximated a 1:2:1 ratio indicating single-gene segregation (Table 1). Powdery mildew reaction data from field trials did not show a bimodal distribution in advanced lines of both populations although a single gene each could be assumed. There was an excess of resistant plants - higher for Leo/AVE2925 - possibly because of low or uneven levels of natural inoculum source which caused errors in disease score classification. However, despite the challenges associated with the field trials, the QTL scan across the genome revealed in each population a single significant LOD peak confirming results of detached leaf test. The resistance gene in accession AVE2406, named Pm9, was mapped to a linkage group representing merged group (Mrg) 21 of the oat consensus map (Fig. 1). The QTL explained 41% of the phenotypic variance. The gene in accession AVE2925, designated Pm10, was located on Mrg 03 (Fig. 2). The phenotypic variance explained by the QTL (16%) was smaller than for Pm9 showing the impact of level of infection on the phenotypic variance that is attributed to a resistance QTL.

The infection types for crown rust observed in $F_{4:5}$ lines of Leo/ AVE2406 were ';C', '2', '3', and '4'. However, the distribution of infection types in the population showed that there were more susceptible than resistant lines (Fig. 3). Here, the small population size and/or sampling bias during population development might be causative for this deviation.



Figure 3: Distribution of crown rust infection types for Leo/ AVE2406 F_{4:5} lines

QTL analysis mapped the crown rust resistance gene to a linkage group corresponding to Mrg 01 of the oat consensus map. The QTL explained 22% of the phenotypic variance. Thus, it appears that there are other undetected QTL for crown rust resistance.

In the present study, we explored the *A. byzantina* accessions AVE2406 and AVE2925 for resistance to powdery mildew and crown rust and located underlying QTL on the oat consensus map by comparing DArTseq and consensus map GBS marker information using BLASTn. The information derived from different GBS platforms is interchangeable provided that DNA sequences along with their map location are lodged in a database such as T3/oat - The Triticeae Toolbox. This prerequisite will allow drawing a clear picture on the location of disease resistance genes in the oat genome. Efforts are underway to map further powdery mildew resistance genes on the oat consensus map which will support the identity of these genes.

References

Chaffin AS, Huang YF, Smith S, Bekele WA, Babiker E, Gnanesh BN, Foresman BJ, Blanchard SG, Jay JJ, Reid RW, Wight CP, Chao S, Oliver R, Islamovic E, Kolb FL, McCartney C, Mitchell Fetch JW, Beattie AD, Bjørnstad Å, Bonman JM, Langdon T, Howarth CJ, Brouwer CR, Jellen EN, Klos KE, Poland JA, Hseih TF, Brown R, Jackson E, Schlueter JA, Tinker NA (2016) A consensus map in cultivated hexaploid oat reveals conserved grass synteny with substantial subgenome rearrangement. Plant Genome 9: 2. DOI: 10.3835/plantgenome2015.10.0102

Herrmann MH, Mohler V (2018) Locating two novel genes for resistance to powdery mildew from *Avena byzantina* in the oat genome. Plant Breed 137: 832-838. DOI: 10.1111/pbr.12655

Herrmann M, Roderick HW (1996) Characterisation of new oat germplasm for resistance to powdery mildew. Euphytica 89:405-410. DOI: 10.1007/ BF00022300

сМ	DArTseq Markers	BLASTn Hit Oat markers in T3	Position on the Consensus Map
19.0 20.8 21.1 23.8 25.0 25.8 28.7	100030264 100029865_20CT 100013491_10TC 100060519 100005059 100013549 100050353_45GA	avgbs_22403.1.56 avgbs_38684.1.21 avgbs_cluster_8.1.11 avgbs_97842 avgbs_569616 avgbs_48304.1.46	Mrg01_85.7cM Mrg01_87.4cM Mrg01_85.7cM Mrg01_102.0cM
38.3 38.8 40.1 42.4 44.6	100025506 100039416 100042058 100022706_58CT 100022409_51CT	avgbs_583283 avgbs_584702 avgbs_223022.1.59 avgbs_223120.1.52	Mrg01_109.0cM Mrg01_109.0cM
50.2 51.1 51.9 53.8	100059352 100010635 100030018 100023266	avgbs_110699.1.38 avgbs_572377 avgbs_250729 avgbs_379518	
59.0 59.8 61.1 63.5	100022253 100061145 100024501 100031803	avgbs_373765 avgbs_385720 avgbs2_99703.1.51	

Figure 4: The crown rust resistance gene in AVE2406 maps to Mrg 01. Framed markers delimit the QTL peak interval. Absolute map distances are in centimorgan (cM)

Hsam SLK, Mohler V, Zeller FJ (2014) The genetics of resistance to powdery mildew in cultivated oats (*Avena sativa* L.): Current status of major genes. J Appl Genet 55: 155-162. DOI: 10.1007/s13353-014-0196-y

Huang YF, Poland JA, Wight CP, Jackson EW, Tinker NA (2014) Using genotyping-by-sequencing (GBS) for genomic discovery in cultivated oat. PLoS One 9:e102448. DOI: 10.1371/journal.pone.0102448

Mohler V, Albrecht T, Diethelm M, Castell A, Schweizer G, Hartl L (2016) Considering causal genes in the genetic dissection of thousand kernel weight in common wheat. J Appl Genet 57: 467-476. DOI: 10.1007/s13353-016-0349-2

Nazareno ES, Li F, Smith M, Park RF, Kianian SF, Figueroa M (2018) *Puccinia coronata* f. sp. *avenae*: a threat to global oat production. Mol Plant Pathol 19: 1047-1060. DOI: 10.1111/mpp.12608

Yan H, Martin SL, Bekele WA, Latta RG, Diederichsen A, Peng Y, Tinker NA (2016) Genome size variation in the genus *Avena*. Genome 59: 209-220. DOI: 10.1139/gen-2015-0132

Okoń S, Paczos-Gręda E, Ociepa T, Koroluk A, Sowa S, Kowalczyk K, Chrząstek M (2016) *Avena sterilis* L. genotypes as a potential source of resistance to oat powdery mildew. Plant Dis 100:2145-2151. DOI: 10.1094/ PDIS-11-15-1365-RE

Okoń SM, Chrząstek M, Kowalczyk K, Koroluk A (2014) Identification of new sources of resistance to powdery mildew in oat. Eur J Plant Pathol 139:9-12. DOI: 10.1007/s10658-013-0367-4

Okoń SM, Ociepa T, Paczos-Grzęda E, Ladizinsky G (2018) Evaluation of resistance to *Blumeria graminis* (DC.) f. sp. *avenae*, in *Avena murphyi* and *A. magna* genotypes. Crop Protect 106:177-181. DOI: 10.1016/j.cropro.2017. 12.025

Sowa S, Paczos-Grzęda E, Koroluk A, Okoń S, Ostrowska A, Ociepa T, Chrząstek M, Kowalczyk K (2016) Resistance to *Puccinia coronata* f. sp. *avenae* in *Avena magna, A. murphyi* and *A. insularis*. Plant Dis 100:1184-1191. DOI: 10.1094/PDIS-06-15-0671-RE
A transcriptome-based approach for developing breeding lines in *Lolium* sp. with multiple pathogen resistance

Florian HAASE¹, Milka MALENICA², Christof BÖHM², Peter WINTER³, Brigitte RUGE-WEHLING¹

¹ Julius Kuehn Institute, Federal Research Centre for Cultivated Plants, Institute for Breeding Research on Agricultural Crops, Rudolf-Schick-Platz 3a, OT Gross Luesewitz, 18190 Sanitz, Germany

² Saatzucht Steinach GmbH & Co KG, Wittelsbacherstrasse 15, 94377 Steinach, Germany

³ GenXPro GmbH, Altenhöferallee 3, 60438 Frankfurt am Main, Germany

(⊠) florian.haase@julius-kuehn.de

Ryegrass (Lolium sp.) is the most important cool-season forage crop in temperate regions. Though, the crop yield and quality is considerably affected by several fungal and bacterial obligate biotrophical pathogens. The overall purpose of this study is directed to developing ryegrass cultivars with multiple pathogen resistance and agronomic adaption to Germany's agricultural conditions. This aim was achieved by combining genes for resistances to stem rust, crown rust and bacterial wilt. Therefore, several segregating mapping populations were created and phenotyped regarding to resistance response. The combination and pyramidisation of resistance genes was accomplished by the use of specific molecular markers, which will be derived by bulked segregant analysis combined with next generation sequencing based massive analysis of cDNA ends (MACE) transcriptome profiling. For this purpose RNA was isolated from bulks of infected and non-infected leaf segments from susceptible and resistant genotypes of various fullsibling mapping populations ($n \ge 200$) and their respective parental lines for every investigated pathogen. After MACE was performed, bioinformatic analysis detects SNPs and transcripts that were exclusively expressed in the resistant bulk. Thus, 34 molecular markers were genetically mapped to a 50.8 cM spanning region surrounding the stem rust resistance locus LpPg1. Three closely linked ERT markers can be used as a highly reliable and practicable selection tool for stem rust resistance. Furthermore, four potential markers for another stem rust resistance gene *LpPg2* were identified and six markers linked to crown rust resistance *LpPc1* were developed. The developed markers were recently integrated in existing breeding programmes and allow marker-assisted selection of multiple resistances and accelerate the development of ryegrass varieties with high level of pathogen resistance.

Keywords

Bacterial wilt · Lolium multiflorum · Lolium perenne · MACE · perennial ryegrass · Puccinia coronata · Puccinia graminis · ryegrass · stem rust · Xanthomonas translucens

Acknowledgements

The project was supported by funds of the Federal Ministry of Food and Agriculture (BMEL) based on a decision of the Parliament of the Federal Republic of Germany via the Federal Office for Agriculture and Food (BLE) under the innovation support program (FKZ: 2814IP006).

Haase F, Malenica M, Böhm C, Winter P, Ruge-Wehling B (2019) A transcriptome-based approach for developing breeding lines in *Lolium* sp. with multiple pathogen resistance. In: Vereinigung der Pflanzenzüchter und Saatgutkaufleute Österreichs (Ed), 69. Jahrestagung 2018, 19-21 November, Raumberg-Gumpenstein, p 33. BOKU-University of Natural Resources and Life Sciences, Vienna, Austria. ISBN-13: 978-3-900932-63-3

Stolbur in potatoes and vegetables

Günter BRADER¹, Christina SCHÖNHUBER¹, Amal ARYAN², Felix FUCHS³, Susanne KIRCHMAIER³, Monika RIEDLE-BAUER⁴

¹ Austrian Institute of Technology (AIT), Konrad-Lorenz-Str. 24, 3430 Tulln an der Donau, Austria

² BOKU-University of Natural Resources and Life Sciences, Vienna, Department of Crop Sciences, Gregor-Mendel-Str. 33, 1180 Vienna, Austria

³ Seedproducing co-operative of Lower Austria (NÖS), Meires 25, 3841 Windigsteig, Austria

⁴ Federal College and Research Institute for Viticulture and Pomology Klosterneuburg, Wienerstr. 74, 3400 Klosterneuburg, Austria

(⊠) guenter.brader@ait.ac.at

In the last years a disease has been observed in potatoes and vegetables in eastern Austria, which has not or rarely appeared in the past. Molecular analyses identified stolbur phytoplasma ('Candidatus Phytoplasma solani') as cause of the disease. This pathogen has been observed in Austrian vineyards for decades, where it induces 'Bois Noir'. As phytoplasma, 'Ca. Phytoplasma solani' is a cell wall-less, small (<1 µm) bacterium (Mollicutes) with a small genome (<1000 kb). The bacterium has a dual host cycle living in plants only in the phloem and in the hemolymph of insect species sucking in the phloem and transmitting the phytoplasmas. The Stolbur phytoplasma is occurring in South and Central Europe and the Near East and has a large host plant range, including numerous herbaceous crops such as potatoes, peppers, tomatoes, celery but also woody plants such as grapevine. Transmission of Stolbur occurs through a complicated cycle involving weed species as intermediate and principal hosts and planthoppers as vectors. The most important transmitting planthopper is Hyalesthes obsoletus. In Central Europe, this insect species is univoltine and overwinters as larva on roots of Convolvulus arvensis or Urtica dioica, in the Eastern Mediterrenean area also on Vitex agnus-castus. From the roots of infected host plants the larvae take up the Stolbur phytoplasma and during larval development the phytoplasmas traverse the gut and accumulate in the salivary glands. The newly hatched adults have sufficient phytoplasma concentrations in the saliva and transmit the pathogen to healthy plants during phloem feeding. Stolbur phytoplasmas of nettle and bindweed can be distinguished based on marker genes (tuf, secY, Stamp) into nettle and bindweed types. The predominant type in grapevine Bois Noir infection in recent years is hereby the nettle type.

In 2017/18 we characterized the stolbur infections in potatoes and vegetables in Austria. The disease was detected in a wide area in large areas East and North of Vienna to the borders of the Czech Republic and Slovakia and to the West till the region of St. Pölten. Potatoes showed first signs of disease from end of June onwards. The leaves of infected plants became brittle and fragile, curled upwards and turned yellow from the shoot tip or, depending on the variety, also turned reddish. Airborne tubers sometimes formed in the leaf axils, tubers became misshaped and showed a rubbery texture. As a result, many affected plants began to wither

and die. Overall, the loss of revenue was significant. Since the insects often flew from the outside into the potato field, the disease occurred predominantly at the field margins. In addition, during the last years stolbur also caused severe damage to vegetables, such as Chinese cabbage, celery, carrots, tomatoes and peppers. In the latter two, only plants growing in open fields conditions were affected. The damage patterns caused in these plant species ranged from yellowing/reddening to severe growth changes to the death of plants. The disease was also observed in ornamental plants such as Calendula officinalis, Cosmos bipinnatus, Tagetes erecta and Zinnia elegans. Stolbur infection was confirmed by PCR and positive samples were characterized by sequencing of the marker gene Stamp. Stamp was amplified by the primers Stamp F (5'-GTAGGTTTTGGATGTTTTAAG-3') and Stamp-R0 (5'-AAATAAAAGAACAAGTATAGACGA-3') and sequenced with Stamp F. In total >200 samples from the plants described above were characterized and without exception, the stolbur phytoplasma type was the bindweed type indicating that bindweed was the intermediate host and the pathogen source. Collection of H. obsoletus was done by vacuum sampling in the area of Ernstbrunn. Infection rates of *H. obsoletus* determined by PCR were ≈30%. In transmission experiments, insects were caged with healthy potato, tomato and Catharanthus roseus. Transmission of stolbur phytoplasmas of the bindweed type to the test plants was observed confirming the origin of the pathogen.

Management of stolbur is a difficult task and bindweed control aiming to reduce the pathogen source is difficult to achieve. Furthermore, infectious insects often develop on bindweeds at ruderal sites, fallows or slopes where bindweed control cannot be carried out. A successful bindweed control in fields could both reduces the sources of infection and the development of the vetors. Weed control and other possible disturbances such as mulching, vegetation mowing, herbicide use should not be carried out during the flight period of the adult insects (approximately from beginning of June to beginning of August) to keep the *H. obsoletus* in the bindweed sites. There seems to be relatively large differences in susceptibility to stolbur phytoplasma depending on the potato variety. The nature of the susceptibility can be due to tolerance to the phytoplasma, but also due to different acceptance of the in-

Brader G, Schönhuber C, Aryan A, Fuchs F, Kirchmaier S, Riedle-Bauer M (2019) Stolbur in potatoes and vegetables. In: Vereinigung der Pflanzenzüchter und Saatgutkaufleute Österreichs (Ed), 69. Jahrestagung 2018, 19-21 November, Raumberg-Gumpenstein, pp 35-36. BOKU-University of Natural Resources and Life Sciences, Vienna, Austria. ISBN-13: 978-3-900932-63-3

sects and is currently not well understood.

Currently the efficiency of insecticides for phytoplasma management is unclear. Successful management is on one hand hampered by the fact that infectious vectors move into the crop from the outside for a flight period of at least six weeks. Laboratory transmission experiments showed that successful phytoplasma transmission is accomplished with in an insect feeding time of a few hours only. In consequence fast acting insecticides with long lasting effects seem necessary. Compounds with a repellent effect such Kaolin or diatomaceous earth could be alternative approaches. In order to monitor the effects of insecticides and repellents on insect survival and phytoplasma transmission lab experiments with H. obsoletus caged on differently treated C. roseus were carried out. A fast knockdown effect within 1-2 hours was observed for the insecticides Lambda-Cyhalothrin (Karathe Zeon, Symgenta, Austria) and Flupyradifurone (Flupyradifurone, Bayer Austria, currently no registration). Accordingly, in the case of the test plants treated with these substances, no to very few were infected with stolbur. Coatings of kaolin and diatomaceous earth had only a weak effect on the survival of the insects, but the number of infected test plants was lower than in the water control. The laboratory experiments allowed a pre selection of suitable compounds for future field experiments, which are still needed to confirm the effect of the test compounds under naturally occurring conditions.

Keywords

Bindweed · Candidatus Phytoplasma solani · carrot · celery · Convolvulus arvensis · Hyalesthes obsoletus · tomato

Acknowledgements

The work supported by the ARRS FWF joint project I 2763-B29, the county of Lower Austria, the IGE and the NÖS.

References

Aryan A, Brader G, Mörtel J, Pastar M, Riedle-Bauer M (2014) An abundant *Candidatus* Phytoplasma solani' tuf b strain is associated with grapevine, stinging nettle and *Hyalesthes obsoletus*. Eur J Plant Pathol 140: 213-227. DOI: 10.1007/s10658-014-0455-0

Fabre A, Danet J-L, Foissac X (2011) The stolbur phytoplasma antigenic membrane protein gene stamp is submitted to diversifying positive selection. Gene 472: 37-41. DOI: 10.1016/j.gene.2010.10.012

Hogenhout SA, Oshima K, Ammar ED, Kakizawa S, Kingdom HN, Namba S (2008) Phytoplasmas: bacteria that manipulate plants and insects. Mol Plant Pathol 9: 403-423. DOI: 10.1111/j.1364-3703.2008.00472.x

Langer M, Maixner M (2004) Molecular characterisation of grapevine yellows associated phytoplasmas of the stolbur-group based on RFLP-analysis of non-ribosomal DNA. Vitis 43: 191-199.

PNYDV - still a challenge: Pea necrotic yellow dwarf virus in Austrian legume crops

Sabine GRAUSGRUBER-GRÖGER¹, Juliane REITERER¹, Anna MOYSES¹

¹ Austrian Agency for Health and Food Safety (AGES), Institute for Sustainable Plant Production, Spargelfeldstr. 191, 1220 Vienna, Austria

(⊠) sabine.grausgruber-groeger@ages.at

Abstract

The *Pea necrotic yellow dwarf virus* (PNYDV) was identified and described for the first time in Germany in 2009, and was first detected 2010 in Austria in green peas and faba beans. Hosts of the virus are mainly legumes, and aphids are reported to be the vectors. Black bean aphid (*Aphis fabae*) and pea aphid (*Acyrthosiphon pisum*) are known as major virus vectors. In 2016 and 2018, PNYDV caused severe crop losses mainly in faba beans (Fig. 1) and peas, but also in lentils and chickpeas (Fig. 2). The Austrian Agency for Health & Food Safety (AGES) is working in two projects on PNYDV. In a project supported by the Austrian Chamber of Agriculture (LK) an early warning system for the aphid virus vectors of PNYDV has been established since 2017. The national project "NANOVIR" is dealing with the epidemiology of the virus and possibilities for aphid control in organic faba beans.

Keywords

Black bean aphid \cdot epidemiology \cdot nanovirus \cdot pea aphid \cdot *Pisum sativum* \cdot *Vicia faba*

Early warning system for the aphid virus vectors of PNYDV

In order to be aware of an early occurrence of aphids and nanovirus infections, a warning system for aphid virus vectors in legumes was established. In 2017 and 2018, flight activity of aphids was examined on 9 different trial sites from April to May (2017)/June (2018) using yellow water traps. Aphids were tested for PNYDV by PCR analysis. In 2017, early PNYDV infections of legumes or infected aphids could not be detected, and problems caused by PNYDV in legume crops were insignificant. In 2018, anholocyclic overwintered *A. pisum* infected with PNYDV were detected on 10th April on winter field peas in the Marchfeld region. In yellow water traps, infected aphids were collected from 26th April onwards, one month earlier than in 2017. Due to the warning system, farmers were punctually informed of the occurrence of PNYDV infected aphid vectors. Consequently, targeted control measures against aphids at an early growth stage assured a harvest of legume crops.

The national project NANOVIR

PNYDV is known only for a few years, therefore, little information is available concerning the epidemiology of the virus. One of the aims of the project is to develop and collect epidemiological data.



Figure 1: Faba bean crop infected with PNYDV (Korneuburg, June 2018)



Figure 2: Chickpeas with typical symptoms for PNYDV (Grabenegg, June 2018)

It shall be clarified, which legume species, used as either main or catch crops, are natural host plants for PNYDV, and which species are no hosts and can be recommended as catch crops. Until 2016, pea, faba bean, common vetch, grass pea and lentil were known to be hosts for PNYDV in Austria. In 2018, the first year of the NA-NOVIR project, we confirmed Hungarian vetch, chickpea and tiny vetch, as natural host plants for the first time in Austria (Table 1).

As Nanoviruses are transmitted by aphids, the only possibility to reduce infections is to control the aphid population. Therefore, another aim of the project is to develop recommendations for the biological control of aphids in organic faba beans.

Grausgruber-Gröger S, Moyses A (2019) PNYDV - still a challenge: *Pea necrotic yellow dwarf virus* in Austrian legume crops. In: Vereinigung der Pflanzenzüchter und Saatgutkaufleute Österreichs (Ed), 69. Jahrestagung 2018, 19-21 November, Raumberg-Gumpenstein, pp 37-38. BOKU-University of Natural Resources and Life Sciences, Vienna, Austria. ISBN-13: 978-3-900932-63-3

Table 1: Summary of legume species which are host plants for PNYDV. Results are based on Ziebell (2017) with the exception of the bold printed species which was hitherto only confirmed for Austria; host species shaded in gray were confirmed for Austria).

Botanical name	Common name	German name
Pisum sativum	pea	Erbsen
Vicia faba	faba bean	Ackerbohne
Vicia sativa	common vetch	Futterwicke
Vicia pannonica	Hungarian vetch	Pannonische Wicke
Lathyrus sativus	grass pea	Platterbse
Cicer arietinum	chickpea	Kichererbse
Trifolium incarnatum	crimson clover	Inkarnatklee
Melilotus segetalis	corn melilot	Saat-Steinklee
Melilotus infestus	round-fruited melilot	Steinklee
Melilotus messanensis	Sicilian melilot	Messina-Steinklee
Melilotus italicus	Italien melilot	Italiener-Steinklee
Melilotus sulcatus	Mediterranean melilot	Gefurchter Steinklee
Lens culinaris	lentil	Linsen
Vicia hirsuta	tiny vetch	Rauhaarige Wicke

Trials are carried out in cooperation with the company *biohelp* (www.biohelp-profi.at) to test biological solutions for aphid control. On a large trial area, two applications of 'biohelp Neudosan', an insecticidal soap based on potassium salts of fatty acids, showed a treefold higher yield than the untreated control.

In cooperation with the Agricultural Chamber of Lower Austria, the influence of intercropping field beans with oats on the occurrence of aphids will be tested. First experiences in 2018 showed that intercropping with oats inhibits the development of aphids in the faba bean crop and, therefore, reduces the incidence of PNYDV infections. While 12 *A. fabae* colonies and 169 *A. pisum* individuals were counted on 50 plants in the faba bean pure stand, only 3 and 19 individuals, respectively were found in the faba bean intercropped with oats. In the pure faba bean crop 70% of the plants showed typical symptoms of PNYDV, whereas in the intercropping stand only 30% of the plants exhibited virus symptoms.

Acknowledgements

The national project NANOVIR is financially supported by the Austrian Federal Ministry for Sustainability and Tourism (BMNT), Number 101266. The project to develop an early warning system for different plant pathogens is coordinated by the Austrian Chamber of Agriculture and financially supported by the EU, BMNT and RWA Raiffeisen Ware Austria AG.

References

Gaafar Y, Grausgruber-Gröger S, Ziebell H (2016) *Vicia faba, V. sativa,* and *Lens culinaris* as new hosts for *Pea necrotic yellow dwarf virus* in Germany and Austria. New Dis Rep 34:38. DOI: 10.5197/j.2044-0588.2016.034.028

Grausgruber-Gröger S, Huss H (2017) Virus diseases in grain legumes -Situation in Austria 2016. In: 67. Jahrestagung 2016, 21-23 Nov, Raumberg-Gumpenstein, pp 25-26. Vereinigung der Pflanzenzüchter und Saatgutkaufleute Österreichs, St. Pölten.

Moyses A, Grausgruber-Gröger S (2018) Nanoviren - auch 2018 ein spannendes Thema. In: 59. Österreichische Pflanzenschutztage, 27.-11. Nov., Ossiach, p 30. Österreichische Arbeitsgemeinschaft für integrierten Pflanzenschutz, Wien.

Ziebell H (2017) *Pea necrotic yellow dwarf virus* (PNYDV), ein Nanovirus. Julius Kühn-Institut (JKI), Braunschweig. DOI: 10.5073/jki.2017.002

Micropropagation and virus elimination in elderberry (Sambucus nigra)

Elisabeth KOPPER¹, Maria GRANILSHCHIKOVA¹, Thomas LEICHTFRIED¹, Helga REISENZEIN¹

¹ Austrian Agency for Health and Food Safety (AGES), Institute for Sustainable Plant Production, Spargelfeldstr. 191, 1220 Vienna, Austria

(⊠) elisabeth.kopper@ages.at

During the last decade Styria, Austria, became the most important growth area for *Sambucus nigra* L. in Europe. About 330 farmers in the area produce 1250 hectares of elderberry. After apple, elderberry ranks second in Austrian fruit production. The harvest of berries and flowers is 6900 tons, which are nearly exclusively marketed by the Styrian soft fruit cooperative.

More than 75% of the Austrian elderberry acreage is planted with the cultivar 'Haschberg'. This leads to high costs during harvest, since most of the berries are to be harvested at the same time and need to be frozen within hours after picking.

In order to improve the spectrum of cultivars an attempt was undertaken to optimize *in vitro* propagation of five additional cultivars. Three different media were tried for establishment *in vitro*, six media were used for propagation and rooting (Table 1). A micropropagation protocol was developed using the cytokinin meta-topolin for multiplication as well as rooting of *Sambucus nigra* plants. For four out of six cultivars ('Haschberg', 'Kornberg', 'Preding', 'Blochwitz') it was possible to optimize media for micropropagation. For the cultivars 'Rubin' and 'Tatin' further work is required.

To meet the requirement for certified planting material, thermotherapy and chemotherapy (ribavirin), followed by meristem tip culture were successfully applied to eliminate various plant viruses (*i.e.* Arabis Mosaic Virus, Cherry Leafroll Virus, Strawberry Latent Ringspot Virus, Elderberry Virus A-D, Tomato Ringspot Virus, Blueberry Scorch Virus) from elderberry plants. Virus detection was carried out using RT-PCR and confirmed by electron microscopy. Using thermotherapy and meristem-tip culture, it was possible to obtain virus-free plants only from cultivar 'Haschberg'. After thermotherapy, 'Rubin' was free from all viruses tested except for Elderberry virus B. Virus elemination for cultivars 'Kornberg', 'Preding' and 'Blochwitz' could be obtained by using chemotherapy with Ribavirin (30 mg/L).

To improve the process of *ex vitro* acclimatization, plantlets rooted *in vitro* were treated with two different preparations of mycorrhiza at two different times of inoculation (*i.e.* inoculation after *in vitro* rooting before acclimatization and inoculation after 6 weeks of acclimatization in the greenhouse).

The best treatment was Mykonor Bio-Aktiv (application by dipping) inoculated after *in vitro* rooting, which reduced losses to 2% of all plants compared to 12-14% of untreated control plants. Generally, for all plants treated with mycorrhiza, regardless of the time of inoculation, a statistically significant reduction of losses and better growth (length of main shoot) was observed. Also the level of mycorrhizal colonization of roots was improved.

Keywords

In vitro propagation · mycorrhiza · virus free plant

		Cultivar					
Medium	Cytokinine ¹	Haschberg	Kornberg	Rubin	Preding	Blochwitz	Tatin
HV2m	BAP+TDZ	+	+	+	+	+	±
HV3	KIN	-	-	-	-	-	-
HV4	BAP	+	+	+	+	±	-
H8P	2iP	+	±	±	±	±	-
HV5	mT	+	+	±	±	±	±
HV11m	mT+NAA	+	+	n.d.	+	+	n.d.

Table 1: Culture response of six *Sambucus nigra* cultivars to multiplication (HV2m, HV3, HV4, H8P, HV5) and rooting (HV11m) media (+, good multiplication/rooting; ±, suboptimal growth; -, no growth; n.d., not determined)

¹ 2iP, 6-(γ,γ-dimethylallylamino)purine; BAP, N⁶ benzyladenine; KIN, kinetin; mT, meta-topolin (N⁶-(3-hydroxybenzyl) adenine); NAA, 1-napatalene acetic acid; TDZ, thidiazuron

Kopper E, Granilshchikova M, Leichtfried T, Reisenzein H (2019) Micropropagation and virus elimination in elderberry (*Sambucus nigra*). In: Vereinigung der Pflanzenzüchter und Saatgutkaufleute Österreichs (Ed), 69. Jahrestagung 2018, 19-21 November, Raumberg-Gumpenstein, pp 39-40. BOKU-University of Natural Resources and Life Sciences, Vienna, Austria. ISBN-13: 978-3-900932-63-3

Acknowledgements

We want to thank the Styrian soft fruit cooperative for supplying elderberry roostocks and being partner in the Collective Research Project "Ernteoptimierung Holunder" which was funded by the Austria Research Promotion Agency (FFG).

References

Charlebois D, Brassard N (2015) Micropropagation of American elderberry: culture medium optimization and field performance. Acta Hort 1061:175-182. DOI: 10.17660/ActaHortic.2015.1061.18

EPPO (2008) Certification scheme for *Sambucus*. EPPO Bulletin 38:19-24. DOI: 10.1111/j.1365-2338.2008.01178.x

Monticelli S, Gentile A, Frattarelli A, Caboni E (2017) Effects of the natural cytokinin meta-Topolin on in vitro shoot proliferation and acclimatization of *Prunus* spp.. Acta Hort 1155:375-380. DOI: 10.17660/ActaHortic.2017. 1155.51

Wu QG, Zou LJ, Luo MH (2013) Callus induction and plant regeneration of *Sambucus chinensis*. J Chin Med Material 36:1899-1903 (in Chinese with English abstract).

Winter is coming: Improving and maintaining winter hardiness and frost tolerance in bread wheat by genomic selection

Sebastian MICHEL¹, Franziska LÖSCHENBERGER², Jakob HELLINGER¹, Christian AMETZ², Bernadette PACHLER², Ellen SPARRY³, Hermann BUERSTMAYR¹

¹ Department of Agrobiotechnology (IFA-Tulln), BOKU-University of Natural Resources and Life Sciences, Vienna, Konrad Lorenz-Str. 20, 3430 Tulln, Austria

² Saatzucht Donau GesmbH & CoKG, Saatzuchtstr. 11, 2301 Probstdorf, Austria

³ C&M Seeds, 6180 5th Line, Palmerston, NOG 2PO, ON, Canada

(⊠) sebastian.michel@boku.ac.at

Winter hardiness is a major constraint for autumn sown crops in temperate regions, and thus an important breeding goal in the development of new bread wheat varieties. Winter hardiness is though influenced by many environmental factors and furthermore difficult to phenotype under European conditions due to the irregular occurrence of winter damage in field trials, which makes a genomic breeding strategy an interesting alternative. The aims of this study were: (i) to compare the merit of marker-assisted selection using the major frost tolerance QTL *Fr-A2* with genomewide prediction for winter hardiness and frost tolerance; and (ii) to assess the merit of combining both measures with a genomic selection index.

A training population including 170 lines with winter hardiness data from 2012, another training population of 200 lines from a controlled frost test experiment in 2017, and an independent validation population of 130 lines that was assessed for winter hardiness in the field in 2018 were analyzed for this purpose. Cross-validation within the training population for frost tolerance showed the merit of marker-assisted selection for *Fr-A2* especially when upweighted in genome-wide prediction models, while a new QTL on chromosome 3A could be identified with the winter hardiness data from 2012. Combining both measures in a genomic selection index increased the prediction ability for the independent validation population 2018 in comparison to training with winter hardiness or frost tolerance data alone. Genomic selection showed thus high potential to improve or maintain the performance of bread wheat for this difficult and costly to phenotype trait.

Keywords

Cold tolerance \cdot copy number variation \cdot genomic prediction \cdot *Triticum aestivum* \cdot winter survival

References

Galiba G, Vágújfalvi A, Li C, Soltész A, Dubcovsky J (2009) Regulatory genes involved in the determination of frost tolerance in temperate cereals. Plant Sci 176:12-19. DOI: 10.1016/j.plantsci.2008.09.016

Kruse EB, Carle SW, Wen N, Skinner DZ, Murray TD, Garland-Campbell KA, Carter AH (2017) Genomic regions associated with tolerance to freezing stress and snow mold in winter wheat. G3 7:775-780. DOI: 10.1534/g3.116.037622

Vágújfalvi A, Galiba G, Cattivelli L, Dubcovsky J (2003) The cold-regulated transcriptional activator *Cbf3* is linked to the frost-tolerance locus *Fr-A2* on wheat chromosome 5A. Mol Genet Genomics 269:60-67. DOI: 10.1007/ s00438-003-0806-6

Zhu J, Pearce S, Burke A, See DR, Skinner DZ, Dubcovsky J (2014) Copy number and haplotype variation at the *VRN-A1* and central *FR-A2* loci are associated with frost tolerance in hexaploid wheat. Theor Appl Genet 127:1183-1197. DOI: 10.1007/s00122-014-2290-2

Michel S, Löschenberger F, Hellinger J, Ametz C, Pachler B, Sparry E, Bürstmayr H (2019) Winter is coming: Improving and maintaining winter hardiness and frost tolerance in bread wheat by genomic selection. In: Vereinigung der Pflanzenzüchter und Saatgutkaufleute Österreichs (Ed), 69. Jahrestagung 2018, 19-21 November, Raumberg-Gumpenstein, p 41. BOKU-University of Natural Resources and Life Sciences, Vienna, Austria. ISBN-13: 978-3-900932-63-3

Molecular mapping for salinity tolerance in F₈ rice recombinant inbred lines

Mahnaz KATOUZI^{1,2}, Saeid NAVABPOUR², Ahad YAMCHI², Seyedeh Sanaz RAMEZANPOOR², Hossein SABOURI³

¹ Agroscope, Plant Breeding and Genetic Resources, Route de Duillier 50, 1260 Nyon, Switzerland

² Gorgan University of Agricultural Sciences and Natural Resources, Department of Plant Breeding and Biotechnology, Gorgan, Golestan, Iran

³ Gonbad Kavous University, Department of Plant Production, Gonbad-e Kavus, Golestan, Iran

(⊠) mahnaz.katouzi@agroscope.admin.ch

Rice (*Oryza sativa*) is the staple food in Iran. However, in different parts of the country its production is affected by salinity stress. This stress suppresses the growth of rice and reduces its yield. Salinity tolerance is a complex trait and controlled by several genes. Therefore, QTL mapping is one useful tool in molecular research for studying abiotic stress.

The objectives of this study were (i) a survey of the interaction between lines for salinity tolerance in hydroponic condition, (ii) the saturation of a linkage map in a F_8 rice population derived from the cross Sepidroud × Anbarbou, and (iii) the identification of linked markers with salinity tolerance QTL

To find tolerance QTL, 96 lines of F_8 recombinant inbreed lines were screened under hydroponic conditions for mapping of traits related to salinity stress and genotyped with 40 ISSR markers. The linkage map covered 1709.29 cM of the rice genome. Five QTL could be located on chromosomes 3, 5, 6, 7 and 10. The QTL qSSES-7 and qSSES-10 had the highest effects (LOD 2.99 and 3.25, respectively) and explained 27% of the phenotypic variation.

Keywords

ISSR marker · Oryza sativa · QTL

References

Katouzi M, Navvabpour S, Yamchi A, Ramazanpour SS, Sabouri H (2016) Genetic evaluation and colocation of QTLs in seedling stage of F8 rice RILs under drought, salinity and cold stresses. In: Kölliker R, Boller B (eds), Plant breeding: the art of bringing science to life, 20th EUCARPIA General Congress, 29 Aug-1 Sep, Zurich, Abstracts, p 213. Agroscope, Zurich.

Mardani Z, Rabiei B, Sabouri H, Sabouri A (2013) Mapping of QTLs for germination characteristics under non-stress and drought stress in rice. Rice Sci 20:391-399. DOI: 10.1016/S1672-6308(13)60150-X

Mardani Z, Rabiei B, Sabouri A, Sabouri H (2014) Identification of molecular markers linked to salt-tolerant genes at germination stage of rice. Plant Breed 133:196-202. DOI: 10.1111/pbr.12136

Katouzi M, Navabpour S, Yamchi A, Ramezanpoor SS, Sabouri H (2019) Molecular mapping for salinity tolerance in F₈ rice recombinant inbred lines. In: Vereinigung der Pflanzenzüchter und Saatgutkaufleute Österreichs (Ed), 69. Jahrestagung 2018, 19-21 November, Raumberg-Gumpenstein, p 43. BOKU-University of Natural Resources and Life Sciences, Vienna, Austria. ISBN-13: 978-3-900932-63-3

Study of flowering time genes for crop improvement

Jan ŠAFÁŘ¹

¹ Institute of Experimental Botany of the Czech Academy of Sciences, Centre of the Region Haná for Biotechnological and Agricultural Research, Šlechtitelů 31, 78371 Olomouc, Czech Republic

(⊠) safar@ueb.cas.cz

Flowering is the most crucial step that plants undergo to succeed in reproduction and survival over many generations. Therefore, it is a highly regulated process controlled by many genes interacting mutually in a genetic network and influenced by many interacting pathways and environmental influences (light, temperature). The ability to control flowering time in major crops has an impact on grain yield and thus is an attractive target for modern plant breeding efforts aiming to prepare locally well-adapted cultivars.

Bread wheat (*Triticum aestivum* L.) is a staple food for 40% population and is one of three the most important crops worldwide. Variability in the vernalization (VRN genes) and photoperiodic pathways (PPD genes) is considered the main source of plasticity and enables wheat growth in different altitudes and latitudes. Even minor variation in photoperiod and vernalization genes is associated with large differences in flowering time and thus fast adaptability of wheat to diverse locations. These changes are linked with variation at the DNA sequence level (rearrangements in the promoter region and the first intron) and also with copy number variation (CNV) of the genes. In addition, epigenetic modifications like DNA methylation and histone modifications are associated with significant changes in the flowering time determination. More investigation will be needed to fully understand this an important biological process.

Keywords

Photoperiod sensitivity · Triticum aestivum · vernalization

Acknowledgements

The presented work was financially supported by the Czech Republic Ministry of Education, Youth and Sports (award LO1204 from the National Program of Sustainability I), and the Czech Republic Ministry of Agriculture (award QK1710302).

References

Ivaničová Z, Jakobson I, Reis D, Šafář J, Milec Z, Abrouk M, Doležel J, Järve K, Valárik M (2016) Characterization of new allele influencing flowering time in bread wheat introgressed from *Triticum militinae*. New Biotechnol 33:718-727. DOI: 10.1016/j.nbt.2016.01.008

Ivaničová Z, Valárik M, Pánková K, Trávníčková M, Doležel J, Šafář J, Milec Z (2017) Heritable heading time variation in wheat lines with the same number of *Ppd-B1* gene copies. PLoS One 12:e0183745: DOI: 10.1371/journal. pone.0183745

Milec Z, Valárik M, Bartoš J, Šafář J (2014) Can a late bloomer become an early bird? Tools for flowering time adjustment. Biotechnol Adv 32:200-214. DOI: 10.1016/j.biotechadv.2013.09.008

Šafář J (2019) Study of flowering time genes for crop improvement. In: Vereinigung der Pflanzenzüchter und Saatgutkaufleute Österreichs (Ed), 69. Jahrestagung 2018, 19-21 November, Raumberg-Gumpenstein, p 45. BOKU-University of Natural Resources and Life Sciences, Vienna, Austria. ISBN-13: 978-3-900932-63-3

Seedjection[™] - Bringing microorganisms into seeds

Nikolaus PFAFFENBICHLER¹, Doris GUSENBAUER¹, Angela SESSITSCH¹, Birgit MITTER¹

¹ Austrian Institute of Technology (AIT), Konrad Lorenz Str. 24, 3430 Tulln an der Donau, Austria

(🖂) nikolaus.pfaffenbichler@ait.ac.at

In the present time, plant beneficial microorganisms have the potential to overcome limitations we face in modern agriculture. These microbes are used as plant adjuvants or for pathogen defense but the delivery of these beneficial microbes to the plant is a major challenge. Reduction of applied cell numbers by desiccation stress or UV light are just a few of the problems of the currently used methods like seed coating or spraying. In this regard, our newly developed technology Seedjection™ (www.seedjection.at) is going a completely new way. The desired microorganisms are mechanically introduced into the seed and protected there from external influences. This mechanical approach is based on slicing the seed, injecting the desired microorganisms into the opened grain and sealing the cutting with a biodegradable sealant. Cutting the pericarp and uncovering the endosperm has no negative impact on germination, growth, plant health or shelf life of seeds. Compared to conventional application, using Seedjection[™] technology, it was possible to show, for example, enhanced colonization of plant tissue with selected examples (e.g. Bacillus amyloliquefaciens) or enhanced storage stability of applied microbes (e.g. Paraburkholderia phytofirmans) as compared to seed coating. Furthermore, this technology allows accurate injection of defined volumes and due to preservation of the microbes inside of the seed, a combination of living microorganisms and an outside chemical coating is possible.

Keywords

Bacillus amyloliquefaciens · beneficial microbes · Paraburkholderia phytofirmans · plant-microbe interaction

References

Hardoim PR, van Overbeek LS, Berg G, Pirttilä AM, Compant S, Campisano A, Döring M, Sessitsch A (2015) The hidden world within plants: ecological and evolutionary considerations for defining functioning of microbial endophytes. Microbiol Mol Biol Rev 79:293-320. DOI: 10.1128/MMBR.00050-14

Mitter B, Pfaffenbichler N, Flavell R, Compant S, Antonielli L, petric A, Berninger T, Naveed M, Sheibani-Tezerji R, von Maltzahn G, Sessitsch A (2017) A new approach to modify plant microbiomes and traits by introducing beneficial bacteria at flowering into progeny seeds. Front Microbiol 8:11. DOI: 10.3389/fmicb.2017.00011

Pfaffenbichler N, Gusenbauer D, Sessitsch A, Mitter B (2019) Seejection[™] - Bringing microorganisms into seeds. In: Vereinigung der Pflanzenzüchter und Saatgutkaufleute Österreichs (Ed), 69. Jahrestagung 2018, 19-21 November, Raumberg-Gumpenstein, p 47. BOKU-University of Natural Resources and Life Sciences, Vienna, Austria. ISBN-13: 978-3-900932-63-3

Less is better: improving forage quality of barley

Heinrich GRAUSGRUBER¹, Christian EMSENHUBER^{1,*}, Florian HOCHHAUSER^{1,#}, Lukas NADERER^{1,§}, Farzaneh TAASSOB-SHIRAZI^{1,2}, Fenja KLEVENHUSEN^{3,&}, Qendrim ZEBELI³, Ivan INGELBRECHT², Bernhard HOFINGER², Ljupcho JANKULOSKI⁴

¹ BOKU-University of Natural Resources and Life Sciences Vienna, Department of Crop Sciences, Konrad Lorenz Str. 24, 3430 Tulln, Austria

³ University of Veterinary Medicine, Vienna, Institute of Animal Nutrition and Functional Plant Compounds, Veterinärplatz 1, 1210 Vienna, Austria

⁴ Joint FAO/IAEA Division of Nuclear Techniques in Food and Agriculture, Vienna International Centre, PO Box 100, 1400 Vienna, Austria

* Present address: Landwirtschaftskammer Niederösterreich, Wiener Str. 64, 3100 St. Pölten, Austria

[#] Present address: Probstdorfer Saatzucht GesmbH & CoKG, Saatzuchtstr. 11, 2301 Groß-Enzersdorf, Austria

[§] Present address: Saatbau Linz eGen, Schirmerstr. 19, 4060 Leonding, Austria

[&] Present address: Bundesinstitut für Risikobewertung, Max-Dohrn-Str. 8-10, 10589 Berlin, Germany

(⊠) heinrich.grausgruber@boku.ac.at

Abstract

In the framework of the Coordinated Research Project "Integrated Utilization of Cereal Mutant Varieties in Crop/Livestock Production Systems for Climate Smart Agriculture" (2012-2018) existing mutant genetic stocks of barley were tested for their suitability to use as forage barley. The mutant genes under investigation were Lks1 (awnless), Kap1 (hooded lemma) and rob1 (orange lemma). The awnless and/or hooded trait allows grazing, hay or silage production after heading, without problems of impaction of awns in the mouth and gut and damage to the eyes of cattles. The orange lemma trait shows similar phenotypic characteristics compared to the brown-midrib mutants in maize and sorghum or the red xylem mutant in poplar and results in a less acid-detergent lignin (ADL) content and higher *in vitro* organic matter digestibility.

From 2015 to 2018 more than 200 accessions were tested in field trials for grain and biomass yield and other agronomic and morphological traits. A few *Kap1*, *Lks1* and *rob1* mutant lines with both high biomass and grain yield were identified.

In vitro digestibility trials including the *rob1* mutant lines in varieties 'Bowman' and 'Optic' confirmed a significantly lower ADL content and improved organic matter digestibility as well as decreased methane formation of the mutant lines compared to their wildtype. Additionally, effects were seen on the rumen microbial community structure and the short chain fatty acids profile.

Crosses between BW666 (orange lemma mutant in 'Bowman') and 6-rowed hooded varieties 'Verdant' and 'Sanokrithi 94' were carried out to combine both mutant genes of interest. As most genes in the lignin biosynthesis pathway have been well characterized, a candidate gene approach (HvCAD2) was used to develop a functional marker for the monofactorial recessive *rob1* gene. Candidate causative mutations underlying the orange lemma phenotype were identified and an allele-specific assay was developed for *rob1* in the 'Bowman' genetic background. Using a segregating F_2 population, trait and marker linkage could be demonstrated. Experiments have been initiated to validate the marker assay in additional barley genetic backgrounds to enable marker-assisted backcrossing of *rob1* for forage barley improvement.

Keywords

 $\label{eq:Digestibility} {\bf bigestibility} \cdot forage \cdot \textit{Hordeum vulgare} \cdot lignin \cdot livestock \cdot markerassisted selection \cdot mutation breeding$

Acknowledgements

The research leading to the results received funding from the CRP D23030 of the International Atomic Energy Agency (IAEA) under the Technical Contract No. 17618. We kindly acknowledge Stephen Hayes (Oregon State University, Corvallis, USA) and Dionysia Fasoula (Agricultural Research Institute, Lefkosia, Cyprus) for providing original seeds of Verdant and Sanokrithi 94, respectively.

References

Christensen CSL, Rasmussen SK (2019) Low lignin mutants and reduction of lignin content in grasses for increased utilisation of lignocellulose. Agronomy 9:256. DOI: 10.3390/agronomy9050256

Grausgruber H, Emsenhuber C, Klevenhusen F, Hochhauser F, Jankuloski L, Zebeli Q (2018) Evaluation of hooded (*Kap1*), awnless (*Lks1*) and orange

Grausgruber H, Emsenhuber C, Hochhauser F, Naderer L, Taassob-Shirazi F, Klevenhusen F, Zebeli Q, Ingelbrecht I, Hofinger B, Jankuloski L (2019) Less is better: improving forage quality of barley. In: Vereinigung der Pflanzenzüchter und Saatgutkaufleute Österreichs (Ed), 69. Jahrestagung 2018, 19-21 November, Raumberg-Gumpenstein, pp 49-50. BOKU-University of Natural Resources and Life Sciences, Vienna, Austria. ISBN-13: 978-3-900932-63-3

² Joint FAO/IAEA Division of Nuclear Techniques in Food and Agriculture, Plant Breeding and Genetics Laboratory, Friedensstr. 1, 2444 Seibersdorf, Austria



Figure 1: Allele specific marker development for the orange lemma mutant gene: phenotype and marker expression of wildtype (WT) and orange lemma (OL) parental lines and heterozygous F_1 plants (top from left to right), and marker expression in a segregating F_2 population (bottom).

lemma (*rob1*) muants of barley (*Hordeum vulgare* L.) for their use as forage crop. In: Joint FAO/IAEA Programme Nuclear Techniques in Food and Agriculture (Ed.), FAO/IAEA International Symposium on Plant Mutation Breeding and Biotechnology, 27-31 August, Vienna, Austria, Abstracts, IAEA-CN-263-276.

Hochhauser F, Naderer L, Kutschka S, Jankuloski L, Grausgruber H (2017) Agronomic performance of awnless and hooded spring barley mutants. 67. Jahrestagung 2016, 21-23 Nov, Raumberg-Gumpenstein, pp 71-72.

Ingelbrecht I, Hofinger B, Akgun E, Matijevic M, Ali A, Jankowicz- Cieslak J, Jarc L, Jankuloski L, Ali Ghanim AM, Grausgruber H (2018) Development of a functional marker for marker-assisted selection of 'orange lemma' mutants to improve feed quality in barley. In: Joint FAO/IAEA Programme Nuclear Techniques in Food and Agriculture (Ed.), FAO/IAEA International Symposium on Plant Mutation Breeding and Biotechnology, 27-31 August, Vienna, Austria, Abstracts, IAEA-CN-263-298.

Klevenhusen F, Emsenhuber C, Grausgruber H, Zebeli Q (2018) Comparison of the fermentation traits of the barley mutant *rob1* and the wildtype barley cv. Optic in an *in vitro* incubation study using the Rusitec System. In: Gesellschaft für Ernährungsphysiologie (ed.), 72nd Conference of the Society of Nutrition Physiology, 13-15 March, Göttingen, Germany, Proceedings of the Society of Nutrition Physiology 27, p 130. DLG-Verlag, Frankfurt am Main.

Klevenhusen F, Emsenhuber C, Grausgruber H, Petri R, Zebeli Q (2019) Effects of the orange lemma (*rob1*) mutant line of barley cv. Optic compared to its wild-type on the ruminal microbiome and fermentation tested with the rumen simulation technique. Crop Past Sci, in press.

Maluk M (2014) Improving barley for biofuel production – efficient transformation for lignin manipulation. Doctoral thesis, University of Dundee, Scotland.

Soybean breeding for organic farming: breeding goals and options

Johann VOLLMANN¹, Maria BERNHART², Kristina PETROVIĆ³, Jegor MILADINOVIĆ³, Vuk DJORDJEVIĆ³

¹ BOKU-University of Natural Resources and Life Sciences Vienna, Department of Crop Sciences, Konrad Lorenz Str. 24, 3430 Tulln an der Donau, Austria

² Saatzucht Gleisdorf GesmbH, Am Tieberhof 33, 8200 Gleisdorf, Austria

³ Institute of Field and Vegetable Crops, Soybean Department, Maksima Gorkog 30, 21101 Novi Sad, Serbia

(⊠) johann.vollmann@boku.ac.at

Abstract

Domestic soybean production has increased in many countries of Central Europe over the last decade. As a significant share of soybean production is under organic management at present, a growing demand for varieties suitable for organic production systems has developed. For this reason, the specific needs of cultivars in organic production and possible breeding options are elaborated. Apart from grain yield, weed suppression/tolerance is a highly desirable trait that could be determined in inter-seeding experiments for simulating weed pressure. Other traits such as resistance against diseases and pests as well as tolerance to abiotic stresses (chilling, high temperature and drought) can be selected similarly in conventional and organic programs. In contrast, efficient selection for symbiotic di-nitrogen fixation would require dedicated approaches such as continuous selection under lownitrogen soil conditions. As individual organic breeding activities are small, collaborative approaches between plant breeding organisations on a European level could increase the efficiency of breeding work.

Keywords

Biological di-nitrogen fixation \cdot Glycine max \cdot image analysis \cdot weed suppression

Introduction

In recent years, domestic production of soybean (*Glycine max* [L.] Merr.) has gained importance in many European countries. Within one decade, the total European soybean acreage has increased from 1.6 mio ha (2008) to over 5.7 mio ha (2017) according to FAO figures (FAO-STAT 2019). In Austria, soybean cropping has peaked in 2018 with an acreage of 67 500 ha, and almost 20 000 ha (29%) of that area have been planted under organic management (AMA 2018). Among farmers, soybean production is popular due to its favorable economic competitiveness against other crop species. For Austria, an average yield increase of +30.2 kg per ha per year has been calculated for the period of the past 30 years (1988-2017) of soybean growing which represents a major plant bree-

ding achievement. Moreover, a recent analysis of crop yields for conventional vs. organic farming across Austria from 2003 to 2016 has revealed that organic farming yields dropped to 60-70% of conventional yields for most cereal species and to about 50% for potatoes, whereas soybean organic yields were in the range from 93-109% of conventional yields (Brückler *et al.* 2017). This finding explains the particular attractiveness of soybean cropping in organic farming.

At present, there are over 60 soybean cultivars from maturity groups 0000 to 0 registered in Austria, but only a few of them are utilized in the organic farming sector. As there is a growing need for certified organic seed and for regionally developed and welladapted cultivars particularly suitable for organic management, organic breeding and/or breeding and selection steps under organic growing conditions are gaining in importance. While agronomic and phenology traits such as grain yield, environmental stress tolerance or time to maturity are relevant to soybean production irrespective of the farming system, other characteristics such as competitiveness against weeds, symbiotic di-nitrogen fixation and seed quality features are typically more important for cultivars to be grown under organic management. Thus, as organic farming resembles a specific set of environmental conditions characterized by low rates of mineralized soil nitrogen, a highly diverse soil microbiome and stronger weed pressure, adaptation to such conditions appears as a prerequisite for successful performance. For this reason, the specific needs and options of soybean breeding for organic farming conditions are highlighted and discussed in the light of previous results. Furthermore, an outlook is given to an initiative for increasing efficiency and competitiveness of organic plant breeding.

Specific needs and breeding options

Grain yield

Grain yield is the parameter ensuring competitiveness of a crop on the individual farm level as well as on the level of crop rotations. While yield progress (30.2 kg per ha per year for Austria, comparable progress in other European countries as well) appears sufficient at present, this progress might slow down in the future. On a

Vollmann J, Bernhart M, Petrović K, Miladinović J, Djordjević V (2019) Soybean breeding for organic farming: breeding goals and options. In: Vereinigung der Pflanzenzüchter und Saatgutkaufleute Österreichs (Ed), 69. Jahrestagung 2018, 19-21 November, Raumberg-Gumpenstein, pp 51-55. BOKU-University of Natural Resources and Life Sciences, Vienna, Austria. ISBN-13: 978-3-900932-63-3



Figure 1: Difference in early ground cover at the pre-flowering stage between two soybean breeding lines with ovate (left) or narrow (right) leaflet shape.

world wide scale, a majority of 77% of the soybean acreage has been planted with GMO soybeans in 2017 (Forum Bio- und Gentechnologie eV 2019), but GMO soybeans cannot be utilized for non-GMO and organic breeding (Messmer *et al.* 2015) thus probably reducing future breeding progress for yield and competitiveness because of the limited number of remaining non-GMO programs and reduced options for exchange of elite breeding materials.

Competitiveness against weeds

Weed control is a major issue both in conventional and organic soybean production in Europe. Efficient weed management strategies have been established for organic soybean production based on delayed sowing, wide-row-seeding and several rounds of mechanical weed control (Bernet et al. 2016; Djordjević et al. 2016). Nevertheless, competitiveness of soybeans against weeds is a highly desirable trait as weed infestation is reducing both yield and quality of the harvest (Carkner et al. 2017; Vollmann & Menken 2012). Soybean weed competitiveness is mediated by early vigor and ground cover for suppressing weed biomass development as well as by tolerance to weeds at later stages of development. Genetic differences in early vigor have been described, and their relation to sustained later development has been discussed (Jannink et al. 2001). Screening for early development could be carried out by scoring for plant biomass development at critical stages, but canopy coverage could most precisely be determined by overhead photography with subsequent digital image analysis or by measuring light interception (e.g. Place et al. 2011). An example for differences in early ground cover between soybean genotypes is given in Fig. 1.

Selection for weed competitiveness based on natural weed occurrence is difficult in small plot experiments due to spatial variation in weed distribution. Therefore, sowing of weed seeds or crops for simulation of a homogeneous weed pressure has been practiced. Hand-sowing of winter rapeseed into soybean plots three to four weeks after soybean planting produced a significant weed pressure throughout the soybean growing season (Fig. 2). As compared to weed free plots, soybean yields were reduced by 15-30% under weed infestation in two seasons, but higher yields under weed infestation were found in another season with higher precipitation rate at a later stage (Vollmann *et al.* 2010). Time to maturity, plant height, 1000-seed weight as well as oil content were also affected by the weed treatment. Genotype differences in yield losses were consistent across growing seasons (Fig. 3) suggesting the presence of a reproducible genetic variation.

Instead of inter-seeding winter rapeseed only, Horneburg *et al.* (2017) proposed a seed mixture of ten different species to better simulate natural weed infestation and weed competition in soybean plots. They observed yield reductions from 20 to 60% as compared to weed-free controls but did not find differences in weed tolerance among six early maturity soybean genotypes. In general, the results demonstrate the experimental feasibility of a direct selection system for weed tolerance based on sowing competitors into soybean plots.

Symbiotic di-nitrogen fixation

Symbiotic di-nitrogen fixation by rhizobial bacteria is the relevant biological process ensuring favorable yield performance and harvest product quality (Zimmer et al. 2016). Additionally, in organic farming, legume cropping has an important function on the nitrogen balance of a crop rotation. Soybean is known to be able to fix around 80 to 120 kg/ha nitrogen per season. However, based on the assumption of an average soybean grain yield of 3000 kg/ha and a seed protein content of 40% based on dry matter, over 190 kg/ha nitrogen are exported from the field through a crop harvest. As a consequence, nitrogen balance of soybean can be negative particularly in environments with high soybean yield (Salvagiotti et al. 2008). This is supported by findings from Central European environments demonstrating that a rate of only 40-57% of the soybean nitrogen uptake is from biological nitrogen fixation (Schweiger et al. 2012; Zimmer et al. 2016). Therefore, selection for higher di-nitrogen fixation is of interest to improve both crop performance and nitrogen balance for subsequently enhancing the crop rotation value of soybean. As a direct measurement of dinitrogen fixation using N-isotope-based methods such as the ¹⁵N natural abundance method is laborious (Schweiger et al. 2012) and not suitable for screening large numbers of breeding lines, there is a need for the implementation of indirect screening methods. Selection for nitrogen yield (derived from grain yield and protein content) illustrates the nitrogen uptake, but cannot differentiate between soil uptake and atmospheric nitrogen fixation. This also applies to other phenotyping methods such as chlorophyll metering, leaf image analysis or hyperspectral reflectance measurements (e.g. Vollmann et al. 2011), which can comparatively determine the nitrogen status of breeding lines. Thus, selection under conditions of low-mineralized-nitrogen content of soil



Figure 2: Simulated weed pressure (winter rapeseed sown into soybean plots) at flowering (top row) and maturity (bottom row) stages of soybean development.

(*i.e.* organic soil conditions) is the method of choice, as it would best reflect biological nitrogen fixation capacity and could contribute to identify soybean genotypes with improved nitrogen balance. Moreover, in the long-term perspective, selection under nitrogen-depleted soil conditions would better allow to identify rhizobacterial strains efficient in nitrogen fixation (Chen *et al.* 2015) and elucidate the existence of specific soybean genotype by rhizobial strain interactions (Zimmer *et al.* 2016). In addition, the evolution of efficient rhizobial strains (Weese *et al.* 2015) as well as the soybean genotype capability to recognize efficient bacterial strains both rely on low-nitrogen soil conditions (Kiers *et al.* 2007). This all advocates for selection under organic/low-input soil and environmental conditions in order to optimize symbiotic dinitrogen fixation.

Stress tolerance

Soybean is exposed to different types of abiotic stress depending on regional and seasonal conditions. In Central Europe, chilling tolerance at early developmental stages and at flowering time is important, whereas in Southern European environments, tolerance to high temperature and drought are most relevant. All of these types of abiotic stress tolerance are based on quantitative inheritance and require appropriate screening which applies to breeding for organic and conventional farming as well. Better adaptation to specific environmental conditions as mediated by progress in classifying soybean genotypes in terms of flowering/ maturity genes (Miladinović *et al.* 2018) might also contribute to mitigate abiotic stress.



Figure 3: Soybean yield loss (yield difference between weed-free and weed-pressure plots) for ten soybean genotypes across two seasons.

Harvest product quality

Significant proportions of the organic soybean harvest are utilized in food manufacturing. Thus, food-grade soybean quality characters centering on seed protein content, protein properties and soy health features might be of interest to soybean breeding (Vollmann & Menken 2012). In addition, the integration of food safety traits (Watanabe *et al.* 2018) would strengthen the position of organic soybean as a preferable raw material for soy-food production.

Genetic diversity needs and restrictions

Although a remarkable genetic diversity is preserved in soybean germplasm collections (Carter *et al.* 2004), the diversity utilized in breeding programs is rather small due to the need for crossing within 1-2 maturity groups only, a narrow genetic diversity in early maturity germplasm, and the limited number of GMO-free breeding programs at present. Thus, marker-assisted introgression of novel diversity and traits into elite breeding material of early maturity is an important task for maintaining diversity and yield progress.

Outlook to ECOBREED experiments

Individual activities in organic soybean breeding are small at present. Therefore, collaborative efforts between plant breeding institutions on a European level could increase the efficiency of cultivar development leading to significant innovations in organic soybean production. The Horizon 2020 project ECOBREED is focusing on increasing the availability of seed and varieties for the organic farming and low-input sector. In soybean, ECOBREED activities will include field trials with elite germplasm and genetic resources focusing on yield, competitiveness against weeds, tolerance to selected diseases and pests, grain quality, and chilling and drought tolerance. In addition, breeding materials will be genotyped, screening methods for nitrogen fixation will be elaborated, and seed multiplication experiments will be carried out utilizing cover crops and seed inoculants.

Conclusions

A growing demand for soybean cultivars suitable for organic farming is prompting for dedicated breeding activities to better meet the specific requirements of the organic sector. Characters such as weed tolerance/suppression or tolerance to abiotic and biotic stress factors could probably be covered in conventional programs with specific testing in organic farming environments, whereas the long-term goal of an improved di-nitrogen fixation would require a complete selection program under low-nitrogen conditions to get the full benefit of rhizobial symbiosis.

Acknowledgements

The research leading to these results has partly received funding from the European Union Horizon 2020 under the Grant Agreement number 771367, within the Research and Innovation action (RIA).

References

AMA (2018) Herbsterhebung 2018, Daten & Fakten der AgrarMarkt Austria für den Bereich Getreide und Ölsaaten. Stand November 2018. Agrar Markt Austria, Wien. [https://www.ama.at/getattachment/4f65aff7-2f4d-4303-9cc9-a86143063926/Herbsterhebung_2018.pdf; accessed 17 January 2019]

Bernet T, Recknagel J, Asam L, Messmer M (2016) Biosoja aus Europa, Empfehlungen für den Anbau und den Handel von biologischer Soja in Europa. FiBL Dossier No 5. FiBL, Frick, Schweiz & Donau Soja, Wien, Österreich.

Brückler M, Resl T, Reindl A (2017) Comparison of organic and conventional crop yields in Austria. Bodenkultur 68: 223-236. DOI: 10.1515/boku-2017-0018

Carkner MK, Entz MH (2017) Growing environment contributes more to soybean yield than cultivar under organic management. Field Crop Res 207: 42-51. DOI: 10.1016/j.fcr.2017.02.019

Carter TE Jr, Nelson RL, Sneller CH, Cui Z (2004) Genetic diversity in soybean. In: Boerma HR, Specht JE (eds), Soybeans: Improvement, production, and uses, 3rd ed, pp 303-416. Series Agronomy, No 16, Am Soc Agron, Madison, WI.

Chen YX, Zhou T, Pettinen P, Zou L, Wang K, Cui YQ, Heng NN, Xu KW (2015) Symbiotic matching, taxonomic position, and field assessment of symbiotically efficient rhizobia isolated from soybean root nodules in Sichuan, China. Biol Fertil Soils 51: 707-718. DOI: 10.1007/s00374-015-1019-V

Djordjević V, Malidža G, Vidić M, Milovac Ž, Šeremešić S (2016) Best practice manual for soya bean cultivation in the Danube region. Danube Soya, Vienna.

FAO-STAT (2019) FAO Statistical Database. FAO, Rome. [http:// www.fao.org/faostat/; accessed 17 January 2019]

Forum Bio- und Gentechnologie eV (2019) Gentechnisch veränderte Sojabohnen: Anbauflächen weltweit. Aachen, Deutschland. [https:// www.transgen.de; accessed 22 January 2019]

Horneburg B, Seiffert S, Schmidt J, Messmer MM, Wilbois K-P (2017) Weed tolerance in soybean: a direct selection system. Plant Breed 136: 372-378. DOI: 10.1111/pbr.12469

Jannink J-L, Jordan NR, Orf JH (2001) Feasibility of selection for high weed suppressive ability in soybean: Absence of tradeoffs between rapid initial growth and sustained later growth. Euphytica 120: 291-300. DOI: 10.1023/A:1017540800854

Kiers ET, Hutton MG, Denison RF (2007) Human selection and the relaxation of legume defences against ineffective rhizobia. Proc Roy Soc B Biol Sci 274: 3119-3126. DOI: 10.1098/rspb.2007.1187

Messmer M, Wilbois K-P, Baier C, Schäfer F, Arncken C, Drexler D, Hildermann I (2015) Plant breeding techniques, an assessment for organic farming. FiBL Dossier No 2, 2nd ed. FiBL, Frick, Switzerland.

Miladinović J, Ćeran M, Djordjević V, Balešević-Tubić S, Petrović K, Djukić V, Miladinović D (2018) Allelic variation and distribution of the major maturity genes in different soybean collections. Front Plant Sci 9:1286. DOI: 10. 3389/fpls.2018.01286

Place GT, Reberg-Horton SC, Carter TE, Brinton SR, Smith AN (2011) Screening tactics for identifying competitive soybean genotypes. Commun Soil Sci Plant Anal 42:2654-2665. DOI: 10.1080/00103624.2011.614040

Salvagiotti F, Cassman KG, Specht JE, Waters DT, Weiss A, Dobermann A (2008) Nitrogen uptake, fixation and response to fertilizer N in soybeans: A review. Field Crop Res 108: 1-13. DOI: 10.1016/j.fcr.2008.03.001

Schweiger P, Hofer M, Hartl W, Wanek W, Vollmann J (2012) N_2 fixation by organically grown soybean in Central Europe: Method of quantification and agronomic effects. Eur J Agron 41: 11-17. DOI: 10.1016/j.eja.2012.01.011

Vollmann J, Menken M (2012) Soybean: Breeding for organic farming systems. In: Lammerts van Bueren ET, Myers JR (eds), Organic crop breeding, pp 203-214. Wiley-Blackwell, Hoboken, NY. DOI: 10.1002/9781119945932.ch12

Vollmann J, Wagentristl H, Hartl W (2010) The effects of simulated weed pressure on early maturity soybeans. Eur J Agron 32: 243-248. DOI: 10.1016/j.eja. 2010.01.001

Vollmann J, Walter H, Sato T, Schweiger P (2011) Digital image analysis and chlorophyll metering for phenotyping the effects of nodulation in soybean. Comput Electron Agric 75: 190-195. DOI: 10.1016/j.compag.2010.11.003

Watanabe D, Lošák T, Vollmann J (2018) From proteomics to ionomics: Soybean genetic improvement for better food safety. Genetika 50: 333-350. DOI: 10.2298/GENSR1801333W

Weese DJ, Heath KD, Dentinger BTM, Lau JA (2015) Long-term nitrogen addition causes the evolution of less-cooperative mutualists. Evolution 69: 631-642. DOI: 10.1111/evo.12594

Zimmer S, Messmer M, Haase T, Piepho H-P, Mindermann A, Schulz H, Habekuß A, Ordon F, Wilbois K-P, Heß J (2016) Effects of soybean variety and *Bradyrhizobium* strains on yield, protein content and biological nitrogen fixation under cool growing conditions in Germany. Eur J Agron 72: 38-46. DOI: 10.1016/j.eja.2015.09.008 69. Tagung der Vereinigung der Pflanzenzüchter und Saatgutkaufleute Österreichs 19.-21. November 2018, HBLFA Raumberg-Gumpenstein, Irdning, Österreich © The author(s), 2019

ECOBREED – Increasing the Efficiency and COmpetitiveness of organic crop BREEDing. A new H2020 project on organic breeding of wheat, potato, soybean and buckwheat

Heinrich GRAUSGRUBER¹, Vladimir MEGLIČ², Pavol HAUPTVOGEL³, Peter DOLNIČAR², Kristina PETROVIĆ⁴, Dagmar JANOVSKÁ⁵, Paul BILSBORROW⁶, Werner VOGT-KAUTE⁷, Mario PAGNOTTA⁸, Antoaneta G. KUHAR²

¹ BOKU-University of Natural Resources and Life Sciences Vienna, Department of Crop Sciences, Konrad Lorenz Str. 24, 3430 Tulln, Austria

² Agricultural Institute of Slovenia, Hacquetova ulica 17, 1000 Ljubljana, Slovenia

- ³ National Agricultural and Food Centre, Research Institute of Plant Production, Bratislavská cesta 122, 921 68 Piešťany, Slovakia
- ⁴ Institute of Field and Vegetable Crops, Soybean Department, Maksima Gorkog 30, 21101 Novi Sad, Serbia
- ⁵ Crop Research Institute, Drnovská 507/73, 161 06 Praha 6 Ruzyně, Czech Republic
- ⁶ Newcastle University, School of Natural and Environmental Sciences, Newcastle upon Tyne, NE1 7RU, United Kingdom
- ⁷ Naturland Verband für ökologischen Landbau e.V., Steingrund 27, 97797 Wartmannsroth, Germany
- ⁸ University of Tuscia, DAFNE, Via San Camillo de Lellis s.n.c., 01100 Viterbo, Italy

(⊠) heinrich.grausgruber@boku.ac.at

Abstract

The Horizon 2020 project ECOBREED (www.ecobreed.eu) is coordinated by the Agricultural Institute of Slovenia and is carried out in collaboration with 25 partner organisations from 15 countries, *i.e.* Austria, China, Czech Republic, Germany, Greece, Italy, Poland, Spain, Hungary, Romania, Serbia, Slovakia, Slovenia, United Kingdom and the United States. ECOBREED will improve the availability of seed and varieties suitable for organic and low-input production. The activities will focus on four crop species, *i.e.* wheat (*Triticum aestivum* and *T. durum*), potato (*Solanum tuberosum*), soybean (*Glycine max*) and common buckwheat (*Fagopyrum esculentum*). Objectives of the project are among others the increase of breeding activities for organic and low-input crop production and the development of breeding material with improved stress resistance, resource use efficiency and quality.

In wheat, the focus lies on the development of bunt (*Tilletia caries, T. controversa*) resistant genotypes by marker-assisted selection (MAS), and the development of new 'populations' including genetic material from all involved partners following a multiparent advanced generation intercross scheme. Moreover, genotypic effects will be evaluated with respect to arbuscular mycorrhizal colonisation and *in vitro* root exudation of allelochemicals.

MAS will also be exploited in potato to select advanced clones with resistance against potato virus Y (PVY) and late blight (*Phytophtora infestans*) using the 'Sarpo Mira' genepool and other resistant germplasm. Moreover, different strategies for a sustainable control of Colorado potato beetle and wireworms will be evaluated under field conditions. Soybean will be tested for the competitiveness against weeds and for tolerance to naturally occurring biotic stresses and abiotic stress factors such as drought and chilling. MAS will be carried out for the identification of germplasm with low cadmium cadmium accumulation in seeds, supernodulation and drought tolerant biological nitrogen fixation, and resistance against *Sclerotinia sclerotiorum* and the *Diaporthe* complex.

Buckwheat genetic resources and breeding material will be screened for allelopathic activity and for genetic variation in phosphorus mineralisation. To identify the underlying genetic responses to abiotic (cold, drought, salinity) and biotic stresses together with quality traits, the germplasm will by genotyped by sequencing.

The specific tasks within the individual crops will be accompanied by the screening of a broad range of genetic material in all four crops in organic multi-environment trials. Based on these and previous results, new crossings among suitable parental genotypes will be carried out and distributed among partners for further selection. Thereby, ECOBREED will enhance the portfolio of wheat, potato, soybean and buckwheat varieties suitable for organic farming in Europe and identify traits and combinations of traits suited to organic and low-input farming.

Besides the breeding activities, farmer participatory trials will be established in different ecogeographical regions and training courses on *e.g.* advanced genotyping and phenotyping methods, and participatory plant breeding will be organised. Demonstration, testing and training activities within ECOBREED, in particular in EU Member States where the organic sector is less developed will help to fulfil this gap.

Grausgruber H, Meglič V, Hauptvogel P, Dolničar P, Petrović K, Janovská D, Bilsborrow P, Vogt-Kaute W, Pagnotta M, Kuhar AG (2019) ECOBREED – Increasing the Efficiency and COmpetitiveness of organic crop BREEDing. A new H2020 project on organic breeding of wheat, potato, soybean and buckwheat. In: Vereinigung der Pflanzenzüchter und Saatgutkaufleute Österreichs (Ed), 69. Jahrestagung 2018, 19-21 November, Raumberg-Gumpenstein, pp 57-58. BOKU-University of Natural Resources and Life Sciences, Vienna, Austria. ISBN-13: 978-3-900932-63-3



Figure 1: Wheat crosses at Selgen a.s., Stupice, Czech Republic, organic wheat variety testing near Murska Sobota, Slovenia, and potato clone multiplication and crosses at the Agricultural Institute of Slovenia, Infrastructure Center Jablje (clockwise from top left).

Keywords

Buckwheat \cdot disease resistance \cdot marker-assisted selection \cdot organic plant breeding \cdot potato \cdot soybean \cdot wheat

Acknowledgements

The research carried out within ECOBREED is receiving funding from the European Union Horizon 2020 under the Grant Agreement number 771367, within the Research and Innovation action (RIA).

References

Meglič V, Bilsborrow P, Janovska D, Grausgruber H, Dolničar P, Pagnotta M, Petrović K, Kuhar AG, Vogt-Kaute W, Hauptvogel P (2018) ECOBREED – increasing the efficiency and competitiveness of organic crop breeding. ICOAS '18, 6th International Conference on Organic Agriculture Sciences, Dynamic developments in organic research, Strengthening partnerships across Europe and beyond, 7-9 Nov, Eisenstadt, Austria, Book of Abstracts, p 31.

Descriptive and recommended variety lists in European countries and their scales

Michael OBERFORSTER¹, Ellie MARSHALL²

¹ Austrian Agency for Health and Food Safety (AGES), Institute for Sustainable Plant Production, Spargelfeldstr. 191, 1220 Vienna, Austria

² Agriculture and Horticulture Development Board (AHDB), Stoneleigh Park, Kenilworth, Warwickshire, CV8 2TL, United Kingdom

(⊠) michael.oberforster@ages.at

Abstract

In many European countries, institutes or authorities publish descriptive or recommended lists of varieties, or trial reports which provide information about the performance of agricultural plant varieties. Descriptive variety lists are published in Austria, Denmark, Luxembourg, Slovenia and Spain. Recommended lists of varieties are published in Ireland, the Netherlands and Switzerland. Institutions in Belgium, the Czech Republic, France, Germany, Poland and the United Kingdom publish both descriptive and recommended lists of varieties. In other countries, trial reports are published, which contain the results from one or more years of testing. Plant height and quality characteristics are often presented in the form of absolute values whilst yields are usually quoted relative to standard varieties. A scale that ranges from 1 to 9 is most commonly used to characterise agronomic variety traits. Different scales are used between countries, such as those that range from 0 to 9 (Spain), 2 to 9 (Netherlands), 1 to 10 (Norway), 0 to 100 (Sweden), ++++ to - - - (Switzerland) and +++ to - - -(Bavaria). Sometimes a verbal scale (e.g., resistant, susceptible) is used that has two to seven categories. However, the directions of the scales are not always the same; endpoints are either marked as 'very low to very strong' or 'very favourable to very unfavourable'. Diseases may be described using the opposing terms 'susceptibility to' or 'resistance to'. In Europe, there is a pronounced heterogeneity in the descriptions of valuable variety characteristics.

Keywords

Description \cdot post-registration trials \cdot recommendation \cdot variety list \cdot VCU testing

Introduction

New plant varieties are subject to statutory registration through official VCU (Value for Cultivation and Use) trials before they can be marketed in the EU. In order to define the characteristics of the varieties, field trials are carried out in important cultivation areas for the respective species and the quality of the harvested product is assessed. Many European countries also publish recommended or descriptive variety lists, whereby the aim is to objectively describe registered and commercially available plant varieties in terms of their yield potential, agronomic and quality traits, and resistance to pests and diseases. Given the diversity of varieties available on the market, these publications provide information that is valuable to farmers, breeders, seed companies, crop consultants, agricultural traders, processors, and other users throughout the agricultural industry.

Variety lists and trial reports

It has not yet been clearly defined how Descriptive Lists of varieties, Recommended Lists of varieties and Trial Reports should be distinguished from each other in terms of their content. In this paper, we use the name that is used by the institution which has published the material.

The **Descriptive Lists of varieties** contain all registered varieties of agricultural plant species (other than conservation varieties and varieties with a much older registration date) or a selection thereof. Sometimes varieties that have not been registered in the country concerned (EU varieties) are included. Descriptive lists of varieties provide a quick, comparative overview of the varieties, their characteristics, and value. Such lists exist, for example, in Austria, Belgium, Denmark, France, Germany, Poland and Spain.

A **Recommended List** usually contains a clearly limited set of varieties. The results are based on an extended network of field trials and have a higher level of detail, thus providing the industry with more information. The institution or expert panels decide which varieties are included in trial for a recommended list. In some instances, the application must be filed by the breeder or variety representative. Recommended variety lists are available in the United Kingdom, the Czech Republic, France, Germany, Ireland, the Netherlands, Poland, and Switzerland. In some German federal states and in Poland, the regional recommendation is limited to naming the variety denomination and the specific characteristics can be found in the descriptive list of the crop.

In Lithuania and Romania, the **National List** contains not only administrative data (*e.g.*, registration date, applicant, maintainer), but also information about the valuable characteristics of newly registered varieties which can be found in a separate chapter.

In a number of countries (Bulgaria, Croatia, Estonia, Finland, Hungary, Latvia, Lithuania, Norway, Romania, Serbia, Slovakia, Sweden), there is no descriptive or recommended list of varieties in the strict sense. The public receives information about the value of the varieties through **Trial Reports**. Sometimes, the results from several years of trials are summarised and the information is similar to that which appears in a descriptive list of varieties.

Oberforster M, Marshall E (2019) Descriptive and recommended variety lists in European countries and their scales. In: Vereinigung der Pflanzenzüchter und Saatgutkaufleute Österreichs (Ed), 69. Jahrestagung 2018, 19-21 November, Raumberg-Gumpenstein, pp 59-71. BOKU-University of Natural Resources and Life Sciences, Vienna, Austria. ISBN-13: 978-3-900932-63-3

Description by states of expression

Varieties are characterised by a number of traits, such as plant height, ripening time, lodging, tendency toward pre-harvest germination, susceptibility to diseases and pests, yield potential and quality characteristics. To make the documents easier to read and eliminate the influence of different test periods, the measured values are often converted into states of expression. These are calculated using average values from orthogonal datasets and adjusted average values on the basis of differences between the tested varieties and reference varieties that have been tested over many years. A scale that ranges from 1 to 9 is predominantly used, but the direction of the scale differs. Averaged and untransformed scoring values are sometimes used (Table 1). Instead of numbers, signatures (+, 0, -) or letters are also sometimes used. Verbalised scales are often used for potatoes. Furthermore, conflicting terms are in use for certain features. In particular, this applies to agronomic properties such as the sensitivity to winter kill, brackling, lodging, necking, grain shedding and pre-harvest germination. The opposing terms of 'resistance to' these characteristics is also used. The use of the phrases 'resistance to' instead of a 'tendency toward' or 'susceptibility to' can require different scoring methods to obtain the same result with a scale that ranges from 'very low' to 'very strong'.

Descriptive or recommended lists of varieties contain data collected over two to more than ten years. In terms of diseases, and especially mildew and rust fungi, new races may change the resistance of the varieties to the particular disease. In such cases, results that have been collected over short periods (one to three years) are used for these classifications. Separate assessments are sometimes made if disease data are available from natural environments or inoculated trials.

Table 1: Characterization of Variety Characteristics in Descriptive Lists, Recommended Lists and Trial Reports of European Countries

Country	List ¹	Diseases ²	Presentation, description and scales
Austria (until Oct 2018)	DL	S	Absolute values, relative yield, differences, 1 = very favourable (<i>e.g.</i> very low susceptibil- ity, very high yield), 9 = very unfavourable (<i>e.g.</i> very high susceptibility, very low yield), verbal scales
Austria (since Nov 2018)	DL	S	Absolute values, relative yield, differences, $1 = very low degree (e.g. very low susceptibil-ity, very low yield), 9 = very high degree (e.g. very high susceptibility, very high yield), verbal scales$
United Kingdom	DL, RL	R	Absolute values, relative yield, differences, %-scale (lodging), 1 = very low degree (<i>e.g.</i> very low resistance), 9 = very high degree (<i>e.g.</i> very high resistance)
Belgium	DL, RL	R	Absolute values, relative values (plant height, yield), 1 = very low degree (<i>e.g.</i> very low resistance), 9 = very high degree (<i>e.g.</i> very high resistance)
Bulgaria	TR	I	Absolute values, 1 = very unfavourable, 9 = very favourable
Croatia	TR	I	Absolute values, %-scale (lodging), 1 = very favourable (<i>e.g.</i> no lodging, no disease infes- tation), 9 = very unfavourable (<i>e.g.</i> very heavy lodging, very severe disease infestation)
Czech Republic	DL, RL	R	Absolute values, relative yield, differences, $1 = very low degree (e.g. very low resistance), 9 = very high degree (e.g. very high resistance), signatures of +, 0, - (falling number stability)$
Denmark	DL	S	Absolute values, relative yield, 1 = low degree (<i>e.g.</i> very low susceptibility), 9 = very high degree (<i>e.g.</i> very high susceptibility)
Estonia	TR	I	Absolute values, 1 = very favourable (<i>e.g.</i> no lodging, no disease infestation), 9 = very unfavourable (<i>e.g.</i> very heavy lodging, very severe disease infestation), reversed scale on winter damages
Finland	TR	I	Absolute values, relative yield, %-scale (winter damages, lodging, disease infestation)
France	DL, RL	R <i>,</i> S	Absolute values, relative yield, differences, %-scale (some diseases), 1 = very unfavoura- ble (<i>e.g.</i> very low resistance), 9 = very favourable (<i>e.g.</i> very high resistance), four-step and six-step verbally scales
Germany	DL	S	1 = very low degree (<i>e.g.</i> very low susceptibility), 9 = very high degree (<i>e.g.</i> very high susceptibility), signatures of ++ to (falling number stability), verbal scales (partly with potatoes)
Bavaria	DL, RL	R	Absolute values, relative yield, +++ (very good, very high, very early, very short) to (very bad, very low, very late, very tall), for organic farming reversed scale on plant height (+++ = very tall, = very short), verbal scales
Hesse, North Rhine- Westphalia	DL, RL	S	Absolute values, relative yield, 1 = very low degree (<i>e.g.</i> very low susceptibility), 9 = very high degree (<i>e.g.</i> very high susceptibility)
Further German Federal States	DL, RL	R, (S)	Absolute values, relative yield, +++ (very good, very high, very short, or above average) to (very bad, very low, very tall, or below average), for organic farming reversed scale on plant height (+++ = very tall, = very short), 1 = very low degree, 9 = very high degree, verbal scales

Table 1: continued

Country	List ¹	Diseases ²	Presentation, description and scales
Hungary	TR	I	Absolute values, relative yield, differences, %-scale, 1 = very unfavourable (<i>e.g.</i> very severe disease infestation), 9 = very favourable (<i>e.g.</i> no disease infestation)
Ireland	(DL), RL	R	Absolute values, relative yield, 1 = very unfavourable (<i>e.g.</i> very low resistance), 9 = very fa- vourable (<i>e.g.</i> very high resistance)
Latvia	TR	R	Absolute values, relative yield, %-scale (some diseases), 1 = very unfavourable (<i>e.g.</i> very low resistance, very low quality), 9 = very favourable (<i>e.g.</i> very high resistance, very high quality)
Lithuania	TR	R	Absolute values, 1 = very unfavourable (<i>e.g.</i> very low resistance), 9 = very favourable (<i>e.g.</i> very high resistance)
Luxembourg	DL	R, S	1 = very low degree (<i>e.g.</i> very low resistance), 9 = very high degree (<i>e.g.</i> very high resistance), on diseases of potatoes 1 = very low susceptibility, 9 = very high susceptibility, verbal scales
The Netherlands	RL	R	Absolute values, relative values (plant height, yield), 2 = very unfavourable (<i>e.g.</i> very low re- sistance), 9 = very favourable (<i>e.g.</i> very high resistance)
Norway	TR	R	Absolute values, relative yield, differences, %-scale, 1 = very high growth, very low resistance, very low quality, 10 = very short growth, very high resistance, very high quality
Poland	DL, RL	R	Absolute values, relative yield, 1 = very unfavourable (<i>e.g.</i> very low resistance, very low quali- ty), 9 = very favourable (<i>e.g.</i> very high resistance, very high quality)
Romania	TR	Ι	Absolute values, 1 = very favourable (<i>e.g.</i> no disease infestation), 9 = very unfavourable (<i>e.g.</i> very severe disease infestation), reversed scale on turf grasses (1 = very weak, 9 = very favourable)
Serbia	TR	I	Absolute values, 1 = very favourable (<i>e.g.</i> no lodging), 9 = very unfavourable (<i>e.g.</i> very heavy lodging), reversed scale on legumes and forage crops
Slovakia	TR	S	Absolute values, 1 = very unfavourable (<i>e.g.</i> very high susceptibility), 9 = very favourable (<i>e.g.</i> resistant)
Slovenia	DL, TR	I, R, S	Relative yield, 1 = very favourable (e.g., no disease infestation), 9 = very favourable (e.g. very severe disease infestation), also reversed scale (1 = very high susceptibility, 9 = very low susceptibility), further scales with 4 to 10 steps, +++ (very good, very high) to (very bad, very low), verbal scales
Spain	DL, TR	I, R	Absolute values, relative yield, %-scale (lodging, diseases), 0 = no disease infestation, 9 = very severe disease infestation, verbal scales
Sweden	TR	I	Absolute values, relative yield, %-scale (winter damages, lodging, diseases)
Switzerland	RL	R	Absolute values, ++++ = excellent, +++ = very good to = very poor, on forage crops 1 = favourable (<i>e.g.</i> very high speed of development in spring, very high yield, very high resistance to diseases) to 9 = unfavourable, verbal scales

¹ DL = Descriptive List, RL = Recommended List, TR = Trial Report

² I = Infestation, R = Resistance to, S = Susceptibility to

Austria

Development of the Descriptive List of Varieties

The Seed Act of 1937 (*Saatgutgesetz* 1937, Federal Law Gazette No. 236/1937), Plant Breeding Act of 1946 (*Pflanzenzuchtgesetz* 1946, No. 34/1947) and the Seed Law Amendment of 1964 (*Saatgutgesetznovelle* 1964, No. 195/1964) did not explicitly require the variety traits to be systematically published. Nevertheless, a description of agricultural crop varieties (Bauer 1961, Bundesanstalt 1962) was published early on and nine supplements to this publication were issued up until 1970. The new editions (Bundesanstalt 1971, 1986) were issued in the form of ring binders with insert sheets. One disadvantage of these variety descriptions was the fixed rating used. Additional results or altered susceptibility to a disease could only be communicated in a new edition.

Therefore, an annual summary of results from many years of trials was published (Bundesanstalt 1965-1994, BFL 1995-1996). The

states of expression, which ranged from 1 to 9, were regularly adjusted and current yield results were published in this summary.

Plant varieties are registered by the Federal Office for Food Safety (BAES) after undergoing two or three years of trials. The Austrian Agency for Health and Food Safety (AGES) is responsible for conducting these experimental trials. The VCU trials involve breeders, seed companies, and other stakeholders. The Seed Act of 1997 (Saatgutgesetz 1997, No. 72/1997, § 65 (3)) states that the characteristics of the varieties that are essential for their cultivation and suitability under certain soil and climatic conditions need to be included in a descriptive list of varieties (§ 65 (3)). The Descriptive List of Varieties (BFL 1997-2002, AGES 2003-2019) is updated and published annually. It contains information on almost all varieties of cereals, maize, sorghum, grain legumes, oil plants, beets, potato, forage crops, and catch crops that have been approved in Austria. It contains several years of the results from official VCU trials and other variety trials. Regional yield performance results are presented for some plant species and a limited set (of varieties). As a result, the Austrian descriptive list of varieties also contains information that appears in a recommended list.

Former meaning of the states of expression

The descriptions of agricultural crop varieties (Bundesanstalt 1962) included descriptions of valuable characteristics, assessed on the basis of a nine-step word scale. The following edition (Bundesanstalt 1971) and the summary of experimental results from multiple years that was issued from 1972 and on used a numeric scale. On this scale, the rating of 1 was the most economically favourable and the rating of 9 was the most unfavourable characteristic of the feature. A variety that matured very early and displayed very short height received a rating of 1 (Hron 1976). However, the associated verbal meaning has changed over time. For example, a rating of 2 initially meant that the variety displayed early maturity, short height, and a high yield, and a rating of 8 indicated that the variety displayed late maturity, tall height, and a low yield. In later years, however, respective ratings of 3 and 7 were awarded for these characteristics. Furthermore, composite assessments such as 'high to medium' and 'medium to high' (assigned ratings of 3 and 4, respectively, regarding yield) and 'strong to medium' and 'medium to strong' (assigned ratings of 7 and 6, respectively, regarding susceptibility to diseases) had different meanings up until 1998.

Limitations of the previous states of expression

The rating of '1 = very favourable, 9 = very unfavourable' was easy to apply when assessing variety characteristics such as winter kill, brackling/lodging, stem breakage, diseases, yield, hectoliter weights, or flour yield and so on. In these cases, there was no doubt about what was positive or negative. With respect to other characteristics, however, this scheme could be applied less effectively or only under certain conditions. For example, a short height was termed 'generally favourable'. With soybean, however, this feature can contribute to more grain loss. Current spring durum wheat and spring barley varieties consistently have quite short

stems. A spring barley variety that is given a plant height rating of 2 (very short to short) shows no advantage over a variety with a height rating of 4 (short to medium). Medium- or long-stemmed cereal varieties are more suitable for cultivation under organic conditions or on farms which need the straw. Silage maize, rye for fodder purposes, or triticale for biogas use that display slightly longer stem-growth is even favourable. Early maturity, indicated by a low rating, is not as valuable as low susceptibility to disease, because the growing season in autumn can be exploited for maize, soybean, sunflower, or potato to obtain extra yield. A higher protein content is advantageous in bread wheat, durum wheat, feed barley, and feed triticale, but brewing cereals or wheat for producing starch or biscuits should contain less protein. Rye varieties with very high falling numbers and amylogram values maintain their quality longer in weather that promotes pre-harvest germination and are popular with farmers. However, rye varieties with a falling number of 150 to 200 s and a viscosity of 600 to 800 amylogram units (AU) are optimal for baking. Millers and bakers are dissatisfied with the values of more than 300 s and more than 1500 AU, respectively, which frequently occur when the variety ripens

under dry conditions. Doughs from baking wheat varieties should bind an amount of water that is above average and remain stable during kneading. In contrast, a wheat variety used to make biscuits requires a low capacity of absorb water and low stability during kneading. Extremes values of dough extensibility and resistance to extension are usually undesirable and, instead, these values should be optimal balanced. If a malting barley had a very high Kolbach number, it was given a rating of 1 (generally favourable). However, most master brewers now prefer to have a medium-high amount of nitrogen in the wort (*i.e.*, 39 to 42%). Potato varieties for food need the highest possible number of medium-sized tubers, but starch potatoes can be large. An earlyseason potato should not be negatively assessed for having a low starch content.

New scheme

One can avoid these difficulties by avoiding the phrases 'generally favourable' or 'generally unfavourable' in variety descriptions. In November 2018, the rule was changed to '1 = to a very low degree, 9 = to a very high degree' (Table 2). The new scheme describes the varieties, but also allows users of the variety list to make judgements according to their own requirements (Oberforster 2019). Depending on the characteristic or use of the variety, a degree that is assessed as low (low rating) may be favourable or unfavourable, and the same consideration applies to a degree that is assessed as strong (high rating). Regarding yield traits, nitrogen efficiency and many quality characteristics, this requires altering the scale direction. About half of the characteristics of common wheat, durum wheat, and malting barley are now assessed using the opposite scale. In the case of maize, the characteristics of early development, grain yield and dry matter yield, and proportion of cobs are affected. Early development, grain yield, thousand grain weight, and oil content of sunflower and oil pumpkin, as well as the protein content of soybean, are now scaled differently. The direction of the scale has had to be adjusted for individual characteristics in other plant species as well.

Table 2: Austrian 2019 descriptive list of varieties for winter wheat (selected varieties and traits). Scale: 1 = very low degree (very early, very short, very low tendency toward lodging, very low susceptibility to diseases etc.); 9 = very high degree (very late, very tall, very high tendency toward lodging, very strong susceptibility to diseases etc.)

				teno sus	denc cept	y to tibili	ward ty to	ł,			Quality traits								
Variety	Maturity	Plant height	Lodging	Sprouting	Powdery mildew	Leaf rust	Yellow rust	Fusarium head blight	Grain yield, Pannonian region	Grain yield, Humid region	Thousand grain weight	Test weight	Crude protein content	Falling number	Water absorption of dough	Farinograph quality number	Dough energy	Baking volume	Baking quality group
High quality	whe	eat																	
Arnold	2	6	5	4	4	5	5	4	3	3	6	9	9	5	9	8	8	8	8
Aurelius	4	4	3	2	3	4	3	6	7	6	6	8	5	7	4	7	9	7	7
Bernstein	7	6	3	4	6	7	1	4	7	6	7	7	6	7	6	7	8	8	8
Energo	4	6	4	3	3	6	4	4	5	5	6	7	6	5	8	6	7	7	7
Bread whea	t																		
Siegfried	7	4	3	5	3	6	2	4	8	9	6	5	3	6	4	3	4	4	4
Spontan	5	4	2	6	3	6	2	4	-	8	6	6	5	5	8	5	6	4	4

Table 3: United Kingdom – AHDB (2018) Recommended List, winter wheat 2019/20 (selected varieties and traits). On the 1 to 9 scales, high figures indicate that a variety shows the character to a high degree (*e.g.* high resistance). Comparisons of varieties across regions are not valid. [], limited data; @, believed to carry the *Pch1* Rendezvous resistance gene to eyespot but this has not been verified in Recommended List tests; R, believed to be resistant to orange wheat blossom midge (OWBM) but this has not been verified in Recommended List tests.

	KWS Zyatt	Skyfall	KWS Trinity	RGT Illustrious	Crusoe
End-use group		nab	im Grou	.p 1	
Scope of recommendation	UK	UK	UK	UK	UK
Fungicide-treated grain yield (% treated control)					
United Kingdom (11.2 t/ha)	101	99	98	97	97
East region (11.2 t/ha)	100	99	98	97	96
West region (11.3 t/ha)	101	99	97	98	97
North region (11.2 t/ha)	99	98	98	94	93
Untreated grain yield (% treated control)					
United Kingdom (11.2 t/ha)	86	81	76	83	74
Agronomic features					
Resistance to lodging without PGR (1-9)	7	8	8	7	7
Resistance to lodging with PGR (1-9)	8	8	8	8	8
Height without PGR (cm)	83	82	81	88	81
Ripening (days +/- JB Diego, -ve = earlier)	0	0	+1	+1	+1
Resistance to sprouting (1-9)	[5]	5	6	[6]	6
Disease resistance					
Mildew (1-9)	7	5	8	6	6
Yellow rust (1-9)	8	5	9	9	9
Brown rust (1-9)	6	8	7	6	3
Septoria nodorum (1-9)	[6]	[6]	[6]	[6]	6
Septoria tritici (1-9)	6.4	5.9	5.5	6.1	6.5
Eyespot (1-9)	7@	6@	5	6@	5
Fusarium ear blight (1-9)	6	7	6	6	6
Orange wheat blossom midge	-	R	-	-	-

United Kingdom

The UK National Lists are maintained by the Plant Variety Rights and Seeds Office (PVS), which is part of the Animal and Plant Health Agency (APHA). Recommended or described variety lists are produced for most major crops (cereals and oilseeds, sugar beet, grass and clover, and forage maize and amenity grasses) in the UK, delivered by levy boards and industry in partnership with plant breeders through the British Society of Plant Breeders (BSPB). The Recommended Lists for cereals and oilseeds are produced by the UK levy board, Agriculture and Horticulture Development Board (AHDB), in partnership with the UK plant breeders and end-users (BSPB, Maltsters' Association of Great Britain (MAGB), and the National Association of British and Irish Flour Millers (nabim). Approximately 400 UK cereal and oilseed trials and additional quality tests are used to establish whether a new variety has a balance of features likely to give an economic benefit to the industry. The balance of features covers agronomic, quality, end use and yield traits, and many of these are presented on a scaled system (Table 3). A 1 to 9 scale is widely used to describe agronomic traits, where 9 indicates the variety shows the trait to a high degree (e.g., high resistance). This scale is used to describe the lodging and disease resistance across all recommended cereal and oilseed recommended lists, whereas due to a more limited dataset in the descriptive lists (spring linseed, spring oilseed rape, winter rye, winter triticale), lodging data are presented as percentages and disease data cannot be presented. Further agronomic traits specific to particular crops are also described on this 1 to 9 scale resistance to sprouting (winter wheat), resistance to brackling

(spring barley), stem stiffness (winter oilseed rape), earliness of flowering (spring and winter oilseed rape, spring linseed) and shortness of stem (spring oilseed rape). The oilseed crops also present earliness of maturity on a 1 to 9 scale, whereas the cereal crops present maturity as the ripening difference in days to a control variety.

Belgium

In Belgium, the Institute for Agricultural and Fisheries Research (ILVO, Flanders) and the Walloon Agricultural Research Center (CRA-W) are responsible for carrying out variety testing. Experimental data from both regions are combined annually in a final report, which forms the basis for the registration of varieties. ILVO summarises the results for maize, fodder beets, industrial chicory, grasses and clover species and catch crops, CRA-W those for potato, wheat, barley, oats and spelt. A descriptive list of varieties is created for cereals, fodder beets, grasses and clover. This can be extended to create a recommended list for silage and grain maize. To describe some traits, scoring data (scale 1 to 9) is averaged. The score of 9 represents the maximum expression (e.g. very late maturity, very good standing ability, resistant to diseases) and the score of 1, the lowest expression (e.g. very early maturity, very low standing ability, very low disease resistance). Maturity is expressed as number of days earlier/later than a reference variety. The yield is reported in relative percentages and plant height, and the quality traits are reported in absolute values.

Bulgaria

The Executive Agency for Variety Testing, Field Inspection and Seed Control (IASAS) is responsible for carrying out the variety approval procedure. Some of the trials are run by private experimental farms. The official VCU trial takes 2 to 4 years, depending on the plant species and the testing conditions. A national catalogue (Lists A and B) is issued annually. A bulletin is issued that shows the characteristics of newly registered varieties and compares them to those of standard varieties. There is neither a descriptive nor a recommended list of varieties. A scale that ranges from 1 (very unfavourable) to 9 (very favourable) is often used during the variety testing.

Croatia

The Croatian Agency for Agriculture and Food (CAAF) is responsible for variety testing and maintaining the National Variety List. Two years are scheduled for the official trials. The recommended list of varieties is recognised by the Croatian legal system. Applicants need to file an application for their variety to appear on this list, and they cover all associated costs. This is a new system and applications have yet to be received. The post-registration trials on cereals started in the autumn of 2017. The original values are presented for the plant height and quality characteristics in the trial report on winter wheat. Otherwise, a scale that ranges from 1 (no lodging, no disease infestation) to 9 (very heavy lodging, very degree of severe disease infestation) is used for other characteristics.

Table 4: Czech Republic 2018 Recommended list for winter wheat (Selected varieties and traits, 2014-2017). Scale: 1 = very susceptible, 9 = resistant; quality group: E = elite wheat, A = quality wheat; falling number stability: + = high, 0 = medium, - = low.

Variety	Standardized mean (t.ha ⁻¹)	Bernstein	Genius	Annie	Pankratz	Fakir
Quality Group		E	E	E	А	A
Fungicide-untreated grain yield (%	treated contro	I)				
Maize region	8.57	85	90	84	93	92
Sugarbeet region Bohemia	10.50	81	81	79	86	84
Fungicide-treated grain yield (% tr	eated control)					
Maize region	9.26	93	97	92	101	99
Sugarbeet region Bohemia	12.28	96	94	92	102	99
Zeleny sedimentation value (ml)		64	60	63	53	66
Protein content (%)		14.3	13.7	14.5	12.8	13.7
Falling number (s)		386	399	415	390	395
Falling number stability		+	0	0	0	-
Test weight (g/l)		826	807	821	810	806
Resistance to lodging (9-1)		7	6	7	8	6.5
Plant height (cm)		111	94	103	95	95
Thousand grain weight (g)		47	42	48	38	44
Powdery mildew - leaf		6	7.5	5	7	7
Leaf rust		7	5.5	6	7.5	6
Yellow rust (natural infection)		7	7	7	5	8
Yellow rust (inoculation test)		9	8	9	9	9
Year of listing		2015	2014	2014	2015	2013

Table 5: Denmark 2018 Descriptive list of varieties for winter wheat (selected varieties and traits). Scale: 1 = very low degree (very early, very short, very low tendency toward lodging, very low susceptibility to diseases etc.), 9 = very high degree (very late, very tall, very high tendency toward lodging, very strong susceptibility to diseases etc.).

			ten sus	dency ceptik	y towa bility t	ard, to		_	Quality traits					
Variety	Ripening	Length of straw	Lodging	Powdery mildew	Yellow rust	Brown rust	Septoria blotch		Weight of kernel	Weight per litre of kernels	Crude prrotein content	Sedimentation value	Falling number	
Benchmark	5	8	1	5	6	4	6		7	5	4	4	6	
Creator	5	7	1	4	6	5	3		7	3	5	6	7	
Hereford	5	5	2	6	2	7	7		6	5	4	3	5	
Jensen	5	6	1	3	3	5	6		6	7	1	5	7	
Kalmar	4	5	2	6	2	2	4		3	5	3	4	3	
KWS Blanche	4	1	1	7	2	4	7		3	6	6	7	4	

Czech Republic

The Central Institute for Supervising and Testing in Agriculture (ÚKZÚZ) is responsible for variety testing and provides recommended lists of varieties of winter wheat, spring wheat, winter barley, spring barley, winter triticale, oat, field pea, soybean, winter oilseed rape, spring rape, flax, sugar beet, and potato. This system of Recommended Lists has existed since 2003, and only Descriptive Lists were available from 1994 to 2003. The results from the last two to four years are included. Because two-thirds of the results are obtained from the official VCU trials, EU varieties are currently excluded from these lists. In 2018, 122 winter wheat varieties appeared in the national list, of which 33 varieties were recommended. Independent recommendations are made for winter wheat, spring wheat, and spring barley that are cultivated on organic farms. A descriptive list of varieties is available for winter rye, spring triticale, and naked oats as well as for lupine, poppy, mustard, and cumin. However, brochures on cereals (ÚKZÚZ 2018), grain legumes, and oil plants mostly contain all of these species. To describe the varieties, a scale that ranges from 1-9 is used. A high number indicates a strong expression of the characteristic (high degree of resistance to lodging and diseases), and a low number, a low expression (low degree of resistance to lodging and diseases). The yield performance of the particular variety is compared to that of a control variety. Plant height and many quality characteristics are indicated in the form of average values (Table 4).

Denmark

In Denmark, the TystofteFoundation oversees variety testing and variety approval. This foundation is private and was founded in 2015. VCU testing is performed over two years except for forage grasses, which are tested over a three year period. Two descriptive lists of varieties (agricultural plants, amenity grasses) are published. In the first section of the agricultural list, yield performances are reported relative to checks. For most species, checks are composed of variety mixtures with three to four components. Results are reported for all trial years of presently listed varieties. For winter wheat and spring barley, results from the past 13 years are included. The yield values from the last 11 years are listed for winter barley, rye and oats and from the last 9 years for maize and winter oilseed rape. Agronomic traits and quality characteristics of the varieties are scored using a scale that ranges from 1 to 9, with 1 representing a very low expression and 9, a very pronounced expression of the studied character (Table 5). In the second section, results are given in absolute values for newly tested varieties. Disease tolerance is given by degree of disease infestation measured by percentage of infested leaf area (TystofteFonden 2018).

Table 6: France 2018 Descriptive list of varieties for winter wheat (selected varieties and traits). Scale: 1 = very late, very short, very low resistance to lodging and diseases, very low hectolitre weight or protein content; 9 = very early, very tall, resistant to lodging and diseases, very high hectolitre weight or protein content; Alveograph values: W = dough energy (area under curve), P = dough strength (maximum resistance/pressure), L = dough extensibility; quality class: BPS, superior bread-making quality; BP, bread-making quality.

					Re	esistan	ce to)		Quality traits						
Variety	Early heading	Plant height	Lodging	Powdery mildew	Yellow rust	Septoria tritici blotch	Brown rust	Fusarium head blight	DON accumulation	Test weight	Protein content	W-value (11.5% protein content)	P/L-value (11.5% protein content)	Quality class		
Arezzo	7	3.5	6	6	7	6	3	5.5	4.5	8	6	180-235	0.9-2.0	BPS		
Boregar	6	3	5.5	6	5	6	2	(3)	4	5	5	165-175	0.6-1.4	BPS		
Cellule	6.5	3.5	7.5	6	6	6.5	3	5	4.5	8	4	185-225	1.4-3.0	BPS		
Fructidor	6	3.5	6.5	7	7	6.5	7	5	5.5	7	4	175-200	0.9-1.4	BPS		
Rubisko	6.5	3.5	6.5	6	7	5.5	8	5.5	5	5	5	135-195	0.3-0.7	BP		
Terroir	5.5	3	7.5	7	8	5	7	4	4.5	5	4	165-200	0.4-1.5	BPS		

Estonia

The Estonian Agricultural Board is responsible for maintaining the official plant variety register. The VCU trials last 2 years and are organised by the ARC Viljandi Variety Testing Center as are the post-registration trials. A Recommended List that had been established in 2004 was discontinued in 2014 due to lack of success, in part due to seed availability of the most valuable varieties. Trial reports are published, and the plant height, yield and quality characteristics are presented in absolute figures. A scale that ranges from 1 (no lodging, no disease symptoms) to 9 (complete lodging, very strong disease symptoms) is in use. To describe winter hardiness, the scale is reversed (1 = poor winter hardiness, 9 = very good winter hardiness).

Finland

The Plant Variety Boards is responsible for the official approval of a variety on The Finnish Food Authority's (Ruokavirasto) recommendation. The trials are conducted by Natural Resources Institute Finland (Luke) in collaboration with plant breeding companies and other institutions. After a trial period of two years (for annual plants) or three years (for perennial fodder plants), a variety can be included in the official catalogue of varieties. There is no descriptive or recommended variety list. The website of the Natural Resources Institute provides information on the results of the VCU trials and supplementary tests. Plant height, yield and quality are reported as values, and winter damages, lodging and disease infestation are reported as percentages. There is no conversion into states of expression. The results are analysed with linear mixed models, which use all available data in the same analysis and so all varieties can be directly compared with each other.

France

Plant varieties are registered by the French Ministry of Agriculture which base its decisions on the expertise of the CTPS (The Permanent Technical Committee for Plant Breeding). The VCU trials take two years for most species, are coordinated by GEVES (Variety and Seed Study and Control Group), and are conducted partly by GE-

VES, INRA (French National Institute for Agricultural Research), technical institutes (Arvalis, Terres Inovia, ITB), and plant breeders. Following their registration, the 'Arvalis - Institut du vegetal' examines varieties of cereals, maize, sorghum, potatoes, fodder plants, flax, and tobacco and assesses their regional performance and suitability for different production systems. The Institute Terres Inovia is responsible for assessing oilseeds, grain legumes and industrial hemp, and the Technique de la Betterave (ITB) for assessing sugar beets. These institutes publish descriptive or recommended lists of varieties and the results of applied research. The wheat varieties are often classified using a scale of 1 to 9. The rate of 1 usually indicates the unfavourable expression of a trait (e.g. very poor winter hardiness, very

low resistance to lodging or diseases, very low hectolitre weight, very low protein content) and the rate of 9 indicates the favourable expression of a trait (e.g. very good winter hardiness, very high resistance to lodging and diseases, very high hectolitre weight, very high protein content). Early heading, early maturity and high growth are also given high scores, while late maturity and short growth are given low scores. Some quality properties (alveogram W-value and P/L-value) are presented in the form of absolute values (Table 6), and the grain yield is presented in the form of a relative percent (Arvalis 2018). The susceptibility of maize to stalk breakage and fusarium ear rot is expressed as a percentage. A scale that ranges from 1 (unfavourable) to 9 (favourable) is used to assess juvenile development and susceptibility to Helminthosporium turcicum. The winter oilseed rape recommended variety list uses a four-step scale (ranging from very insensitive to sensitive) to assess lodging and most diseases. Plant height, maturity, oil content and glucosinolate content of the varieties are verbally characterised. The disease susceptibility of sunflower (Phomopsis, Verticillium, Sclerotinia) is described using a six-step scale (ranging from resistant to sensitive), and the oil content is assessed using a verbal scale (ranging from low to very high). Lodging and Sclerotinia susceptibility of soybean varieties are assessed as in rapeseed. To characterise plant height (short to high) and protein content (low to very high), verbal scales are used. A scale that ranges from 1 (late, low, sensitive, unfavourable) to 9 (early, high resistant, favourable) is in use to assess many characteristics of potato. There are only two gradations (sensitive, resistant) used to assess susceptibility to some viruses. The tuber yield is expressed relative to that of a standard variety.

Germany

The official variety testing system used in Germany is bipartite. While the Federal Plant Variety Office is responsible for variety testing for the purposes of variety approval, Federal States are responsible for variety testing for regional variety recommendation. Depending on the species, the VCU trials take 2 to 3 years. Based on the Seed Act of 2004 (*Saatgutverkehrsgesetz* 2004, § 56), the Federal Plant Variety Office publishes several Descriptive Lists

Table 7: Germany 2018 Descriptive list of varieties for winter wheat (selected varieties and traits). Scale: 1 = very low degree (very early, very short, very low winter damages and lodging, very low susceptibility to diseases etc.), 9 = very high degree (very late, very tall, very high winter damages and lodging, very strong susceptibility to diseases etc.); falling number stability: ++ = very good, + = good, o = medium, - = poor, - = very poor; baking quality group: E = elite wheat, A = Quality wheat, B = Bread wheat, C = Feed wheat.

	-	tendency towards, susceptibility to						Yield	Yield characteristics				Quality traits						
Variety	Maturity	Plant height	Winter damage	Lodging	Powdery mildew	Yellow rust	Leaf rust	Fusarium head blight	Thousand grain weight	Grain yield, intensity level 1	Grain yield, intensity level 2		Falling number	Falling number stability	Crude protein content	Water absorption	Flour yield T550	Baking volume	Baking quality group
Akteur	5	6	5	5	8	9	5	4	5	1	3		8	+	8	4	7	8	Е
Apostel	5	4	-	5	1	2	4	4	7	8	6		7	o	4	3	7	7	А
Benchmark	5	4	6	4	2	4	7	5	4	7	8		7	o	2	3	7	4	В
Elixer	6	5	4	6	4	3	4	4	4	8	7		6	o	3	1	5	4	С
Julius	6	5	3	4	4	4	4	5	6	6	6		8	+	4	8	8	6	А
RGT Reform	6	3	4	4	3	4	3	4	6	7	7		9	+	4	3	7	6	А

of Varieties: cereals, maize, oil and fiber plants, legumes, beets, catch crops (Bundessortenamt 2018); potato; forage grasses, sainfoin, clover, alfalfa; amenity grasses; vines; and other species in irregular intervals.

By incorporating the results collected by the federal states (chambers of agriculture, regional institutions, etc.), variety descriptions are also available for varieties that are not registered in Germany. The properties are characterised using a scale that ranges from 1 to 9 (Table 7). Until the beginning of the 1970s (Bundessortenamt 1972), the rating of 1 was the best rating, and the rating of 9 was the worst rating for a feature characteristic. Since 1973, a low rating is given for a low expression of a feature characteristic, and a high rating for a strong expression, while a middle rating is given the rating of 5 (Bundessortenamt 1974). The phrase 'tendency toward' is used with reference to some agronomic traits, and the phrase 'susceptibility to' is used with reference to diseases and pests. The falling number stability of wheat is described in five grades (++ to - -). In the case of cereals, the grain yield and - in the case of sugar beet - the sugar yield and the sugar content are described using two intensity levels. Winter barley, spring barley, winter wheat, and oats are classified separately for organic farming.

Recommended varieties and rating scales of German federal states

To be able to select suitable varieties, the results of VCU trials, federal state variety trials, and the experience of local crop experts are essential. Classifications that deviate from the norm are published in the national variety list issued by the Federal Plant Variety Office in most federal states. This is based on a stronger weighting of the results collected in the region. In the federal states of Schleswig-Holstein, Lower Saxony, Rhineland-Palatinate, Mecklenburg-Vorpommern, Brandenburg, Saxony-Anhalt, Thuringia, Saxony, and Bavaria, signatures (+, 0, -) are used for some features, often with fewer gradations, instead of the scale 1 to 9. In Baden-Württemberg, the characteristic values are reproduced verbatim, but in abbreviated forms. In North Rhine-Westphalia

and Hesse, some agronomic features and diseases are combined with the phrases 'tendency toward' or 'susceptibility to'. Otherwise, the opposing phrase 'resistance to' are mostly in use. The yields are always reported by relative percentage. In 2018, the Bavarian State Research Center for Agriculture described 32 out of the more than 150 winter wheat varieties cited in the National List as suitable for conventional cultivation, using signatures that ranged from +++ to - - - (Table 8) and recommended 10 to 12 varieties (Hartl & Nickl 2018). The descriptive list for organic farming in Bavaria included 30 winter wheat varieties, of which 13 were recommended. In the organic list, plant height is described as +++ = very tall and - - - = very short, which is different to conventional production conditions where the opposite scale is used.

Hungary

The National Food Chain Safety Office (NÉBIH) tests and approves plant varieties, but there is no descriptive list of varieties. The VCU trial results are published in the form of reports. Agronomic data, grain yields and quality results are mainly presented as absolute values. Properties such as hibernation, lodging and disease infestation are scored on a scale that ranges from 1 (unfavourable) to 9 (favourable) in use. For several years, the Grain Producer's Association, the National Seed Association and the Chamber of Agriculture have organised post-registration trials for wheat and grain maize. In the report on maize, grain yields are also described and scored with scores ranging from 1 (very low yield) to 9 (very high yield). In 2018, the Chamber of Agriculture proposed a Recommended Variety List for maize, and they plan to issue such a list for wheat in 2019.

Ireland

The Department for Agriculture, Food and the Marine (DAFM) organise variety trials in Ireland. Varieties are evaluated and recommended variety lists are created with reference to the results. The system has existed in this form since the 1970s. There are recommended lists for winter cereals, spring cereals, spring

Table 8: Bavaria 2018 Descriptive list of varieties for winter wheat for conventional production conditions (selected varieties and traits). Scale: +++ = very good, very high, very early, very short; o = medium; --- = very poor, very late, very tall; falling numer and falling number stability rates from the German Descriptive List 2018; falling number stability: ++ = very good, + = good, o = medium, - = poor, - - = very poor.

			Re	sistan	e to			Quality traits						
Variety	Baking quality group	Maturity	Plant height	Standing ability	Powdery mildew ¹⁾	Septoria tritici blotch	Yellow rust	Leaf rust	Fusarium head blight	Thousand grain weight	Falling number ¹⁾	Falling number stability	Crude protein content	Crude protein content (%)
Ехро	Е	о	(-)	о	+	(+)	+	(-)	+	(+)	++	+	(+)	13.3
KWS Emerick	Е	о	о	(+)	+	(+)	++	о	(+)	+	++	+	(+)	13.4
Beryll	Е	о	о	+	++	(+)	+	++	о	о	+	о	++	14.2
RGT Reform	А	(-)	+	(+)	+	о	(+)	(+)	(+)	(+)	+++	+	о	12.8
Nordkap	А	о	о	(+)	+++	о	+	(-)	о	(+)	+	о	(+)	13.2
Julius	А	(-)	о	(+)	(+)	(+)	(+)	-	о	(+)	++	+	о	13.0

beans, winter oilseed rape, forage maize, ryegrasses and white clover. At least three years of testing are necessary for a variety to be 'provisionally recommended'. In general, they are given the status of 'recommended' after the fourth year of testing. In the case of potato, there is no Recommended List, and the tests are carried out with regard to the variety listing of the National Catalogue of Agricultural Plant Varieties. The yield assessments are presented in values that are relative to the average of the values of the control varieties. Absolute values are provided for the plant height and quality parameters such as thousand grain weight, hectolitre weight, screenings, protein content and Hagberg falling number. A scale of 1 to 9 is used when assessing subjective features such as earliness of ripening, stem stiffness, resistance to lodging or resistance to diseases, with 1 being the least favourable and 9 the most favourable score (Table 9, DAFM 2018).

Latvia

The Latvia University of Life Sciences and Technologies (LLU) has been commissioned to carry out variety testing. The results are available in the form of a report. The yield performance values are reported in absolute terms and in relative percentages. The total yield calculated on standard moisture grain 14%, rape seed 8%, then the yield compared with the standard variety or average yield of standards,

Lithuania

The State Plant Service under the Ministry of Agriculture (VATZUM) is responsible for variety testing and variety registration. Recommended and descriptive lists are not produced, however, descriptions of the characteristics of the new varieties appear on the published National List of Varieties. Trial reports contain the results for assessments of many features (e.g., plant height, yield, quality characteristics, and resistance to diseases). Furthermore, a nine-step scale is in use where 9 indicates the favourable expres-

depending on crop in percentages and according % given rates. For characteristics such as winter hardiness and lodging resistance, the scores are calculated as ranging from 1 (very low, very poor) to 9 (very high, very good). The averaged absolute values for the quality parameters are given scores that range from 1 (very low) to 9 (very high) according to the tabular specifications. The disease infestation of potato is given as a percentage.

Table 9: Ireland 2019 winter wheat recommended list (selected varieties and traits). Scale: 1 = least favourable, 9 = most favourable. Yields are expressed as a percentage of the mean JB Diego and Avatar (100 = 11.21 t ha^{-1} at 15% moisture content). All data based on trial results from 2016-2018 with the exception of falling number (2016-2017). End-use quality: Br = bread-making potential, F = feed quality.

Agronomic & quality characteristics	Avatar	Bennington	Costello	KWS Lili	KWS Lumos
Relative yield	100	103	100	99	99
Straw height (cm)	78.9	79.1	69.3	69.0	71.5
Resistance to lodging	7	7	8	8	8
Earliness of ripening	5	6	6	4	7
Resistance to:					
Powdery mildew	5	6	8	8	7
Yellow rust	7	6	8	6	7
Fuarium ear blight	6	7	7	4	5
Sprouting	4	5	8	6	7
Quality:					
Grain protein (%, 15% MC)	10.2	10.7	10.8	10.3	10.8
Hagberg falling number (s)	188	185	290	283	287
Thousand grain weight (g)	46.9	48.5	46.7	43.9	43.8
Test weight (kg/hl)	77.1	76.4	79.4	76.2	77.8
Market	F	F	F	Br	Br
Year first listed	2013	2018	2017	2016	2014

Table 10: The Netherlands 2018 Recommended list for winter wheat (selected varieties and traits). Scale: 2 = very unfavourable (very low lodging resistence, very late ripening, very low resistance to sprouting and diseases, very low baking quality etc.), 9 = very favourable (very high lodging resistance, very early ripening, very high resistance to sprouting and diseases, very low bread quality etc.); A = recommended for general or fairly general use; N = new, provisionally recommended; B = bread wheat

					Resistance to						Bread-making quality				
Variety	Relative straw length (100=91.9 cm)	Strength of straw	Earliness of heading	Earliness of ripening	Sprouting	Yellow rust	Leaf rust	Powdery mildew	Leaf spot (Septoria tritici)	Fusarium in the ear	Bread quality	Dough quality	Zeleny sedimentation value	Hardness of kernel	Classification
A - Julius	108	8.0	5.5	5.5	7.0	7.0	6.5	7.0	8.0	6.5	8.0	7.0	8.0	8.0	В
A - Kelvin	101	7.5	7.0	6.5	7.5	8.0	9.0	7.5	7.5	6.5	7.5	6.5	7.0	7.0	В
A - RGT Reform	95	8.0	6.5	7.0	7.0	7.0	8.0	7.5	7.0	7.0	8.0	9.5	8.0	7.0	В
N - KWS Talent	111	7.0	7.5	7.0	7.0	8.5	8.0	7.5	7.5	7.0	7.0	7.0	7.0	7.5	В
N - RGT Libravo	94	7.5	7.0	7.5	7.5	8.5	6.5	7.0	6.5	7.0	7.0	7.5	7.0	6.5	В
N - WPB Calgary	98	7.0	8.0	7.0	6.5	8.5	8.0	8.5	7.5	6.5	7.0	7.0	7.0	7.0	В

sion of a trait (high degree of winter hardiness, very good standing ability, high degree of disease resistance) and 1, the unfavourable expression of a trait (very low degree of winter hardiness, very poor standing ability, very low degree of disease resistance).

Luxembourg

Variety trials are carried out in Luxembourg by the Lycée Technique Agricole (LTA), the Administration des services techniques de l'agriculture (ASTA) and the Institute for Organic Agriculture Luxembourg (IBLA). The results are used for variety approval and form the basis of the descriptive list of varieties. A scale that ranges from 1 to 9 is in use, whereas the score of 1 indicates a very low expression of a trait (very low, very early, very short) and the score of 9 indicates a very strong expression (very high, very late, very tall). In the case of cereal diseases 'resistance' (1 = very low resistance, 9 = very high resistance) is described; regarding potato diseases, however, 'susceptibility' is described (1 = very low susceptibility, 9 = very strong susceptibility).

The Netherlands

In the Netherlands, the Board for Plant Varieties can approve a variety after two years of VCU trials and add it to the National List. After a third year of testing, the Recommended List Committee (CSAR) decides whether the variety is eligible for placement on the recommended list. The two recommended lists (arable crops, forage crops) describe varieties, scoring them with a scale that ranges from 2 to 9 (CSAR 2018). In general, the score of 9 represents a very favourable expression of the trait (e.g., very good stem strength, very high resistance to sprouting and diseases) and a score of 2, a very unfavourable expression (e.g., very low stem strength, very low resistance to sprouting and diseases). Early ear emergence and early ripening are also expressed by high scores. Plant height and yield are usually given in the form of relative

values. The quality data are partly relative and partly absolute (Table 10).

Norway

The Norwegian Food Safety Authority (Mattilsynet) is responsible for the variety approval and the publication of the National Variety List. The VCU trials last three years and are performed by the Norwegian Institute of Bioeconomic Research (NIBIO) on behalf of the Norwegian Food Safety Authority. A descriptive or recommended list of varieties in the true sense does not exist. However, the results of official VCU trials and post-registration tests are reported in detail. The publications summarise the data that has been collected during the past year and the last three years (Åssveen et al. 2018). The grain yields are reported as relative percentages, plant height and quality parameters are reported in absolute values. Characteristics such as lodging, brackling and diseases are given as percentages. In addition, the results are also converted to fall along a scale of 1-10. The score of 1 represents high growth, low standing ability, a low degree of disease resistance, low thousand grain weight and low quality. The score of 10 is awarded to plants with short growth, good standing ability, a high degree of disease resistance and high quality.

Poland

The Research Center for Cultivar Testing (COBORU) is responsible for testing and approving plant varieties. Depending on the species, the VCU tests take 2 to 3 years. Descriptive lists of agricultural plant varieties, vegetables and fruits are published. The Descriptive List of Agricultural Plant Species contains results from the last 3 to 4 years (COBORU 2018). New varieties are also verbally characterised. Disease susceptibility is scored using a scale that ranges from 1 (very high infestation) to 9 (no infestation), and averaged scoring data is used. Quality features are occasionally represented by absolute values, but the data is predominantly transformed
Table 11: Poland 2018 Descriptive list of varieties for winter wheat (selected varieties and traits). Scale: 1 = very unfavourable (very low lodging resistence, very low resistance to diseases, very low quality), 9 = very favourable (very high lodging resistance, very high resistance to diseases, very high quality)

					Resistance to				Qu	Quality traits						
Variety	Plant height (cm)	Lodging resistance	Fully ripe (d from Jan 1^{st})	Powdery mildew	Leaf rust	Yellow rust	Fusarium head blight	Thousand grain weight (g)	Test weight	Ptotein content	Gluten Index	Flour yield	SDS sedimentation value	Water absorption of dough	Bread volume	Dough energy
Elite wheat (gro	up E)															
Astoria	98	7.4	203	7.3	7.6	8.1	7.5	49.5	6	8	7	5	8	9	8	9
Quality wheat (group A)																
Apostel	89	7.0	204	8.1	7.8	8.7	7.3	47.2	6	5	5	5	8	8	7	-
Arkadia	102	6.7	203	6.4	7.7	5.8	7.6	47.7	5	5	7	5	7	9	7	7
Arktis	94	7.7	204	7.9	7.1	8.7	8.0	44.4	5	7	8	6	8	9	7	9
Askalon	87	8.5	205	7.7	7.9	8.7	8.1	43.2	5	5	8	5	8	8	6	7
Bamberka	91	7.7	205	7.9	7.2	8.6	7.6	46.9	6	7	8	5	8	9	6	8

into scores that range from 1 (very unfavourable) to 9 (very favourable). Plant height is usually provided in centimeters and the maturity, in days (Table 11). Since 1998, there have been postregistration trials with newly approved and important varieties on the market. EU varieties can only be included in this test if they have previously been included in the 'EU recognition trials' for two years. In 2018, this system included 973 field trials that involved more than 750 varieties. To receive a recommendation, two years of results from post-registration trials are generally needed. If excellent results are available, a recommendation can already be made after a total of three years of testing. Based on this approach, local committees (since 2004), prepare lists of recommended varieties for cultivation in the voivodeships. In 2018, there were regional variety recommendations for winter cereals, spring cereals, grain maize, silage maize, pea, lupines, soybean, winter oilseed rape, spring oilseed rape and potato.

Romania

The State Institute for Variety Testing and Registration (ISTIS) is responsible for the variety approval and creating the list of varieties. The official trials usually take three years. Newly registered varieties are described in a separate chapter of the official catalogue of varieties. It is legally possible to create a recommended list of varieties; while some attempts to do so have been made, no such list has been published so far. The expression of some features are assessed using a nine-step scale. In this case, the score of 1 refers to the favourable expression (e.g., no overwintering, no lodging, no disease infestation) and 9, the unfavourable expression (e.g., very strong overwintering, very heavy lodging, very severe disease susceptibility). To assess disease susceptibility, a percentage scale is sometimes used. To assess the turf grasses, the scale is reversed (1 = very weak, 9 = very favourable).

Serbia

The registration of plant varieties is carried out by the Ministry of Agriculture, Forestry and Water Management. The Department for Plant Variety Registration and agricultural professional services carry out the required VCU trials. There are no descriptive or recommended variety lists. Agronomic data, yield and quality results are published in trial reports. A scale that ranges from 1 (favourable, e.g., no winter damage, no lodging, no disease infestation) to 9 (unfavourable, e.g., very heavy winter damage, very heavy lodging, very severe disease infestation) is used to describe some cereal traits. The scale is reversed when describing traits of legumes and forage crops, with the score of 1 representing the unfavourable expression (very heavy winter damage, very heavy lodging, very severe disease infestation) and the score of 9, the favourable expression (no winter damage, no lodging, no disease infestation).

Slovakia

In Slovakia, the Central Controlling and Testing Institute of Agriculture (UKSUP) is responsible for organizing and carrying out VCU trials and registering varieties. Post-registration trials are not performed. Varieties are rated on a scale that ranges from 1 (highly susceptible) to 9 (resistant) regarding disease classification. For other variety characteristics, the averages of the absolute values are given, and these are partly supplemented with rates (1 = unfavourable, 9 = favourable). A descriptive or recommended variety list is not currently published.

Slovenia

The Ministry of Agriculture, Forestry and Food approves varieties and publishes the national variety list. The official VCU trials and other variety trials are carried out by the Agricultural Institute of Slovenia (KIS). There are descriptive lists for varieties of cereals (winter wheat, winter barley, rye) as well as for maize and potato.

These also include EU varieties, but the lists are not issued annually. The systems used for description and scaling are not unified. Cereals are often characterised using a verbal scale (low to high, poor to good). Trial reports include data on plant height, grain yield and quality of cereals in absolute values. Otherwise, a grading scale that ranges from 1 (favourable, meaning no lodging, no disease infestation, etc.) to 9 (unfavourable, meaning very heavy lodging, very severe degree of disease infestation, etc.) applies. In maize, the properties are mostly assessed using signatures that range from - (e.g., low growth, low resistance to stem breakage and diseases, low grain yield, high grain moisture at harvest) to +++ (high growth, high resistance to stem breakage and diseases, high grain yield, low moisture at harvest). Some properties of potato varieties are communicated using a verbal scheme. To describe disease susceptibility, a scale that ranges from 1 (very high susceptibility) to 9 (very low susceptibility) is used. The international EAPR rating scheme is used to describe quality characteristics.

Spain

The National Register of Varieties is produced by the Spanish Plant Variety Office (OEVV). The public organisation Grupo para la Evaluación de Nuevas Variedades de Cultivos Extensivos en España (GENVCE) carries out trials for cereals, oilseed rape and maize and publishes reports on variety performance across agroclimatic regions. Results from one or two years of data are often summarised. Plant height, date of heading, grain yield and quality are reported in absolute or relative values; lodging as well as disease infestation

Table 12: Swiss list of recommended winter wheat varieties for the harvest 2019 (selected varieties and traits). Scale: +++ = very good; ϕ = medium; --- = very poor; Extenso: low input (without fungicides, insecticide and growth regulators); ÖLN: medium input (with fungicides - if needed - and growth regulator, without insecticide); Ripening: ve = very early; e = early; me = mid-early; I = late; Plant height: s = short; m = medium; mI = medium to tall; vI = very tall

Variety	Arnold	Montalbano	Baretta	Forel	Simano
Quality class	Тор	Тор	Тор	I.	I
Year of listing	2015	2018 (prov.)	2018 (prov.)	2008	2012
Grain yield (Extenso)	ø	+	+(+)	ø	+
Grain yield (ÖLN)	ø	+	+	+	+
Early ripening / Heading	e	I	I	me	ve
Plant height	vl	m	ml	m	s
Resistance to:					
Lodging	-	+++	++(+)	++	+++
Powdery mildew	+(+)	++	+(+)	+(+)	+
Yellow rust	ø	+++	+++	ø	+
Leaf rust	ø	++	+(+)	(-)	+
Fusarium head blight	ø	ø		-	+
Sprouting	ø	+	-	+	+
Quality traits:					
Protein content	++(+)	+++	++(+)	+(+)	++(+)
Zeleny sedimentation value	++	++	++	++	++
Test weight	+++	+	ø	+++	+(+)
Thousand grain weight	medium	large	small	very small	medium

are reported as percentages. A scale that ranges from 0 (no infestation) to 9 (very strong infestation) is also in use to assess diseases and pests of cereals. Furthermore, summary tables in which the varieties are described on a verbal scale (low to high, early to late) are used for some plant species.

Sweden

The Swedish Board of Agriculture is responsible for the registration of plant varieties, and the Swedish University of Agricultural Sciences (SLU) is responsible for VCU testing of these varieties. Admission requires at least two years of trial results (grasses are tested with two establishment year with following harvesting years). Trial reports on cereals, maize, grain legumes, oil plants, flax and potatoes are published yearly. Since these mostly include results from the past five years (except forage species which have past 10 years), the reports are somewhat like a descriptive list of varieties, but are not referred to as such. Forage grasses and legumes are also tested. Yield performance and quality characteristics are described with absolute values, whereas overwintering is presented on a percentage scale that ranges from 100 (plants all present) to 0 (no living plants present). The same applies to lodging and stem breakage (0 = no lodging or stem breakage, 100 = all stalks display lodging or are broken). With regard to diseases, the percentage of affected leaf area is cited (Halling & Larsson 2017, Hagman et al. 2018). Considerations are being made to use optional scores that range from 1 to 9 to describe some characteristics.

Switzerland

The Federal Office for Agriculture registers varieties and includes them in the National Catalogue of Varieties. The two-year VCU trials are carried out by Agroscope. The post-registration trials also require two years and are organised by Agroscope in collaboration with members of the agricultural sector. There are various lists of varieties that are created by companies and trade organisations in Switzerland. For conventional production and organic farming purposes, official lists of recommended varieties are created or supported by Agroscope. These are developed in cooperation with the organisations swiss granum and swisspatat. These lists are considered to be particularly valuable and they are trusted references for the production of various labels. Swiss granum lists of varieties have existed, for example, since 2000. Varieties for the following species have been described and recommended: cereals (Courvoisier et al. 2018), maize, soybean, winter oilseed rape, sunflower, lentils, potato and forage crops. The presentation (Table 12) is usually made with signatures that range from ++++ (excellent, grain yield of winter wheat) to +++ (very good) and on to - - - (very weak). Potato varieties are described verbally in terms of their properties. Varieties of forage plants are predominantly listed with their averaged scoring values. A review of 15 years of variety testing has shown (Levy et al. 2017) that around one-third of the winter wheat varieties admitted for entry in the catalogue of varieties are ultimately placed on a list of recommended varieties. Of the varieties that are not placed on the latter list, about half did not perform adequately in the VCU trials, and the other half were assessed as not viable for inclusion in the list of recommended varieties. The success rate of varieties registered abroad was even lower, with less than a quarter making it onto the list of recommended varieties. Seed propagation is also based on these official lists. Representatives of the entire sector, including the umbrella organisation of the seed propagators, decide which varieties will be recommended. The voting rights are distributed equally among producers and customers (e.g., millers, bakers).

Acknowledgements

The authors thank the experts of the institutes and authorities for providing valuable information: Joke Pannecoucque, Institute for Agricultural and Fisheries Research (ILVO), Merelbeke, Belgium; Kameliya Pavlova and Bistra Pavlovska, Executive Agency for Variety Testing, Field Inspection and Seed Control (IASAS), Sofia, Bulgaria; Ivan Varnica, Croatian Agency for Agriculture and Food (CAAF), Osijek, Croatia; Vladimíra Horáková and Tomáš Mezlik, Institute for Supervising and Testing in Agriculture (ÚKZÚZ), Brno, Czech Republic; Anders Søndergaard Larsen, TystofteFoundation, Skælskør, Denmark; Toivo Lauk, ARC Viljandi Variety Testing Centre, Matapera, Estonia; Tarja Hietaranta, Finnish Food Authority (Ruokavirasto), Loimaa and Antti Laine, Natural Resources Institute Finland (Luke), Jokioinen, Finland; Philippe du Cheyron and Josiane Lorgeou, Arvalis - Institut du végétal, Villiers-le-Bâcle, Valérie Cadot, Variety and Seed Study and Control Group (GEVES), Beaucouzé cedex, France; Uta Schnock, Federal Plant Variety Office (BSA), Hannover, Germany; József Csapó, National Food Chain Safety Office (NÉBIH), Budapest, Hungary; Cara Mac Aodháin, Department of Agriculture, Food and the Marine (DAFM), Kildare, Ireland; Anda Rûtenberga-Âva, Latvia University of Life Sciences and Technologies (LLU), Jelgava, Latvia; Sigita Juciuviene, State Plant Service under the Ministry of Agriculture (VATZUM), Vilnius, Lithuania; Lubbert van den Brink, Naktuinbouw, Roelofarendsveen, The Netherlands; Pia Borg, Norwegian Food Safety Authority, National Registrations Department (Mattilsynet), Brumunddal, Norway; Józef Zych, Research Center for Cultivar Testing (COBORU), Słupia Wielka, Poland; Mihaela Ciora, State Institute for Variety Testing and Registration (ISTIS), Bucuresti, Romania; Marina Vučković, Department for Plant variety registration, Novi Beograd, Serbia; Katarína Bučková, Central Controlling and Testing Institute in Agriculture (ÚKSÚP), Bratislava, Slovakia; Peter Dolničar and Andrej Zemljič, Agricultural Institute of Slovenia (KIS), Ljubljana, Slovenia; Jordi Doltra, Grupo para la Evaluación de Nuevas Variedades de Cultivos Extensivos en España (GENVCE), IRTA-Mas Badia, La Tallada d'Empordà (Girona), Spain; Anna Pettersson, Swedish Board of Agriculture (Jordbruksverket), Jonkoping and Magnus Halling, Swedish University of Agricultural Sciences (SLU), Uppsala, Sweden; Lilia Levy Häner, Agroscope, Nyon, Switzerland.

References

AGES (2003-2019) Österreichische Beschreibende Sortenliste, Landwirtschaftliche Pflanzenarten. Österreichische Agentur für Gesundheit und Ernährungssicherheit (AGES), Wien.

AHDB (2018) AHDB Recommended Lists for cereals and oilseeds 2019/20. Agriculture and Horticulture Development Board (AHDB), Warwickshire, United Kingdom. [https://ahdb.org.uk/rl; accessed 30 Jan 2019]

Arvalis (2018) Choisir et décider. Céréales à paille, Le blé tendre. [https:// www.arvalis-infos.fr/file/galleryelement/pj/42/0b/53/6d/choisir1_cap_20 18_national_ble_tendre6031872551706045086.pdf; accessed 15 Nov 2018]

Åssveen M, Tangsveen J, Weiseth L (2018) Sorter og sortsprøving 2017. NIBIO Bok 4 (1): 28-67.

Bauer R (1961): Sortenbeschreibung landwirtschaftlicher Kulturpflanzen. Der Förderungsdienst 9, 418.

BFL (1995-1996) Zusammenfassung mehrjähriger Versuchsergebnisse. Bundesamt und Forschungszentrum für Landwirtschaft (BFL), Wien. BFL (1997-2002) Österreichische Beschreibende Sortenliste, Landwirtschaftliche Pflanzenarten. Bundesamt und Forschungszentrum für Landwirtschaft (BFL), Wien.

Bundesanstalt für Pflanzenbau und Samenprüfung in Wien (1962) Sortenbeschreibung landwirtschaftlicher Kulturpflanzen, 1. bis 9. Nachtrag, 1962-1970. Verlag Georg Fromme & Co., Wien.

Bundesanstalt für Pflanzenbau und Samenprüfung in Wien (1971) Sortenbeschreibung landwirtschaftlicher Kulturpflanzen. 2., neubearbeitete Auflage, 1. bis 13. Nachtrag, 1972-1984.

Bundesanstalt für Pflanzenbau und Samenprüfung in Wien (1986) Sortenbeschreibung landwirtschaftlicher Kulturpflanzen. 3., neubearbeitete Auflage, 1. bis 11. Nachtrag, 1987-1997.

Bundesanstalt für Pflanzenbau und Samenprüfung in Wien (1965-1994) Zusammenfassung mehrjähriger Versuchsergebnisse.

Bundessortenamt (1972) Beschreibende Sortenliste für Getreide 1972. Alfred Strohte Verlag, Hannover.

Bundessortenamt (1974) Grundsätze des Bundessortenamtes für die Erfassung von Merkmalen und deren Ausprägung. Blatt für Sortenwesen 7, 127-128.

Bundessortenamt (2018) Beschreibende Sortenliste Getreide, Mais, Ölund Faserpflanzen, Leguminosen, Rüben, Zwischenfrüchte 2018. Hannover, Deutschland.

COBORU (2018) Lista opisowa odmian roślin rolniczych 2018: Burak, ziemniak, oleiste, pastewne. Lista opisowa odmian roślin rolniczych 2018: Jęczmień, owies, pszenica, pszenżyto, żyto ozime, kukurydza.

Courvoisier N, Levy Häner L, Bertossa M, Thévoz E, Bernet R, Stoll P, Dugon J, Graf B, Hofer M, Weisflog T (2018) Liste der empfohlenen Getreidesorten für die Ernte 2019. Beilage zu Agrarforschung Schweiz 9 (6): 1-8.

CSAR (2018) 93e Aanbevelende Rassenlijst Akkerbouw 2018, 93e Aanbevelende Rassenlijst Veehouderij 2018. Commissie Samenstelling Aanbevelende Rassenlijst (CSAR), Nederland.

DAFM (2018) Winter Cereal Recommended Lists 2019. [https:// www.agriculture.gov.ie/media/migration/publications/2018/ WinterCerealRec ommendedLists2019140918.pdf; accessed 30 Jan 2019]

Hagman J, Halling MA, Barrlund M, Larsson S (2018) Stråsäd Trindsäd Oljeväxter. Sortval 2018. Institutionen för växtproduktionsekologi, Sveriges lantbruksuniversitet, Uppsala.

Halling MA, Larsson S (2017) Vallväxter till slåtter och bete samt grönfoderväxter. Sortval för södra, mellersta och norra Sverige 2017/2018. Institutionen för växtproduktionsekologi, Sveriges lantbruksuniversitet, Uppsala.

Hartl L, Nickl U (2018) Von Höhenflug bis Bauchlandung. Bayerisches Landwirtschaftliches Wochenblatt 209 (36): 40-45.

Hron R (1976) Die Beschreibung der landwirtschaftlichen Werteigenschaften von Getreidesorten. Jahrbuch 1975 der Bundesanstalt für Pflanzenbau und Samenprüfung in Wien, 153-159.

Levy L, Courvoisier N, Rechsteiner S, Herrera J, Brabant C, Hund A, Weissflog T, Dierauer H, Pellet D (2017) Winterweizen: Bilanz aus 15 Jahren Sortenprüfung unter extensiven Anbaubedingungen. Agrarforschung Schweiz 8 (7-8): 300-309.

Oberforster M (2019) Achtung: Neues Schema zur Sortenbeschreibung. Landwirt 1, 41.

TystofteFonden (2018) Beskrivende Sortsliste, Landbrugsplanter. Årgang 12, nr. 25. [https://www.tystofte.dk/wp-content/uploads/2018/07/bsllandbrugs planter-2018-descriptive-variety-list-agricult.pdf; accessed 15 Nov 2018]

ÚKZÚZ (2018) Obilniny 2018. SDO – oves setý, pšenice jarní, pšenice ozimá, ječmen jarní, ječmen ozimý, tritikale ozimé PO - tritikale jarní, oves nahý, žito ozimé. ISBN 978-80-7401-161-0. Ústřední kontrolní a zkušební ústav zemědělský.

Genotypic selection in wheat on the field: an optimized overall concept

Ernst GROSSLERCHER¹, Peter LIEBHARD²

¹ Auvorstadt 1/14, 2301 Grossenzersdorf, Austria

² BOKU-University of Natural Resources and Life Sciences, Vienna, Department of Crop Sciences, Gregor Mendel Str. 33, 1180 Vienna, Austria

(⊠) grosslercher2211@aon.at

Abstract

Consumers are demanding natural and high-quality bread and pastry products, and farmers want to produce winter wheat of high quality in an environmentally friendly, sustainable and economic efficient way. The breeders are required to breed varieties which combine many traits in the best possible combination. Therefore, an overall concept 'Life cycle of a wheat variety from the crossing to the deletion of the variety' was developed. To achieve this aim, the path of the variety must be optimized in all steps, and succeeded. The three basic requirements for successfully developing a new variety, i.e. 'crossing', 'guiding the crossing' and 'test sites', must be optimized. The selection of the crossing partners, the selection steps in the segregating and homogeneous generations, and the selection of lines for the VCU (value for cultivation and use) test were implemented in the wheat cultivars 'Capo', 'Georg' and 'Josef' registered in 1989, 1992 and 1993, respectively. Moreover, production-specific small strip plot experiments were established by Probstdorfer Saatzucht on trial sites across Central and Eastern Europe. The aim was to eliminate by statistical analysis the impact of the environment on the phenotype as much as possible which enabled the 'genotypic' selection on the field. In the optimized overall concept, all connections and cross-links were linked to the 'way of life of a wheat variety'. These basic findings will ensure large economic benefits for breeders and farmers for 25 million hectares of winter wheat acreage in the continental production area of Central and Eastern Europe.

Keywords

Breeding \cdot multi-environment trial \cdot production specific management \cdot *Triticum aestivum* \cdot value for cultivation and use

Introduction

The contribution of sustainable breeding improvements in complex traits such as yield, end-use quality and yield stability in selfpollinating crops, especially winter wheat, is essential for global food security. Yield and quality at the farmer's level need to be achieved with the lowest possible input of pesticides, in order to guarantee food and feed safety and high natural quality properties both in organic and conventional wheat production. Therefore, strong links are required between breeders, official variety testers, producers, processors and consumers.

At present, the cooperation between the individual supply chain partners is either interrupted or only loosely present. In practice, many new varieties fail after their registration in grain yield and/or in resistance characters at the farmers' fields because they were not checked in time for their production-specific management. The new varieties are indeed tested in the VCU (value for cultivation and use) trials, but parallel production-specific trials are missing, which means that the newly released varieties are starting to exhibit their practical cultivation value at the farmers' fields without additional information for the farmers. Furthermore, wheat varieties are not examined in detail for their blending suitability which can cause problems at the processors' level.

For an environmentally friendly, sustainable and economic efficient supply chain it is, therefore, necessary that a holistic and common path is sought. In particular, consumers are demanding a sustainaible production. The individual supply chain members are doing a good job within their system, however, it is necessary to optimize the connections between the supply chain partners.

Climate change needs wheat varieties with a high ecological adaptation. In the last decade, the annual average temperature increased by nearly 2°C in Europe compared to the pre-industrial level. Especially during the important growth stages of wheat, from April to June, multiple stress situations occurred more frequently in the last decade. Austrian wheat varieties released 20 to 30 years ago had a high ecological adaptation because these varieties contained mainly 'continental genes' from the Central and Eastern European wheat gene pool. The problem nowadays is that in recent years this genetic was largely replaced by 'maritime genes' and associated inferior winter hardness from the Western and Northwestern Europe gene pool.

The aim of this contribution is to present an optimized master plan for the life cycle of a variety, from the crossing to the deletion from the variety list, via the genotypic selection on the field.

Breeding concept

In the short term, it is necessary to select genotypes adapted to the prevailing climate from the existing breeding material and to recommend the site and variety specific management to the far-

Grosslercher E, Liebhard P (2019) Genotypic selection in wheat on the field: an optimized overall concept. In: Vereinigung der Pflanzenzüchter und Saatgutkaufleute Österreichs (Ed), 69. Jahrestagung 2018, 19-21 November, Raumberg-Gumpenstein, pp 73-77. BOKU-University of Natural Resources and Life Sciences, Vienna, Austria. ISBN-13: 978-3-900932-63-3



Figure 1: Concept of genotypic selection on the field: The goal is to reduce the impact of the environment on the phenotype. If all environmental impact is eliminated the genotype can be directly selected on the field.

mer. In the medium and long term, it is necessary to develop varieties broadly adapted to climate change.

The term 'genotypic selection on the field' is only permitted if all environmental impact on the genotype is eliminated, thus, not the 'phenotype' but the 'genotype' is explained (Fig. 1) (Velu & Singh 2013). The overall concept was first introduced by Grosslercher on 16th January 2016 in a talk at the 'Exchange for Agricultural Products Vienna'. Grosslercher worked as a plant breeder for over 40 years on this first optimized overall concept, which applies to varieties, to a single test site, to multiple test sites with different production conditions, to organic and conventional farming.

Experimental designs and statistical analysis

Experimental designs with a low number of check varieties or with a very low number of replications of check varieties in order to save plots should be refused. Statistical analyses aimed to achieve a low standard error of difference or high significancies should be rejected as 'inappropriate' conclusions are drawn and predominantly 'unwanted' genotypes are selected.

Crossings and parental selection

Until the 1990s, the breeding of high baking quality wheat varieties in Austria used mainly 'continental genes', *e.g.* 'Capo' (released 1989) was a cross within own germplasm (Martin/Pokal) in 1975, 'Georg' (released 1992) was a cross between own and foreign germplasm (Expert/Severin) in 1983, and 'Josef' (released 1993) was a cross within own germplasm (Extrem/HP35719// Pokal/3/Perlo) in 1983. 'Expert' was a high yielding half-sister of 'Capo', 'Severin' a German elite wheat variety which brought new genes to the existing gene pool.

It is essential that for the Central European production area, mainly 'continental' genes are incorporated, which allow to survive cold winters and withstand high temperatures and drought in early summer, and, thereby, enable a broad ecological adaptation. Foreign germplasm was absolutely necessary to introgress, *e.g.* 'maritime' genes for enhancing grain yield or dwarfing genes to reduce plant height and, thereby, improve lodging tolerance and the harvest index. The before mentioned varieties 'Capo', 'Georg', and 'Josef' are climate-adapted wheat varieties.

Selection in segregating generations

Selection in early generations was carried out at the breeding staion Probstdorf. The alluvial soils north of the Danube wetlands ensured a selection for high ecological adaption, yield and yield



Figure 2: Grain yield of winter wheat (2013-18) in the Pannonian production area of Austria. Yellow and red bars represent yield levels at sites with high and low soil fertility, respectively. Values above bars indicate the mean protein content. Left of the dotted line, varieties of quality classes 7 to 9 are listed, to the right classes 6 and 4 (Findus and Siegfried, respectively) (Source: AGES 2018).

stability and baking quality. Grain grading and the visual assessment of grain characters is important from F₃ to F₆. Due to spatial variation in the fields, it is necessary to include check varieties regularly in several replications in the experimental designs. Thereby, differences between breeding material and check varieties can be reliably evaluated. The breeding material was selected until F₅ based on grain grading, disease resistance, plant height and the habitus of the plants.

Selection in advanced generations

In F₆, the breeding lines were sown in 1 m² micro-plots. Selection was based on grain yield and Zeleny sedimentation value. For example, the 1 m² plot of P637.88 ('Georg') and 'Josef' were harvested as bulk in 1988. Promising lines were selected only on the grain yield mean, observation data, visual kernel characteristics and the Zeleny sedimentation value without multi-environment testing. In F₇, a plot of 10 m² was sown in a replicated control design and harvested in 1989 as bulk. Parallel, single ears were selected for reselection and building up seed multiplication of pure lines. In F₈, trials were carried out with three replications at two sites and at the same time P637.88 entered the first year of VCU testing. After three VCU years all requirements for a new variety were fulfilled and, thus, 'Georg' was registered in December 1992, after only 9.5 years from crossing.

VCU and DUS tests

The VCU (value for cultivation and use) test for winter wheat is carried out for three years at several test sites across the Austrian wheat growing area. A new variety has a national value for cultivation and use if in the entity of its traits it represents an improvement compared to the check varieties with respect to (i) the cultivation, in particular considering disease resistance, (ii) the utilization of the crop and (iii) the utilization of processed goods from the crop (AGES 2018).

'Georg' passed VCU tests successfully from 1990 to 1992, 'Josef' from 1991 to 1993. Selection in advanced generations was focused on grain yield and yield stability, gluten quantity and quality, pre-harvest sprouting resistance and on resistance against biotic and abiotic stress factors.

'Capo', 'Georg' and 'Josef' have and/or had a long lifespan at the farmers' fields because of high yield, high baking quality, good disease resistance and a high ecological adaptation. Although already more than 25 years old, 'Capo' is still competitive compared to recently released varieties (Fig. 2). 'Capo' was originally selected as a F_3 ear progeny and a reselection was started from the 2nd VCU year onwards. Up to 10% extra grain yield can be realized with 'Capo' at productive sites in case that growth regulators are applied and plant height is reduced from 130 cm to 95 cm, thus, making this variety even more competitive still today.

Performance at farmers' fields

From the 1st VCU year onwards, the performance of 'Capo', 'Georg' and 'Josef' has already been checked on farmers' fields. Hence, even before the variety registration, their suitability for specific sites and conditions, as well as their end-use quality and processing characteristics were already well known. While 'Capo' and 'Josef' were still cultivated by farmers in 2019 in Austria and Romania, respectively, both of them after more than 25 years since their release, 'Georg' was deleted from the national list after the yellow rust epidemics in 2000 as this variety was susceptible to the prevailing races.

Premium winter wheat

With the accession of Austria to the EU in 1995, it was necessary to re-evaluate the baking quality groups of wheat. The baking quality scheme from 1994 groups wheat varieties into 9 quality classes (Oberforster et al. 1994). For trading, some quality groups form together specific market classes, e.g. baking quality groups 7 to 9 are traded as 'quality improver wheat'. For export, especially to Italy, the new market class 'premium wheat' which is characterized by protein contents ≥15%, falling numbers ≥280 s and test weights \geq 80 kg hL⁻¹ was introduced. Additionally, the alveogram is considered as rheological test method (AGES 2018). Therefore, not all varieties of quality groups 7 to 9 fulfill the requirements for 'premium wheat'. The export success of Austrian 'premium wheat' to Italy is important for Austrian farmers. 'Capo' and other varieties of the same gene pool are today noted as 'austriaco - qualità 1ª - p.s. 79, prot. 15%' at the Exchange for Agricultural Products in Bologna.

Production

Using production-specific small plot trials at suitable test sites in Austria and Ukraine and with suitable N-fertilization levels and seeding rates, Tasheva (2016) proposed a strip plot design to select winter wheat varieties for the Central and Eastern European wheat production areas. Thereby, the seeding rate is selected trial site specific and nitrogen fertilization is applied in three levels, *i.e.* N1 (no fertilization), N2 (60/60/0 kg ha⁻¹ at tillering, stem elongation and heading, respectively), and N3 (60/60/60) to assess soil fertility. The characteristics of the breeding lines are checked in such trials from the first VCU test year onwards and continued until the deletion of the varieties from the national lists. Thereby, location and variety specific recommendations can be provided to farmers.

Design and analysis of small plot trials

The 'production-specific small plot trial' is designed as a strip plot trial with check varieties at regular distances, *e.g.* three checks regularly after 10 test lines (Fig. 3). Statistical analyses are performed according to the strip plot design. Thereby, the data can be interpreted meaningfully and location and variety specific management recommendations can be better explained to the farmers for different site conditions.



Figure 3: Production-specific strip plot trial with three check varieties (A,B,C), three replications and three production intensities, *i.e.* nitrogen levels.



Figure 4: Linear regression of variety yield on the means of three winter wheat varieties in ten fertilization trials without late nitrogen fertilization.

Grain yields can vary from 4000 to 8000 kg ha⁻¹ for different test sites, but also within a trial area, for one and the same check variety. Hence, it is necessary to carry out partial analyses, since the yield reactions of varieties and lines are different, depending on the yield level. A trial site network of 10 to 15 trials across Central and Eastern Europe is proposed.

The varietal reaction across trial sites can be calculated by linear regression of the variety yield on the mean of three winter wheat varieties in various production trials. Varieties with a slope b < 1 are described as 'extensive' varieties, varieties with b > 1 as 'intensive' varieties (Fig. 4) (Haufe & Geidel 1978).

If the breeder selects for grain yield at low production level, *e.g.* due to extreme drought, according to the regression more 'intensive' lines, *i.e.* variety 3 in Fig. 4, are eliminated, as in this case the 'extensive' variety 2 is more productive. If the breeder selects for grain yield at high production level, more 'extensive' lines such as variety 2 in Fig. 4 are eliminated. Such an analysis can be carried out, if suitable, also as exponential regression analysis.

Of special interest for the wheat breeder is the negative correlation between protein content and grain yield (Simmonds 1995, Oury & Godin 2007, Oberforster & Werteker 2011). If the breeder selects high protein lines, 'intensive' lines are eliminated relatively independently of the trial yield level, because in this case the 'extensive' variety 1 is about 1-2% higher in protein than 'intensive' variety 2 (Fig. 5).

With respect to harvest index, field trials in Austria and Ukraine revealted that the trial sites vary according to N fertilizer management (Fig. 6) (Tasheva 2016). In Leopoldsdorf, soil fertility has been sustainably improved over decades, which means that high levels of N are also available if no N is applied (N1), which improved the harvest index to \geq 0.4. Although there was excellent black



Figure 5: Linear regression of crude protein content on grain yield of three winter wheat varieties in ten trials without late nitrogen fertilization.



Figure 6: Harvest index for six winter wheat varieties for two fertilization levels (N1, N3) at Austrian test site Leopoldsdorf (LEO) and Ukrainian site Kiev (KIE) (trial years 2012 and 2013).



Figure 7: Linear regression of test weight (kg hL⁻¹) of two single trails in 2013 on the test weight mean from nine trials over four N fertilization regimes for six winter wheat varieties.

soil in Kiev, the availability of nitrogen was not sustainable without N fertilization, resulting in a harvest index of only slightly >0.3. This differences can be used to select lines/varieties that respond differently to N levels. Thereby, lines/varieties can be selected which achieve acceptable yield and protein content at even below-average N supply. The harvest index can be used to estimate soil fertility and/or N remobilization in the grain filling period and provides an assessment of winter wheat lines and varieties for organic and conventional farming under Central and Eastern European conditions.

For test weight, wheat varieties basically react similar, although there are large annual differences in test weight at the same test site (Tasheva 2016). In Fig. 7 it is shown that at Leopoldsdorf, which normally produces very high test weights, varieties have different levels. In the case of drought, variety means can be significantly lower compared to Kiev, where, however, test weights are usually lower.

Conclusion

In recent decades, many medium-sized winter wheat breeders ended their breeding activities because they no longer had the necessary breeding success. The termination of breeding activities is due to different causes, e.g. unsuitable trial sites for selection in segregating and advanced generations or unsuitable experimental designs, inappropriate experimental evaluations and experimental data analysis. Therefore, all activities during the life-cycle of a winter wheat variety must be optimized in order to achieve economic success. Co-operation in breeding, VCU testing and production, subsequently also with processors of wheat and, above all, the acceptance of consumers is necessary. Based on own experience a main test site which requests high ecological adaptation should be chosen, with climatic conditions that provide broad information and with low to medium soil fertility. The variation of soil fertility at one trial site allows to optimize the selection of desired genotypes.

Suitable field trials at suitable test sites have to be used from the crossing to the deletion of a variety. Statistical methods have to be applied so that the 'genotype' can be separated from the 'phenotype'. The example of the varieties 'Capo', 'Georg' and 'Josef' demonstrated that these three varieties had favourable 'continental' genes in their pedigree, which led to their successful selection and cultivation in Central and Eastern European production regions. The described traditional way of breeding could be nowadays supported by genomic tools in order to select preferred genotypes more quickly but it should be not replaced by modern technologies.

Production-specific small plot trials should be carried out in parallel from the first VCU test year onwards as a farmer wishes to obtain as much information as possible about production characteristics of a newly released variety, which is still unknown in practice. It is recommended that wheat breeders include already during the individual selection steps at their trial sites long-tested check varieties so that the best lines can be clearly identified and put into the VCU testing.

At present both breeders and farmers are mostly not interacting with each other as the breeding activities of a company are largely independent of the seed production. Variety-specific recommendations of a breeders mostly relates only to the results of the VCU test. It should be noted that these results can be biased due to favourable environmental influences during the test period. Thus, the farmer is informed insufficiently as the VCU results provide no site- and variety-specific management recommendations. It is necessary to provide the best site- and variety-specific management recommendations to the farmer already at a variety's registration. Therefore, it is necessary to select suitable test sites, Nfertilization regimes, fungicide and growth regulator applications and seeding rates, both for organic and conventional production.

Both breeding and production should have all the results and information available through their trial sites network. Thereby, the official VCU test results are supplemented by the results of own production-related small plot trials. Thereby it will be possible to register significantly fewer varieties with only a low or no impact after their listing. As a result, the breeding progress in winter wheat should increase significantly each year.

Acknowledgements

Special thanks to the late Prof. Hermann Hänsel (EUCARPIA Honorary Member 2004) wo gave the first author the opportunity to start a career in plant breeding and to develop with him in many discussions the presented concept.

References

AGES (2018) Österreichische Beschreibende Sortenliste 2018, Landwirtschaftliche Pflanzenarten. Schriftenreihe 21/2018. Österreichische Agentur für Gesundheit und Ernährungssicherheit GmbH (AGES), Wien.

Haufe W, Geidel H (1978) Zur Beurteilung der Ertragssicherheit von Sorten und Zuchtstämmen. I. Definitionen, Stabilitätsparameter und deren Interpretationsmöglichkeiten. Z Pflzüchtg 80:24-37.

Oberforster M, Werteker M (2011) Inverse und nicht inverse Beziehungen von Kornertrag und Qualität im österreichischen Sortenspektrum von Weizen, Gerste und Roggen. 61. Tagung der Vereinigung der Pflanzenzüchter und Saatgutkaufleute Österreichs 2010, pp 9-17. HBLFA Raumberg-Gumpenstein, Irdning.

Oberforster M, Schmidt L, Werteker M (1994) Bewertungsschema `94 der technologischen Qualität von Weizensorten (Weichweizen). Jahrbuch 1993, pp 257-280. Bundesanstalt für Pflanzenbau, Wien.

Oury FX, Godin C (2007) Yield and grain protein concentration in bread wheat: how to use the negative relationship between the two characters to identify favourable genotypes? Euphytica 157: 45-57. DOI: 10.1007/s10681-007-9395-5

Simmonds NW (1995) The relation between yield and protein in cereal grain. J Sci Food Agric 67:309-315. DOI: 10.1002/jsfa.2740670306

Tasheva I (2016) Premiumweizenproduktion in Zentral- und Osteuropa. Einfluss von Sorte, Standort, Saatstärke und N-Düngungsmanagement auf Ertrag und Qualität bei Weizen im semi-ariden Produktionsgebiet. Dissertation, Universität für Bodenkultur Wien [http://permalink.obvsg.at/bok/ AC12608955; accessed 20 January 2019]

Velu G, Singh RP (2013) Phenotyping in wheat breeding. In: Panguluri SK, Kumar AA (eds), Phenotyping for plant breeding: applications of phenotying methods for crop improvement, pp 41-71. Springer Science+Business Media, New York. DOI: 10.1017/978-1-4614-8320-5_2